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DIRECTORS" REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014
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The Directors submit the annual report and audited financial statements of Avon Rubber p | ¢ ("the Company’) and the Avon Rubber
group of companies, {'the Group') for the year ended 30 September 2014 The Company Is registered in England and Wales with company

registration number 32965

Strategic Report

The Strateqgic Report, which contains a review of the Group's
business {including by reference to key performance indicators),
a description of the prnincipal nsks and uncertainties facing the
Group, and commentary on likely future developments is set out
on pages 11 to 33

Financial results and dividend

The Group statutory profit for the year after taxation amounts
to £10,811,000 {2013 £8,837,000) Full details are set out In the
Consalidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 74

An interim dividend of 1 87p per share was paid in respect of the
year ended 30 September 2014 (2013 144p)

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 3 74p per share
(2013 2 88p) resulting in a total dwvidend distribution per share for
the year to 30 September 2014 of 5 61p {2013 4 32p)

Share capital

As at 19 November 2014, the 1ssued share capital of the Company
was 31,023,292 ordinary shares of £1 each Details of the shares in
issue during the financial year are set out in note 20 of the financial
statements

The nights and obligations attaching to the Company's shares are
set out in the Company's Articles of Asscciation (‘Articles’), copies
of which can be obtained from Companies House or by writing to
the Company Secretary Shareholders are entitled to receive the
Company’s reports and accounts, to attend and speak at general
meetings of the company, to exercise voting rights in person or
by appointing a proxy and to receive a dividend where declared
or paid out of profits available for that purpose There are no
restrictions on the transfer of issued shares or on the exercise of

The only significant agreements to which the Company 1s a
party which take effect, alter or terminate upen a change
of control of the Company following a takeover brd are

the Company's revolving credit facility agreement and the
Performance Share Plan

The unsecured revalving credit facility of up to $40 million
provided by Barclays Bank PLC and Comenica Bank contains

a provision which, in the event of a change of control of the
Comipany, gives the lending banks the right to cancel all
commitments to the Company and to declare all outstanding
credit and accrued interest immediately due and payable

A change of control wilf be deemed to have occurred If any
persan or persons acting In concert (as defined in the City Code
on Takeovers and Mergers) gains direct or indirect control of
the Company

Under the rutes of the Performance Share Plan, on a takeover
a proportion of each outstanding grant will vest The number
of shares that vest s to be determined by the Remuneration
Committee, including by reference to the extent to which the
performance condition has been satisfied and the number

of months that have passed since the award was made

The employment contracts for the Executive Directors do not
contain any specific nght to compensation for loss of office on
a takeover bid

Substantial shareholdings

At 10 November 2014, the following shareholders held 3% or
more of the Company’s 1ssued ordinary share caprtal -

voting nghts attached to them, except where the Company has Schroder nvestment Management 180%

suspended their voting nghts or protubited their transfer foliowing BlackRock Investment Management ns5%

a failure to respond to a notice to shareholders under section 793 JPMorgan Asset Mangement 32%

of the Companies Act 2006, or where the holder s precluded from Henderson Global Investors 35%

transfernng or voting by the Finanaial Services Authornity's Listing Avon Rubber p | ¢ Trustees 35%

Rules or the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers The 1,081,810 Franklin Templeton Investments 13%

shares held in the names of the two Employee Share Ownership

Trusts on a jointly owned basis or as a hedge against awards T

previously made or to be made pursuant to the Performance Share

Plan are held on terms which provide voting rights to the Trustee

and, In certain aircumstances under the terms of joint ownership >

awards, to the reaipient of the awards 3

£ *A405YYSX"
Ad43 30/01/2015 #159
QMPANIES HOUSE

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014 ﬂnanm!D




Acquisition of own shares

Durning the year the Directors had the power to make market
purchases of up to 4,608,492 of the Company’s own shares in
1ssue on the basis as set out in the explanatory note on page 137
The Company did not acquire any of i1ts own shares in 2014

The Directors also had the authonty to allot shares up to an
aggregate nominal value of £10,241,097 which was approved

by shareholders at the last annual general meeting {AGM)

In addition, shareholders approved a resolution giving the
Directors a limited authornty to allot shares for cash other than
pro rata to existing shareholders During the year the Company
1ssued 300,000 ordinary shares of £1 each at par to ACS HR
Solutions Share Plan Services (Guernsey) Limited {in its capacity
as the trustee of the Company's Employee Share Ownership Trust
No 1) as described in note 20

These resolutions remain valid until the conclusion of this

year's AGM when resclutions to renew these authorities will be
proposed Dividends on shares held by the two Employee Share
Ownership Trusts have been waved

Directors

The names of the Directors as at 19 November 2014 are set out on
page 41

The Company's rutes about the appointment and replacement of
Directors, together with the powers of Directors, are contained in
the Articles Changes to the Articles must be approved by special
resolution of the shareholders

Durning the year there have been no changes to the membership
of the Board The Board is satished that Mr D R Evans, Mrs S J Pine
and Mr R K Wood are independent Non-Executive Directors

Mrs S J Pine, having completed nine years as Non-Executive
Director in March 2014, will retire from the Board with effect from
the conclusion of the AGM

The search for Mrs Pine’s replacement, led by David Evans as
Chairman of the Nominations Committee, 15 underway as at the
date of this report Mr Wood will replace Mrs Pirie as the Sensor
Independent Director following her retirement

Mr A G Lewis retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself
for re-election

The Board confirms that Mr Lews has contnbuted substantially
to the performance of the Board The Chaiwrman gives hus full
support to Mr Lewis’ offer of re-election and draws the attention
of shareholders to his profile on page 41

Mr R K Wood retires by rotation and, being ehgible, offers himself
for re-election

The Board confirms that Mr Wood has contnbuted substantially
to the performance of the Board The Chairman gives his full
support to Mr Wood's offer of re-election and draws the attention
of shareholders to his profile on page 41

As part of the Board’s annual evaluatton process, each

Director undertock a performance evaluation which included
considering the effective contnibution of Board members and the
effecuveness of the Board committees

All Executive Directors’ service contracts with the Company
require one year's notice of termination Neither of the Executive
Drirectors 15 currently appointed as a non-executive director of
any imited company outside the Group

None of the Directors have a beneficial interest in any contract
to which the Company or any subsidiary was a party durning the
year Beneficial interests of Directors, their families and trusts in
ordinary shares of the Company can be found on page 70

Directors’ and officers’ indemnity insurance

Subyect to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 (‘the

Act’), the Articles provide for the Directors and Officers of the
Company to be approprnately indemnified Inaccordance with
section 233 of the Act the Company has arranged an appropriate
Directors and Officers insurance policy to provide cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors

In 2006 the Company’s Articles were amended to allow the
Company to provide the Directors with funds to cover the

costs incurred in defending legal proceedings The Company 1s
therefore treated as providing an indemnity for its Directors and
Company Secretary which is a qualifying third party indemnity
provision for the purposes of the Act

DIVIDEND UP
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Research and development

The Group continues to utilise its techmical and materials expertise
to further advance its products and remain at the forefront of
technology in the field of polymer techneology and matenals
engineering The Group mamtams its inks to key universities

in the US and UK and continues to work with new and existing
customers and suppliers to develop its knowledge and product
range Total Group expenditure on research and development in
the year was £7,046,000 (2013 £6,407,000} further details of which
are contained in the Strategic Report on pages 11 to 33

Through ARTIS, the Group's research and development arm,
the Group 1s recognised as a world leader in understanding the
composition and use of polymer products

Environmental and corporate
social responsibility

Matters relating to environmental and corporate social
responsibifity including reference to our policy on diversity are
set out on pages 34 to 40

Political and charitable contributions

No political contributions were made during the year or the
pnor year Contnibutions for chantable purposes amounted to
£13,542 (2013 £15,305) cansisting exclusively of numerous small
donations to various community chanties in Wiltshire, Maryland,
Michigan, Wisconsin, Georgia and Mississipp

Financial instruments

An explanation of the Group policies on the use of financial
instruments and financial nsk management objectives are
contamned in note 19 of the financial statements

Post balance sheet events

There have been no significant events affecting the Company or
Group since the year end

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities for

preparing the finanaal statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
the Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year Under that law the Directors
have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted

by the European Union, and the parent company financial
statements 1n accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law} In prepaning the Group financial
statements, the Directors have also elected to comply with IFRSs
1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board {IASB}
Under company law the Directors must not approve the finanaal
statements unless they are sausfied that they give a true and farr
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of
the profit or loss of the Groupfor that period In preparing these
financial statements, the Directors are required to

W Select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently

Bl Make Judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent

B State whether IFRSs as adopted by the Eurcpean Union
and IFRSs issued by the IASB and applicable UK Accounting
Standards have been followed, subject to any matenial
departures disclosed and explained in the Group and parent
company financial statements respectively

@ Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient te show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any

ume the financial position of the Company and the Group and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the
Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and,
as regards the Group finanaial statements, Article 4 of the I1AS
Regulation They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities

The Directors are respensible for the maintenance and integrnity
of the Company’s website Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislauon in other junsdictions

RETURN ON SALES

18.4%
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Having taken advice from the Audit Committee, the Board
considers that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole,
15 fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company's performance,
business model and strategy

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are histed on
page 41 confirm that, to the best of therr knowledge

W the Group financal statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial positien and
prafit of the Group, and

W the Strategic Report contained on pages 11 to 33 includes a
far review of the development and performance of
the business and the position of the Group, together with a
description of the principal nisks and uncertamties that it faces

Creditor payment policy

Operating businesses are responsible for agreeing the terms

and conditions under which business transactions with their
suppliers are conducted It 1s Group pelicy that payments are
made In accordance with these terms, provided that the supplier
15 also complying with all relevant terms and conditions For the
year ended 30 September 2014, the number of days’ purchases
outstanding at the end of the finanaal year for the Group was
two {2013 19 days) based on the ratio of trade creditors at the
end of the year to the amounts invoiced during the year by trade
creditors At 30 September 2014 there were no trade creditors in
the balance sheet of the parent company (2013 rl}

Independent auditors

Each Director confirms that on the date that this report was
approved so far as they are aware, there was no relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware, and each Director
has taken all the steps they ought to have taken as a Director

in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company’s auditers are
aware of that information

PROFIT BEFORE TAX UP

P 21%
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The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated
their willingness to continue n office and a resolution
concerning therr reappointment will be proposed at the annual
general meeting

COl’pO rate governance

The Company’s statement on corporate governance can be
found in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 46 to 50
The Corporate Governance Report forms part of this Directors’
Report and 1s incorporated into it by cross-reference

Annual general meeting

The Company's annual general meeting will be held at our
Hampton Park West facility, Semington Road, Melksham,
Wiltshire SN12 6NB on 29 January 2015 at 10 30am The Notice
of Meeting can be found on pages 132 to 137 Registration will
be from 10 00am

/‘bc,t.mm

Miles Ingrey-Counter
Company Secretary
19 November 2014
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Statement of compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code

The Board of Birectors believes in high standards of corporate governance, notwithstanding the Company’s size and status as a member
of the FTSE SmallCap index, and is accountable to shareholders for the Group's performance in thisarea This statement describes how
the Group Is applying the relevant principles of governance, as set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code (the Code) which 1s available

on the website of the Financial Reporting Council {FRC}

The Company 1s a smaller company for the purposes of the Code
and in consequence certain provisions of the Code either do not
apply to the Company or may be judged to be disproportionate
or less relevant in 1ts case

The Board considers that, subject to the Senior Independent
Director not attending meetings with the major shareholders
to histen to their views {which 1s explained further below)

the Company met the requirements of the Code throughout
the year ended 30 September 2014 This statement wll
address separately the main subject areas of the Code namely
Leadership, Effectiveness, Accountability and Relations with
Shareholders Remuneration is dealt with in the Remuneration
Report on pages 54 to 73

The Board confirms that it has been applying the procedures
necessary to implement the Turnbull Guidance on how to apply
the section of the Code dealing with internal control

Leadership and effectiveness

Durning the year the Board of Avon Rubber p | ¢ comprised a
Chairman, two Non-Executive Directors {'the Non-Executive
Directors'), and two Executive Directors who are the Chief
Executive and the Group Finance Director The Board treats the
two Non-Executive Directors as independent Stella Pirie, having
completed nine years as Non-Executive Director, will retire

with effect from the conclusion of the AGM in January 2015
Richard Wood, who was appointed to the Board as a Non
Executive Director on 1 December 2012 will replace Mrs Pirie as
the Senior Independent Director

Rules concerning the appointment and replacement of
Directors of the Company are contaned n the Articles of
Assooiation Amendments to the Articles must be approved
by a special resolution of sharehelders Under the Articles all
Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first

annual general meeting following their appointment, and to
re-election thereafter at intervals of no more than three years

The Board 15 aware of the FRC's suggestion that companies
outside the FTSE 350 should consider the annual re-election of
all directors On the basis that this is not a requirement of the
Code and 1t has not been raised as an 1ssue by any shareholders
the Board has chosen not to change 1ts existing practice

Non-Executive Directors submit themselves for annual re-
election if they have served for more than nine years since
first election Additionally, the Non-Executive Directors are
appomnted by the Board on terms which allow for termination
on three months’ notice

Biographies of the Directors appear on page 41 These illustrate
the range of business and financial expenence upon which

the Board s able to call The intention of the Board 15 thatits
membership should be batanced between executives and non-
executives and have the appropnate skills and expenience The
special positton and role of the Chairman under the Code 1s
recognised by the Board and a written statement of the division
of responsibilities of the Chairman and Chief Executive has
been agreed The Chairman is responsible for the leadership

of the Board and ensuningits effectiveness on all aspects of its
role and the Chief Executive manages the Group and has the
prime role, with the assistance of the Board, of developing and
implementing business strategy

One of the roles of the Non-Executive Directors under

the teadershup of the Chairman is to undertake detailed
examination and discussion of strategies proposed by the
Executive Directors, 50 as to ensure that decisions are in the best
long-term interests of shareholders and take proper account of
the interests of the Group's other stakeholders The Chairman
ensures that meetings of Non-Executive Directors without the
Executive Directors are held

m DELFVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCCOUNTS 2014 au.n
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How the Board operates

The Chairman ensures through the Company Secretary that

the Board agenda and all relevant information s provided

to the Board sufficiently in advance of meetings and that
adequate time s available for discussion of all agenda 1items,

in parttcular strategic 1ssues The Chief Executive and the
Company Secretary discuss the agenda ahead of every meeting
At meetings the Chairman ensures that all Directers are able to
make an effective contribution throughout meetings and every
Director 1s encouraged to participate and provide opimions

for each agenda item The Chairman always seeks to achieve
unammous decistons of the Board following due discussion of
agenda items The Non-Executive Directors fully review the
Group's operational performance and the Board as a whole has,
with a view to reinforcing its oversight and control, reserved a
hst of powers sclely to itseif which are not to be delegated to
management This st includes appropriate strategic, financal,
organisational and comphiance 1ssues, including the approval
of tugh level annocuncements, circulars and the report and
accounts and certain strategic and management 1ssues

Examples of strategic and management issues include
the following

B Approval of the annual operating budget and the three
year plan

B The extension of the Group’s activities into new business
and geographic areas (or their cessation}

@ Changes to the corporate or capital structure

W Financialissues, including changes in accounting policy,
the approval of dividends, bank facilities and guarantees

Changes to the constitution of the Board

The approval of significant contracts, for example the
acquisition or disposal of assets worth more than £1,000,000
or the exposure of the Company or the Group to a nsk
greater than £1,000,000

B The approval of unbudgeted capital expenditure
exceeding £250,000

B The approval of quotations and sale contracts where the
sales commussion payable to an intermediary exceeds 10%
of the net invoice price

B Consideration and approval of all proposed acquisitions
and mergers

aven

Avon Rubber plc.

Each Director has full and timely access to all relevant information
and the Board meets reqularly with appropriate contact between
meetings All Directors recewve an induction from the Company
Secretary on joning the Board When appointed, Non-Executive
Directors are made aware of and acknowledge their ability to
meet the tme commitments necessary to fulfil their Board and
Committee duties Procedures are in place, which have been
agreed by the Board, for Directors, where necessary in the
furtherance of their duties, to take independent professional
advice at the Company's expense and all Directors have access to
the Company Secretary The Company Secretary is responsible
to the Board forensuring that all Board procedures are complied
with The removal of the Company Secretary 1s a decision for the
Board as a whole

Performance evaluation

Aninternal annual performance evaluation was undertaken by

the Board during the year and there are no plans to move towards
an externally facilitated evaluation (which s compulsery for FTSE
350 comparies} at this time The Chairman acted as the sponsor

of the evaluation process and each Director was required to score
a questionnaire for review by the Board The Company Secretary
acted as facilitator to the Board and issues ansing from the process
were incorporated into the Board's business as appropriate Within
the evaluation exercise, the Board addressed three key areas

the extent to which the Board focuses on the right issues, interacts
effectively and has the nght mechanics in place The evaluation
prompted a discussion which covered the arrangements in place
for succession planning, and the procedure for appointing new
directors to the Board, and the need for all directors to be given
the opportunity to regularly update and refresh their skills and
knowledge The evaluation concluded that the Board operates
well and the Board Commuttees operate effectively In particular
the Board contributes valuably to strategy, has appropnate
matters reserved to it for its decision and commits the necessary
time to be effective

156%

OF OPERATING PROFIT
CONVERTED 70 CASH
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Committees of the Board

Of particular importance in a governance context are the three
commuittees of the Board, namely the Remuneration Committee,
the Nominations Committee and the Audit Committee

The members of the Committees comprise the Chairman and
all the Non-Executive Directors The Non-Executive Directors
continue to regard the Chairman as adding signmificant value to
the deliberations of the Audit Commuttee and his membership
1s ratified by Provision C 31 of the Code, which permits histed
companies outside the FTSE 350 to allow the Chairman to

sit on the audit committee where he or she was considered
independent on appointment as Chairman Mrs S J Pine

will remain Chairman of the Audit Committee and Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director until her retirement from
the Board at the conclusion of the AGM The Board 15 satisfied
that Mrs Pine has recent relevant financial expenence and her
profile appears on page 41 It1s the Beard's ntention that Mrs
Pirie’s replacement takes her place as Chairman of the Audit
Committee and will therefore have recent relevant financial
expernience Mr DR Evans is Chairman of the Nomuinations
Commuttee and Mr R K Wood 15 Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee

The Remuneration Committee’s principal responsibilities are
to decide on remuneration policy on behalf of the Board and
to determine remuneration packages and other terms and
conditions of employment, including appropnate performance
related benefits, for the Executive Directors and other semor
executives The Chief Executive and the Company Secretary
attend meetings of the Committee by invitation, but are absent
when issues relating to each of them are discussed More
details of the acuvities of the Remuneration Committee are set
out In the Remuneration Report on pages 54 to 73 The Board
schedules eight regular meetings per year

Meetings during year ended 30 September 2014

Board Audit Remuneration Nominations

Commlttee Committee  Committee

SJ Pine 8 3 4 2

R K Wood 8 3 4 2

DR Evans 8 3 4 2

PC Slabbert 8 3* 4 2
AG Lewss 8 3"

Attendance by invitation

m DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAMAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014

This year four further meetings have been held on an ad hoc
basis, including by telephone conference, in connection
with the renegotiation of the Company's banking facility
arrangements, the allotment and 1ssue of new shares and
internal transactions In addition, between them, the three
Non-Executive Directors visited the Group’s main US sites
accompanied by the Chief Executive

Copies of the terms of reference of the Nominations,
Remuneration and Audit Committees and the terms and
conditions of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors
are avallable on the Company's website or from the
Company Secretary

Relations with shareholders

The Directors regard communications with shareholders as
extremely important All members of the Board receive copies
of analysts’ reports of which the Company 1s made aware

In terms of published materials the Company 1ssues a detailed
annual report and accounts and, at the half year, an intenm
report fnterrm management statements have been 1ssued
dunng the year, together with a number of other event updates
Diatogue takes place regularly with institutional shareholders
and general presentations are given following the preliminary
and intenim results The Board receives comments from analyst
meetings and shareholder meetings after both intenm and final
results and at other times during the year Shareholders have
the opportunity to ask questions at the annual general meeting
and alsc have the opportunity to leave written questions with
the Company Secretary for the response of the Directors

The Directors meet informally with shareholders after the ‘
annual general meeting and respond throughout the year to

correspondence from individual sharehclders on a wide range

of 1ssues Annual general meetings provide a venue for the

shareholders to meet the Non-Executive Directors in addition to

any other meetings shareholders may request

The Non-Executive Directors, having considered the Code with
regard to relations with shareholders, are of the view that it 1s
most appropriate for the shareholders to have regular dialogue
with the Executive Directors The results of all dialogue with
shareholders are communicated to the Board and reviewed

by the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director However,
should shareholders have concerns, which they feel cannot be
resolved through normal shareholder meetings, the Chairman,
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director and the remaining
Non-Executive Director may be contacted upon request
through the Company Secretary

Aaven
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At the annual general meeting on 29 January 2015, the Board
will be following the recommendations in the Code regarding
the constructive use of annual general meetings, as usual,

the agenda will include a presentaticn by the Chief Executive
on aspects of the Group’s business and an opportumity for
shareholders to ask questions The Board has no plans to
introduce poll voting on all business at general meetings as a
substitute for using proxy votes, as this is not a requirement of
the Code

Accountability

The Code requrres that Directors review the effectiveness

of the Group's system of internal controls The scope of this
review covers all controls including financal, operational and
compliance controls as well as sk management As indicated
earlier, the Board has put in place the procedures necessary
to implement the Turnbull Guidance on mternal control and
the Audnt Commuttee has responsibility to review, monitor
and make policy and recommendations to the Board upon

all such matters

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Group’s
system of internal control The Board, through the Audit
Committee, keeps this system under continuous review and
formally considers its content and wts effectiveness on an annual
basis Such a system can provide only reasonable, and not
absolute, assurance against matenal rmisstatements or {osses
The section on internal control in the Audit Committee Report
an pages 52 to 53 and the following paragraphs describe
relevant key procedures within the Group's systems of internal
control and the process by which the Directors have reviewed
ther effectiveness

Systems exist throughout the Group which provide for the
creation of three year plans and annual budgets, monthly
reports enable the Board to compare performance against
budget and to take action where appropnate

Procedures are in place to rdentify all major business nisks and
to evaluate therr potential impact on the Group These nisks are
described within the Strategic Report on pages 30 and 31

dven
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Assessment
and analysts

Elimination /
Identification Risk register murimise / contrel
or transfer

Review of
effectiveness
of conurol

Risk management

Risk 1s managed by the Group Executive management team
atits quarterly meetings during the year, led by the Company
Secretary and the Chief Executive At each meeting the Group
Executive team sets its key priorities for successfully managing
the Group’s businesses in the coming quarter This process
inherently addresses nsk and the Company Secretary sponsors
an exercise that ensures the known risks to the businesses,
together with any newly identified risks, are assessed and
analysed effectively and that the prionties eliminate, miimise,
controf or transfer nsk (or the effect thereof) as appropnate The
Company Secretary also sponsors a review of the continuing
effectiveness of other aspects of the control environment by the
executive team

The Board carried out quarterly reviews of the key risks facing
the Group during the year, following the quarterly reviews
conducted by the Group Executive management team

The Board also carried out an annual review of the major
business risks affecting the Group, ncluding the macro nisks In
the year under review, the risk assessments carrted out both at
business level and at Board level continue to be reviewed and
strengthened as part of the Board's ongoing response to the
Turnbull Guidance

OPERATING PROFIT UP
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The nsk management process

There 15 a clearly defined detegation of authonity from the
Board to the business units, with appropriate reporting lines
to individual Executive Directors There are procedures for the
authonsation of capital expenditure and investment, together
with procedures for post-completion appraisal

Internal controls are in existence which provide reasonable
assurance of the maintenance of proper accounting records and
the reliability of financial information used within the business
or for publication

The Group finance department manages the financial reporting
process to ensure that there 1s appropnate control and review
of the financial infermation including the production of the
consolidated annual accounts Group Finance is supported

by the operational finance managers throughout the Group,
who have the responsibility and accountability for providing
information in keeping with our policies, procedures and
internal best practices as documented in the internal finance
manual

The Board has 1ssued a Code of Conduct which reinforces the
importance of a robust internal control framework throughout
the Group The Board recognises that an open and honest
culture is key to understanding concerns within the business
and to uncovening and investigating any potential wrongdoing
The Code sets out the procedure whereby individuals may raise
concerns in matters of financial reporting or any other matter
of concern with management and directly with the Charrman of
the Audit Committee to ensure iIndependent investigation and
appropriate follow up action The Code is reviewed annually

Although the Board itself retains the ultimate power and
authority in relation to decision making, the Audit Committee
meets at least three times a year with management and, on
two occasions, external auditors to review specific accounting,
reporting and financial controt matters This Committee also
reviews the intenim, preliminary and annual statements and has
primary responsibility for making a recommendation on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditors

Disclosure and transparency rules

Disclosures in respect of the DTR requirements under DTR 726
are given in the Directors’ Report on page 44 and have been
included by reference

Going concern

After making appropnate enquines, the Directors have, at

the time of approving the financial statements, formed a
Judgement that there 1s a reasonable expectation that the
Company and Group have adequate resources to continue In
operational existence for the foreseeable future For this reason,
the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements

5?\v v

Stella Pine OBE
Chairman of the Audit Committee
19 November 2014
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NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT

The Noeminations Committee, to which the Chief Executive s
normally invited, reviews the Board structure, leads the process
for Board appointments and makes recommendations to the
Board, including on Board succession planning The Nominations
Committee evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and
expenence on the Board and, in the light of this evaluation,
prepares a description of the role for new appointments In
identifying potential candidates for positions as Non-Executive
Directors, the Committee has full regard to the principles of the
Code regarding the independence of Non- Executive Directors

The main responsibilities of the Commuttee are as follows

H To lead the process for identifying and nominating
candidates for the approval of the Board, to fill Board
vacancies as and when they anse

H To putin place plans for succession

B To regularly review the Board's structure, size and
composition taking into account the challenges and
opportunities facing the Group and the skills, knowledge
and experience needed by the Board and make
recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes

The Nomunations Committee is also responsible for the Board's
policy on diversity which was adopted in September 2014

The Board recognises the benefits of diversity Diversity of skills,
background, knowledge, international and industry expernence,
and gender, amongst many other factors, will be taken into
consideration when seeking to appoint new directors to the
Board Notwithstanding the foregoing, all Board appointments
will always be made on ment

The Board’s diversity policy can be found in the Corporate
Governance section of the website

Auen
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The Cornmittee met twice during the year in connection with
identifying a replacement for Mrs Pute, who will retire from the
Board at the next AGM

Further information, including the number of women in sentor
management and within the organisation s shown in the
Envircnmental and Corporate Social Responsibility Report on
pages 34 to 40

-

* .
David Evans
Chairman

19 November 2014
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Main responsibilities

B Reviewing the effectiveness of the Company's financial
reporting, internal control pohcies and procedures for the
identification, assessment and reporting of nsk

B Reviewing significant financial reporting 1ssues
and judgements

B Monitoening the integnity of the Company's
financial statements

W Keeping the relationship with the auditors under
review, including thewr terms of engagement, fees
and independence

B Monitoring the role and effectiveness of the internal
audit function

B Adwising the Board on whether the Committee believes
the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, I1s
fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the
Company‘s performance, business model and strategy

Activities dunng the year

The Audit Committee meets three times a year Meetings are
also attended by the Executive Directors and on at least two
occastons by representatives of the Group's external auditors
At meetings attended by the external auditors time is allowed
for the Audit Committee 1o discuss issues with the external
auditors without the Executive Directors being present

An annual rolling agenda 1s reviewed to ensure that all matters
within the Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference durning the
year are appropnately covered The Committee operates
under formal terms of reference and these are reviewed
annually The Committee considers that it has discharged

its responsibilities as set out in 1ts terms of reference to the
extent appropriate during the year

Financial reporting

During the year the Committee reviewed the appropnateness
of the Group's half year and full year financial statements
including censidering significant financial reporting jJudgments
made by management, taking into account the reports of the
Group Finance Director and the external auditors The main
areas of focus considered by the Commuttee durning 2014 were
as follows

B The presentation of the financial statements and in parucular,
the presentation of adjusted performance and the adjusting
items, including the exceptional item in respect of the closure
of the Lawrenceville facihity The Committee agreed that the
position taken in the financial statements 15 appropriate

W Review of the key judgements made in estimating the
Group's tax charge The Committee agreed that the position
taken in the finanaial statements 1s appropriate

B The need to perform an impairment review in respect
of intangible assets The Committee concurred with
management’s assessment that there were no triggering
events in 2014 requiring animpairment review

B Review of the en-going funding level of the defined
benefit pension scheme The Committee agreed this was
being managed appropriatety

W At the request of the Board the Committee considered
whether the 2014 annual report was fair, balanced
and understandable and whether 1t provided the
necessary information for sharehoelders to assess the
Company's performance, business model and strategy
The Commuttee was satisfied that, taken as a whole, the
annual report was fair, balanced and understandable

H Review and approval of a new Code of Conduct

The Committee was content after due chalienge and debate
with the assumptions made and the judgements applied and
therefore agreed with management'’s recommendations

In addition the Committee reviewed and recommended the
approval of the statements on corporate governance, internal
control and nsk management in the annual report and the half
year and interim management statements

External auditors

The Committee oversees the relationshrp with the external
auditors and monitors all services provided by and fees payable
to them, to ensure that potential conflicts of interest are
considered and that an objective and professional relationship
1s mamntamed

in particular the Commuittee reviews and monitors the
independence and cbyectivty of the external auditors and

the effectiveness of the audit process At the outset of the
audit process, the Committee receives from the auditors a
detailed audit plan, identfying their assessment of the key
nisks and their intended areas of focus This is agreed with

the Committee to ensure coverage Is appropnately focused
Feedback on the audit process Is requested from management
and for the 2014 financial year, management were satisfied
that there had been approprate focus and challenge on the
primary areas of audit risk and assessed the quality of the audit
process to be satisfactory The Committee concurred with the
view of management The Committee also keeps under review
the nature, extent, objectivity and cost of non-audit services
provided by the external auditors
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PrncewaterhouseCoopers LLP ('PwC') have been the Company’s
external auditors for a number of years The Committee last
reviewed the external audit mandate in 2012 and confirmed

the continuing appointment of PwC This was on the basis

that the Committee was comfortable that the PwC audit team
rematned objective and independent on the basis of the regular
rotation of the audit partner and specific assurance provided

by PwC to the Committee on the arrangements it has in place
to maintain its independence The provision of external audit
and tax comphliance are separated and tax compliance services
are provided by BDO in the US and Tax Partner in the UK The
Commuttee considers the reappointment of the external auditor
and their independence on an annual basis

The new regulatory requirement to rotate the external audit
mandate does not affect the Company until 2020 however,

in order to ensure the independence and objectivity of the
external auditors and avoid a situation where the auditor’s
familianty with the Group's affairs results in excessive trust, the
Committee maintains a formal Auditor Independence Policy
This policy provides clear definitions of services that the external
auditors can and cannot provide They may only provide non-
audit services where those services do not conflict with their
independence A formal authensation policy 1s in place for the
provision of non-audit services to ensure that approprate pre-
approval 1s obtained as necessary The latest version provides
that non-audit services with a value of more than £50,000 or
which cumulatively exceed the annual audit fee require the
approval of the Board This approach was preferred to capping
the value of non-audit services performed by the external
auditor by reference to the external audit fee The policy also
establishes guidelines for the recruitment of employees or
former employees of the external auditor To ensure compliance
with this policy the Audit Committee carned out a review during
the year of the remuneration received by PwC for audit services,
audit-related services and non-audit work The breakdown of
the fees paid to the external auditor, including the split between
audn and non-audit fees, 1s included in note 5 on page 87 of

the financial statements These reviews ensure a balance of
objectivity, value for money and comphance with this policy The
outcome of these reviews was that no conflicts of interest existed
between such audit and non-audit work

Internal control

The Committee regularly reviews the effectiveness of the Group's
system of internal controls and nsk management This involves
the monitonng and reviewing of the effectiveness of internal
audit activities, which included a review of the audits carned

out and the results thereof, the management response and the
programme and resourcing for 2014 and 2015

au.n ANMUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014 DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL m
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The Committee believes it 1s appropriate that the internal
audit process 15 undertaken by members of the finance team
who conduct financial reviews of the sites on a rotational basis
In addition, site controllers and plant managers are obliged

to positively confirm, on a bi-annual basis, that the controls as
documented in the internal control manual are in place and
are being adhered to, with specific reference to key controls
such as bank and control account reconcthations This process
has been 1n place for the year under review and up to the date
of approval of the annual report and financial statements

It has been reviewed by the Board and continues to be
monitored by the Committee, which remains satisfied with the
arrangements

Dunng the year, the new business management software
system continued to be rolled out throughout the Group

The 2014 internal audit programme included two post-
implementation reviews to ensure the new system was
operating effectively and assess the need for any modification
prior to implementation at the next site The rollout will
continue towards completion in 2015

No significant faillings or weaknesses were identified by the
internal audit process but several minor improvements were
identified and implemented

As part of its work, and in hine with its terms of reference,

the Commuittee also considers the discharge of the Board’s
responsibilities in the areas of corporate governance,

finanaal reperting and internal contrel, including the internal
management of nsk, as identified in the Turnbull Guidance
Risk management activities are dealt with :n more detail in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 46 to 50

S—?'\ L

Stella Pine OBE
Chairman of the Audit Committee
19 November 2014
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REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Letter from the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Il wrote to you last year setting out a propasal for a three year
remuneration package for Executive Directors and to outhne
the general remuneration policy that we would adopt for the
Company to prepare for the challenges ahead and to align
remuneration with changing City guidelines

Before proposing this new policy | consulted and took into
account the views of a number of leading shareholders

The new policy and the package for Executive Directors was
overwhelmingly supported by shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting in February 2014 t has since been used to
incentivise the Executive team during the current financial year
with great effect

Conceptually, it aimed to reward success for driving sustained
high levels of growth based on a new strategic approach
introduced by the new Chairman and approved by the Board
The remuneration changes were aimed at rewarding success
and not failure and included a greater proportion of variable
pay for achievement together with a 25% deferment to protect
against under or vanable performance and a claw back for mis-
statements

It 1s apparent from the impressive results being reported
this year that the new remuneration policy has contributed
significantly

Last year we did not review the fees for Non-Executive Directors,
although they were due for review in 2012, but informed
shareholders that we would do so this year on a new three year
cycle under the new remuneration policy | will comment on
that review later in this letter and explain how we propose to
algn fees better with the challenges placed on a small board
while keeping them within the guiding benchmark levels for
similarly sized companies

As was the case last year, my report covers the remuneration of
both Executive and Non-Executive Directors and 1s split into a
section that sets out the policy approved last year and which
will remamn in force for another two years, together with an
annual remuneration section that gives details of remuneration
for this year The section on annual remuneration will be subject
to an advisory vote by shareholders, but it will not be necessary
to hold a shareholder vote on remuneration policy as it 1s not
being changed

m DELIVERING PERFCRMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014

Key features of the current remuneration policy are -
1 Base salanes
11 Executive Directors

The current remuneration policy for Executive Directors froze
basic salarnes for three years from October 2013 Accordingly,
the 29 annual cost of living increase awarded to the wider

workforce this year will not be paid to the Executive Directors

12 Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Director fees have not been reviewed since 2009
and the Company Chairman's fee has not been reviewed since
2011 Last year the review was postponed to allow the Company
Chairman to assess the composition and demands required of
the Board to implement the new growth strategy approved

by the Board Both fees have now been reviewed wath effect
from 1 October 2014 1n hne with the methodology proposed

in the remuneration policy and approved by shareholders in
February 2014 The policy ams to provide compensation in line
with the demands of the roles at a level that attracts high calibre
indmviduals and reflects therr experience and knowledge

The new fees will be fixed for three years from 1 October 2014

Having taken into account the EY benchmark study, which
reviewed fees against those paid in other similar sized UK
listed companies, together with the different demand pattern
of Board work required by the Company, we have decded

to increase base fee levels from £35,000 to £38,500 per year
In addition we have adjusted committee fees to reflect the
increased level of work expected in a small board where
non-executive directors have overlapping roles and are required
to sit on several committees Whilst the Committee Chairman
fee will remain at £10,000 per year we have introduced a new
fee for committee membership of £2,000 per year

in order to maintain the Company Chairman'’s independence
we do not propose to make any form of committee payments
to him, although he does siton all the Company committees
and chas the Nominations Committee Instead, we have
increased his total fee from £100,000 to £125,000, which is the
median level of fee in the benchmarking study of similar sized
businesses prepared by EY in October 2014

Aven
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2 Executive Directors’ vanable pay

Last year the Committee increased the cap on the quantum of
vartable pay in order to reward exceptiona! performance but
this increase was counterbalanced by measures designed to
protect against under or vanable performance

For the first 100% of salary, the spht of targets i1s consistent with
those used in previous years The additional 50% of salary 1s
calculated according to a ratchet based on earnings per share
growth occurring in excess of 20% growth over the previous
year earmings per share Details of the ratchet are set outin the
remuneration policy report

This has been the first year of operation for the new maximum
award levels and given the strength of the financial results,
the Commuttee firmly believes that the ratcheted performance
condition and the increased level of the bonus cap have been
sensibly applied to good effect

The new deferral rule requires 25% of all annual bonus
payments related to the performance of the business to be
deferred into shares to be held for two years, and then treated
as shares that are not subject to the executive shareholding
guidelines In this way, if earnings are not sustained over that
periad, any reduction in the share price will reduce the value
of the bonus The number of shares subject to the deferral
arrangement Is set out in the annual remuneration report

3 Long-term incentives for Executive Directors

To balance the increased short and medium-term incentives
introduced last year, the Committee decided to make no

changes to the conditional awards made under the Performance

Share Plan approved by shareholders in 2010 Grants for both
the Chief Executive and Group Finance Director were therefore
equal to 100% of salary in December 2013 and the same will
apply to the awards that will be made in December 2014

The Commuttee regularly monitors changes in market practice
and shareholder expectations concerning the operation of
long-term incentive schemes To coincide with the half-way
pointin the life of the Performance Share Plan, the Committee
will review the operating conditions of the current plan during
the coming financial year with a view to making the changes
that are necessary to bring future awards made under the Plan
in to line with market practice by the end of 2015 With regard
to the three-year performance peniod for awards under the

Aven
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Performance Share Plan which ended on 30 September 2014,
the earnings per share target is expected to be met in full
and the total shareholder return s expected to hie between
the median and upper quartiles Under the scheme rules,
approximately 90% of the awards are therefore likely to vest
in December 2014

An announcement on the vesting will be made at the time

Conclusions

The Committee takes an active interest in shareholder views
and developments in best practice | held a constructive
consultation with major shareholders last year and will do

50 In future years when we seek to make changes to the
remuneration policy beyond the existing discretion it contains

The Committee believes that the new remuneration structure
has incentivised the Executive team this year to deliver
strong and sustainable growth by offering increased reward
for exceptional performance We remain comfortable that
the policy has not encouraged undue nisk taking as the
performance metrics have been fully aligned with targeted
improvements in the Company's key performance indicators
Incentive bonuses are subject to claw back provisions and
part of the annual benus will, for the first ttme this year, be
deferred into Company shares These features, allied to our
share ownership guidelines, continue to ensure that the current
remuneration policy 1s aligned with short, medium and long-
term sharehclder interests

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank shareholders for
their continued support The Committee hopes that the new
form of reporting we adopted for the first time |ast year 15 clear
but ! would welcome your feedback and suggestions

for improvements
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REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Remuneration Policy Report

Executive Directors
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee 15 responsible for developing
and implementing remuneration policy and for determining
the Executive Directors' individual packages and terms of
service together with those of the other members of the Group
Executive management team

The Committee comprises Mr R K Wood (Chairman), Mr D R Evans
and Mrs S J Pine The Committee uses external independent
professional advisers when needed KPMG are the Company's
independent actuanal advisor on pension matters and wall
provide the Committee with information on executive pension
arrangements when this cannot be provided by the pension
scheme actuary AonHewitt EY provide annual performance
monitoring data and share award valuations for review by the
Committee In relation to the Performance Share Plan EY also
provide remuneration benchmarking of the reward packages
received by the Executive Directors, the Group Executive

and the fees received by the Chairman and the other
Non-Executive Directors

The Committee addressed the following main issues during the
last year

B Reviewed the remuneration of the Executive Directors and
the other members of the Group Executive management
team and decided to make adjustments with effect from 1
October 2013

8 Approved the annual bonus payments to the Executive
Birectors in November 2013

B Approved the annual bonus plan for the Executive Directors
for the 2014 financial year

B Reviewed and confirmed the vesting of the 2010/11
Performance Share Plan awards in December 2013

W Reviewed and approved the 2013/14 Performance
Share Plan awards granted in December 2013 and moniored
the performance of the outstanding awards aganst their
performance targets

B Reviewed the executive management succession and talent
management plan

Since the end of the 2014 financial year, the Committee has

B Recommended fee increases for the Nan-Executive
Crrectors for the 2015 finanoial year effective 1 October
2014, which were approved by the Chairman and the
Executive Directors

B Recommended a fee increase for the Chairman for the
2015 financial year effective 1 October 2014, which was
approved by the Senior Independent Director and the
Executive Directors

M Approved the annual bonus payments to the Executive
Directors and the Group Executive management team,
following completion of the external audit in
November 2014

B Approved the annual bonus plan for the Executive
Directors and the Group Executive management team
for the 2015 financial year

@ Made preparations for the 2014/15 Performance Share
Plan awards to be granted in December 2014

Guiding policy

The Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference are available
on the Company's website and include

B Determining and agreeing with the Board the policy for the
remuneration of the Company’s Chief Executive, Group
Finance Director, Chairman, the Company Secretary and
such other members of the senior management team as it
chooses to consider or s designated to consider (currently
the Group Executive management team)

B Within the terms of the agreed policy, determining the total
individual remuneration package of each Executive Director
including, where appropnate, bonuses, incentive payments,
share options and pensicn arrangements The remuneration
of Non-Executive Directors is a matter for the Chairman and
the Executive Directors

M Reviewing the design of all share incentive plans for
approval by the Board and shareholders For any such
discretionary plans, determining each year whether awards
will be made, the oversll amount of such awards, the
individual awards to Executive Directors and the Group
Executive management team {and others} and the
performance targets to be used

B Determining the targets for any performance-related bonus
schemes operated by the Company

B Reviewing the remuneration trends across the Group,
including the salary increases proposed annually for all
Group employees

N Agreeng termination arrangements for senior executives
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The Committee aims to provide a remuneration structure

that supports the achievement of the Company's performance
objectives and, in turn, increases shareholder value

The Company's guiding policy on executive remuneration is that

B Executive remuneration packages should take into account
the inkage between pay and performance by both rewarding
effective management and by making the enhancement of
shareholder value a critical success factor in the setting of
incentives, both in the short and the long term

B The overall level of salary, incentives, pension and other
benefits should be competitive when compared with other
comparies of a similar size and global spread to attract,
retain and motivate executive directors of supenor calibre in
order to deliver continued growth of the business

B Performance related components should form a significant
proportion of the overall remuneration package, with
maximum total potential rewards being earned through
the achievement of challenging performance targets based
on measures that represent the best interests of shareholders

Approach to recruitment remuneration

The Commuittee’s policy on recruitment remuneration is that new
Executive Directors will be offered a base salary below the median
level in the applicable benchmarking report until proven, at which
point they will receive an uphft to the benchmark median salary
level determined and maintained by reference to Independent
benchmarking studies carried out every three years Annual
bonus awards, performance share plan awards and pension
contnbutions would not be in excess of the current levels stated
for the Chief Executive and the Group Finance Director

In unusual circumstances it may be necessary to pay a joining
incentive to secure the night candidate The Committee might
consider paying up to 2 5 imes base salary in these circumstances
with the actual amount being defined by market requirements

at the time However, any such payment would be subject to
performance conditions and a claw back on underperformance
duning the first two years of employment No joining incentives
were paid in connection with the promotion of Mr Slabbert to the
role of Chief Executive or for the recruitment of Mr Lewis as Group
Finance Director, both of which occurred in 2008

Consideration of conditions elsewhere in the Company

The expenence of Committee members and the 2013 EY

benchmarking report have been relied upon In setting the
remuneration packages for the Executive Directors and this
remuneration policy Employees have not been specfically

auehn
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consulted n this regard Consistent with this approach annual cost
of iving increases granted to the wider workforce are not paid

to the Executive Directors or to the other members of the Group
Executive management team

The Commuttee monitors the remuneration of the wider workforce
and, in particular, the divisional management teams as well

as other key employees Aswith the proposed policy for the
Executive Directors, general practice across the Group 1s to recruit
employees at market rates and this tends to be at the median
salary level or above to attract them tc the Group

Because of the numbers involved and the need to absorb new
recruits at salanes comparable with those already employed,
salanes are normalised upwards over time to the median level

so that the pay level of the workforce 1s always kept close to

the median level and maintained at that level by cost of living
increases Employees are then able to earn annual bonuses in
excess of the mid-market rate in return for delivering exceptional
performance

In addition, the Group Executive management team maintains a
benchmarking survey of all management employees in the Group
with the aim of ensuring that each is being paid at the median
benchmark level for their role and that each has a career and
associated satary progression plan Itis possible that some of the
more senior personnel within that group will be brought within
the Committee's benchmarking study but for now the Committee
1s comfortable that the Group Executive management team sets
the remuneration for the divisional management levels beneath it
in the orgamisation structure

Consideratton of shareholder views

Last year the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee consulted
with the three largest Company shareholders with a combined
holding of 40% on the (then) proposed remuneration policy Two
of the shareholders indicated their support for the pohicy without
proposing any amendments The thud proposed some wording
changes to aid the understanding of the position being taken on
the tncreases to annual bonus, which were adopted

There has been no further engagement with shareholders in
relation to the remuneration policy since the last annual
general meeting
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REMUNERATION REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Detalled policy

The table below summarises the main components of the remuneration policy approved by shareholders at the February 2014 annual

general meeting for the three year penod commencing 6 February 2014

The Remuneration Committee has discretion to amend the remuneration policy in 2015 and 2016 to the extent described in the table
and the written sections that follow it below

Element of
remuneration

Base
Salary

Annual
Bonus

! ﬂ DELIVERING FPERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014

Purpose and
link to strategy

To provide
compatitiva fixad
remuneration

To attract and

retain Executive
Directors of superior
calibre in order to
deliver growth for
the business

Intended 10

reflect that paid te
senior management
of comparable
companies

Reflects individual
expearignce and role

As above

Rewards the
achievement of
annual financial

and strategic
business targets and
delivery of personal
objectives

Maximum bonus
only payable

for achieving
demanding targets

Deferred element
encourages long-
tarm sharehelding
and discaurages
excessive risk taking

Operation

Reviawed avary three years by
the Remuneration Committee

Individual salary adjustments
take into account each Executive
Director's parformance against
agreed challenging objectivas
and the Group's financial
circumstances, as well as

relative to the axternal market
as identifiad in a benchmarking
study based on an appropriate
comparator group

Executive Directors are entitled
to medicals every two years
and private health insurance.
Cash for car payments were
phased out in 2003, Life
assurance is a benefit under the
pension scheme but paid for
by 1he Company. Small loans
have been made in connection
with the jointly owned equity
awards under the Performance
Shars Plan

Paid in cash except 25% is
deferred into shares to be held
for two years

Not pensionable

Up to 150% of basic salary for
the CEO and the F& in 2014

Deferral does not apply to the
percentage award relating

to achievement of personal
objectives

Claw back applies if tha financial
reesults which led to the bonus
being paid are restated due

to an error in the subsequent
1w years

Maximum
potential value®

201314;

PC Slabbert £330,000

AG Lewis £252,000

2014/15 and 2015/16:

No change

No ingrease in 2016
unless found to be
below the median

level shownina

benchmarking report

to be commissioned
in September 2016

and any adjustments
will be effective from

1 Cctober 2016

Full cost of healthcare

benefits is circa £2k

per Exccutive Director

Life assurance is
provided as part of
a Group-wide policy
and therefore a
specific cost cannot
be attributed to the
Executive Directors.

2013/14 (% of salary}:

PC Slabbert 150%
AG Lewis 150%

2014/15 and 2015/16
(% of salary):
No change

Performance
targets

Changes
from 2013

Notapplicable No change

Not applicable Nochange

The first 100% is based
upon a combination

of Group profit budget
achievernent {Group
PBITE), year on

year PBITE growth and
Group cash generation
(ratio of operating cash
flow 10 operating profit)
plus specific persenal
performance targets

No change

Any bonus in excess
of 100% of salary is
based upon EPS
growth occurring in
axcass of 20% over
the previous year
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Element of
remuneration

Purpose and
link to strategy

Performance
Share Plan

Designed to

align Executive
Directors’interests
with both the
strategic objectives
of delivering
sustainable
earnings growth
and the interests

of shareholders

Share Toincrease alignment

hetwean executives
and shareholders

ownership
guidelines

To reward sustained
contribution by
providing retirement
banefits

Operation

The Company has one
Parformance Share Plan,
which was approved by
shareholders in 2019.

Annual grants of conditional
share awards which vest after
a three year performange
period, subject to achievement
of parformance targets and
centinued service

Executive Directors are
required 10 retain a
proportion of their net
of tax vasted awards until
the guideline is met

Mr Slabbertis a deferred
member of the now closed final
salary section of

the Plan

Both MrSlabbert and Mr Lawis
are members of the money
purchase section of the Plan.
Where the promised level of
benefits cannot be pravided
through the money purchase
scheme the Company provides
benefits through the provisian
of salary supplements

Maximum
potential value*

2013/14 (%2 of salary)
PC Stabbert 100%
AG Lewis 100%

2014/15 and 201516
(% o salary}
No change

200% of salary for

Executive Directors for

awards vesting from
December 2014

2013774 (%s of salary)
PC Slabhert 15%
AG Lewis 15%

2014415 and 2015/16
(2% of salary)
No change

Performance Changes
targets from 2013

TSR {of which
30% vests for median
increasing to 100%
vesting for upper
yuartile of the
FTSE Small Cap
Index excluding
investment trusts)

No change

50% EPS (which starts
vesting at nil for RPI
+3% rising to 100%
at RPI +8%)

Not apglicable No change

Nat applicable No change

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

[Yal
vy
w
=
wvi
>
«O
[
>
o
z
>
[+
ut
=
ES
o
T

HOW WE PERFORMED

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

* All dazes are for the year ending 30 September in any referenced year
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REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

There are no elements of remuneration other than basic salary,
benefits and pension that are not subject to performance
requirements

The chart below illustrates for both the Chief Executive and
Group Finance Oirector how the remuneration packages vary at
different levels of performance under the current policy, shown
as a percentage of total remuneration opportunity

100% of variable pay vests 1% ,//z{é///
(maximum award) ;}///A

L,
50% of vanable pay vests ) ////;
{target) 48% % | 21;://4

0% of variable pay vests

0% 20% 40% 60% B80% 100%

HE  Salary, benefits and pension
C—] Bonus
7771 Performance shares

Basic salary and benefits

The basic salary for each Executive Director 1s reviewed every three
years by the Remuneration Committee It is intended that basic
salary levels should reflect the median of a surtable comparator
group selected according to size, industry sector or location as a
suitable benchmark group for the Company and will be paid subject
to the Group's wider financial circumstances

Current basic salary levels are as follows

_ P c 5|abberl

Year ended 30 Sepmmber 2014 £330,000 £252,000
Year commencing | Qctober 2014 £330,000 £252,000

m DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014

The Group's employees have received an increase of approximately
2 6% over the same peniod, induding annual cost of iving,
promotional increases and increases based on exceptional
performance

The Committee firstused EY to conduct a benchmarking review

of the reward packages received by the Executive Directors

and the Group Executive management team in 2011 The report
benchmarked these by reference to the directors and management
in a comparator group of 18 UK|isted compantes selected according
to size, industry sector or location as a suitable benchmark group
for the Company

Comparator group of companies
for reward benchmarking

Consort Medical plc Renold pic
Cosalt plc Scapa Group plc
Diploma PLC Trifast plc
Hamworthy Pic Victrex ple
Hampson Industries PLC Corin Group PLC
James Latham plc Future plc

Lonrho pic Haynes Publishing Group PLC

Melrose Resources plc Helphire Group plc

Rershaw plc Latchways plc

Based upon the report, the significant growth delivered and

the future prospects for growth, the Committee implemented
aremuneration strategy in October 2011 which targeted the
median pay levelidentified in the EY report, not by a single large
increase, but in stages when performance justified a change
that the Company could then afford to pay The first incremental
step towards the target median was made with effect from 1
October 2011 when Mr Slabbert's salary was increased from
£235,000 to £280,000 {a 19% increase) and Mr Lewis's salary was
increased from £162,000 to £200,000 (a 24% increase)

In September 2012, the Committee considered whether to grant
a further increase towards the median level for Mr Slabbert and

Mr Lewns but decided against this No inflationary related salary

increase was made at that time either

in September 2013, in recognition of the impressive growth

and shareholder return consistently delivered by the Executive
Directors and the Group Executive management team, the
Committee confirmed that the final incremental step increase to
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salanes should be made to achieve the median level identified in
the EY report However, before doing so the report was revalidated
by referrnng to the publicly available Deloitte report dated March
2013 on directors' remuneration in smaller companmes With effect
from 1 October 2013, Mr Slabbert's salary was increased from
£280,600 to £330,000 (an 18% increase) and Mr Lewis's salary

was Increased from £200,000 to £252,000 {a 26% increase) These
salaries are now frozen until the next benchmarking review to be
carnied outn 2016

Details of the comparator group used in the 2011 EY
benchmarking study are set out above Future comparator groups
may be slightly different to reflect the Company's development
Except where roles are significantly widened, the Committee
believes the median salary of the benchmark group to be

an appropnate target for the Company's Executive Directors
given its size, industry sectors and geographical positioning,
notwithstanding the spectacular growth delivered over the last
five years

1 FINANCIAL TARGETS

Private medical insurance, hfe assurance and small loans in
connection with the jointly owned equity awards under the
Performance Share Plan are the only benefits in kind received
by the Executive Directors

Annual cash bonus

The Executives’ annual bonus arrangements are focused on the
achievement cf the Company's short and medium term financial
objectives Before the start of each year, the Remuneration
Commuttee sets financial performance targets for the year These are
designed to be stretching Bonus payments are not pensionable

2013/14

For the year ended 30 September 2014, 120% of the Executive
Directors’ bonus potential, capped at 150% of salary, was based on
the achievement of Group financial targets The remaining 30% was
based on achieving measurable personal performance targets, as
shown below

{a) Group profit budget achievement {Group PBITE) 25% 25%
Less than 90% of budget pays nothing Bonus s earned from 90% of budget pro-rata up te 110% of

budget on a straight line basis Measured {for foreign exchange translation) at budget exchange rates

(b) Profit growth on previous year {year on year PBITE growth} 25% 25%
Bonus will be earned for growth between 0% and 10% on a straight line basis Measured

{for foreign exchange translation) at prior year exchange rates (1 e constant currency measure)

(<) Group cash generation {ratio of operating cash flow 1¢ operating profit) 20% 20%
As reported in the Annual Report and Accounts each year Pays on a straight line basis where the

ratio exceeds 80% up to a maximum of 100% Excludes exceptional items and other adjustments

from both measures

(d) Earnings per share growth in excess of 20% over the previous year 50% 50%
Caleulated according to a ratchet mechanism set in more detail below

2. PERSONAL PERFORMANCE TARGETS

A portion of bonus can be earned based on an individual reviewer’s assessment of personal 30% 30%
performance against personal performance targets set at the beginning of the financial year

TOTAL potential bonus 2014 as a percentage of basic salary 150% 150%

dauven
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REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Performance measures (a) to {c) were the same as In previous
years and closely align the performance of the Executive
Directors with the strategy of the Company's business and
shareholder value creation The personal performance targets
are a set of non- finanaal personal targets which also support
the delivery of the strategy

Performance measure {d) was introduced for the first time for
the 2013/14 year and allows the Executive Directors to earn
annual bonus in excess of 100% of salary in return for delivening
exceptional EPS growth 1n excess of 20% each year

These percentages are fixed for the three years of the current
policy and will be reviewed 1n 2016

The additional 50% of salary i1s only payable for truly exceptional
performance, calculated according to a ratchet based on EPS
The ratchet only applies to EPS growth in excess of 20% over the
previous year

For an additional 10% of EPS growth above 20% over the
previous financial year EPS {1 e up to a maximum of 30% EPS
growth over the previous financial year EPS} additional bonus
can be earned on a pro rata basis up to the maximum as follows

EPS measure

5% 5% for the first 2 5% of additional growth
10% 10% for the second 2 5% of additional growth
15% 15% forthe third 2 5% of additional growth
20% 20% for the fourth 2 5% of additiona! growth

"EPS" means, in relation to any year, the fully diluted earnings
per share of the Company as adjusted to exclude the charge/
credit in respect of exceptional items, the revaluation or
impairment of assets, the charge or credit related to 1AS 19
{(rewised) and the amortisation of acquired intangible assets

n DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014

% ADDITIONAL BONUS EARNED
V EPS GROWTH %

50

40

30

0

% ADDITIONAL BONUS IN
EXCESS OF 100% OF SALARY

225 250 275 300
EPS GROWTH %

H % ADDITIONAL BONUS EARNED V EPS GROWTH %

The Committee strangly believes it is necessary to incentivise

the Executive Directors to deliver truly excepuional performance
and to counterbalance the restriction placed on satanes moving
forward only at the median level when the Committee i5 trying

to implement a strateqy for growth targeted to be well above the
median in the comparator group It 1s expected that this bonus
policy will be fixed for the life of the current remuneration policy to
reflect the challenge placed on the team of achieving sustainable
high growth in a non-turnaround situaticn

At the same time the Committee introduced a claw back rule that
applies if the Group’s financial results are restated due to an error
during the two years following their release and a deferral rule
which provides for 25% of annual bonus payments to be deferred
Into shares to be held for two years, then treated as shares which
are not subject to the executive shareholding guidelines

This will be applied for the first ume this year in connection with
the annual bonus payments to be made in November 2014

Lang-term incentive plan - Performance Share Plan (the Plan)

The Remuneration Committee introduced this Plan with
shareholder approval at the AGM 1n 2002 and 1n 2010 shareholders
approved an updated plan The existing Plan therefore came into
effect from 2 March 2010, with the aim of motivating Executive
Directors and other sentar executives to achieve performance
superior to the Company's peers and to maintain and increase
earmngs levels whilst at the same time ensuring that it is not at
the expense of longer-term shareholder returns This 1s reflected
in the Plan's performance conditions which are based on total
shareholder return {TSR) and earnings per share (EPS) These
financial performance conditions remain appropriate for a growing
business and the expectations of shareholders over the life of the
current policy They will therefore be applied to the next cycle of
awards in December 2014 Non-financial performance conditions

aven

Avon Rubberplc




are not considered appropriate at the current stage in the
development of the Group although this will be kept under review

The TSR measure takes the total return received by the Company's
shareholders in terms of share price growth and dividends over a
three year pentod and compares 1t with the total returns received
by shareholders in companies within a predetermined and
appropriate comparator group

The EPS measure 1s based on rea! growth in earnings over
the performance pericd where real growth s expressed as a
percentage above inflation

Under the Plan, Executive Directors and a limited number of
other senior executives and employees recerve conditional share
awards (which may be in the form of nil-cost options) in respect
af the Company's shares The awards are split so that 50% vestsn
accordance with the TSR target and 50% I1n accordance with the
EPS target The Commuttee has considered whether to make the
targets apply concurrently but decided against this, preferning the
balance of measures relating to earnings growth and long term
strategic performance that are assessed independently of each
other The actua! number of shares that each participant receives
depends on the Company's performance over a three-year
perfarmance period against the combined EPS/TSR target

The Committee believes that a three-year performance penod
remains appropnate for the Company and in hine with market
practice amongst the FTSE Small Cap community

For the TSR measure, the performance of the Company's

shares over the performance period 1s compared with the TSR
performance within a comparator group comprising the FTSE
Small Cap Index, excluding investment trusts The Commuittee has
considered whether to create a bespoke comparator group but
concluded that there are insufficient direct comparator companies
of the nght size and diversity in the relevant industries to warrant
a specific peer group and the FTSE Small Cap Index remains an
appropnate comparator group Over the three-year penod

W [f the Company's TSR performance 1s below the median TSR
of the comparator group, no shares will vest

B |fthe Company's TSR performance i1s equal to the median
TSR of the comparater group, 30% of the shares may vest

B |fthe Company's TSR performance i1s equal to, or exceeds, the
upper guartile TSR of the comparator group, 100% of the
shares may vest

W |fthe Company's TSR performance 1s between the median
and upper quartile TSR of the comparator group, shares may
vest on a pro rata basis

Aaven
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The above schedule reflects the Remuneration Commuttee’s
intention to reward only TSR performance which outperforms
the comparator group and the Committee's view 1s that
measuring this by reference to median and upper quarule
placing remains appropriate In 2011 the Committee reduced
the munimum TSR vesting target from 40% to 30% In the
coming year the Committee intends to review the operating
conditions of the Plan with a view to making the changes that
are necessary to bring future awards in line with current market
practice by the end of 2015 This may include a further reduction
i the mimimum TSR vesting target

Vesting according to the ranking of the Company's

TSR in the peer group

9% of award vesting

Below median Nil
Median 30%
Upper quartile 100%

For the EPS measure, the earmings per share over the
performance penod are compared with a scale which provides
for nil vesting at RPI +3% and maximum vesting at RPi +8%,
with vesting on a pro rata basis for performance between
these two figures This range was first introduced for the
awards made in December 2011 and the Committee believes

It remains appropriate Itis difficult to link the EPS target to
broker forecasts which only look out one year, but if inflation 1s
assumed to be 3%, then under the EPS measure the Group has
to grow profits by 20% over three years to achieve minimum
vesting and by 35% to achieve maximum vesting These targets
are ahead of the expectations for those businesses in the
Company's sector where longer-term forecasts are published

EPS growth targets

% of award vesting
At or less than RP1 +3% Nil

At or greater than RPI +8% 100%

In addition, the Commuttee has discretion to reduce the number
of shares which will vest or decide that no shares will vest if it
considers that the financial performance of the Company or the
performance of the partiapant does not justify vesting

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR
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REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

The maximum value that can currently be granted under the
Plan rules in any year remans at 100% of salary

The current remuneration policy 1s that both Mr Slabbert and
Mr Lewis should receive awards equal to 100% of salary, being
the median level identified 1n the 2011 EY benchmarking report
This 1s fixed until 2016 when it will be reviewed by reference to a
new benchmarking report

On a change of control, any vesting of awards will be pro-rated
by reference to time and performance

Under the Plan as introduced in 2010 joint ownership awards
were permitted for the first ime In the Company's case, savings
in National Insurance Contributions resulting from this are

not offset by the loss of corporation tax credits because of the
presence of historic corporation tax losses in the UK

The Company loans recipents the small up-front cost of
purchasing their interest in the Joint ownership award shares
For consistency the Executive Directors have been treated in the
same way as other reciptents and have therefore recerved small
loans in connection with their outstanding awards The total
value of the loans received by the Executive Directors is capped
at £10,000

As announced to shareholders in December 2013, joint
ownership awards, mil cost options and conditional awards

of shares were granted under the 2010 Plan to the Executive
Directors, members of the Group Executive management team
and other valued employees A further award will be made in
December 2014 within the parameters of the Plan as descrnibed
above and at 100% of salary for both the Chief Executive and
Group Finance Cirector

Shareholding guidelines

Under shareholding guidelines approved in 2004, executives
participating in the Performance Share Plan are required

to build up and retain a shareholding in the Company

For Executive Directors the shareholding requirement was
equivalent to 15 umes base salary and for other recipients the
shareholding requirement was equivalent to one times base
salary The Executive Directors and other members of the Group
Executive management team are required to retain a portion

of any awards that vest under the Plan untll their respective
shareholding guideline 1s met

In September 2011 the Remuneration Committee amended

the shareholding guidelines so that for awards that vest from
December 2014 the Executive Directors are obliged to build up
and retain a shareholding equivalent to two imes base salary,
after which they are not required to retan any portion of future
awards that vest

Dilution

The Company reviews the awards of shares made under the
all-employee and executive share plans in terms of their effect
on dilution limsts in any rolling ten-year peried The current
position s set out on page 71

Other share plans

Sharehotders approved the introductton of the Avon Rubber pc
Share Incentive Plan (the SIP} at the AGM in February 2012 All UK
tax resident employees of the Company and its subsidiaries are
entitied to participate Under the SIP, participants purchase shares
in the Company monthly using deductions from their pre-tax pay
The maxtmum contribution each month under the SIP 15 £150, a
sum which 15 set by the Government Both Mr Slabbert and Mr
Lews participate in the SIP at the maximum level

Shareholders also approved the introduction of the Avon Rubber
plc Employee Stock Purchase Plan {the ESPP) at the AGM In
February 2012 The ESPP 15 open to all US tax resident employees
and allows participants to accumutate deductions from therr
post-tax pay over an offering penod of 12 months The maximum
contribution far each 12 month period 1s $3,000 at the conclusion
of the offering percd the accumulated funds are used to
purchase the Company's shares at a discount Neither Mr Slabbert
nor Mr Lews are eligible to participate inthe ESPP

Pension arrangements

Mr Slabbert and Mr Lews are both based in the UK and are
members of the Avon Rubber Retirement and Death Benefits

Plan Unul 30 September 2009, when the final salary section

of the Plan closed to future accrual of benefits, Mr Slabbert

was a member of the Senior Executive Section which provided
members with a defined level of benefit on retrement depending
on length of service and earnings Members can receive a pension
of up to two-thirds of pensionable salary on retirement from

age 60, provided the minimum service requirement of 20 years
has been met On death in service, a lump sum of four imes
pensionable salary 1s paid, along with a spouses’ pension of one
half of the member's prospective pension When an executive
director dies after retirement, a spouse's pension of one half of
the member's pension i1s pard At the time the final salary section
of the Plan clesed to future accrual of benefits, in return for Mr
Slabbert giving up this valuable benefit, the Company and the
Trustee agreed to enter into aspecial benefit arrangement Under
this arrangement for each complete year subsequently worked by
Mr Slabbert, the age by reference to which a reduction would be
applied to his pension if he chose to draw it early would reduce
by 5/8ths of a year, with the end result that after eight years,

no reduction would apply if Mr Slabbert retired on or after his
55th birthday

m DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014 au.n
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Thus, each year over an eight year penod the age at which
Mr Slabbert can retire early, on an unreduced basis, reduces by
75 months The Company wil fund this benefit

Duning the year to 30 September 2014 Mr Slabbert has been a
member of the money purchase section of the Plan

Under the current remuneration policy any UK-based Executive
Durectors joiming the Company are offered defined contnbution
arrangements

Mr Lewss 1s a member of the money purchase section of the

Plan Under this section members receive a pension based upon
the size of their retrement account on retirement from age 65
On death in service, a lump sum of four times pensionable salary
1s paid, along with a spouse’s pension of one quarter of the
member’s pensionable salary Both Mr Slabbert and Mr Lewis
receive a company penston contribution of 15% of salary

In January 2012 Mr Slabbert’s total pension benefits reached
the standard lifetyme allowance of £1 8m and he ceased making
contnibutions into the money purchase section of the Plan
Monthly contributions have been paid to Mr Slabbert as a salary
supplement since then Mr Slabbert remains covered by the
death In service insurance notwithstanding that he 1s no longer
an active member of the Plan

Executive Directors’ basic salaries are the only pensionable
element of therr remuneration packages

There 15 no Intention to Increase pension contnibutions to the
Executive Directors durning the life of the current policy

Service contracts and policy on
payments for loss of office

The Company's pohicy 15 that Executive Directors should
normally be employed under a contract which may be
terminated by either the Company or the Executive Director
giving 12 months’ notice and which otherwise expires on
retirement The Company may terminate the contract early
without cause by making a payment in lieu of notice by monthly
instalments of salary and benefits to a maximum of 12 months,
with reductions for any amounts recerved from providing
services to others during thss period There are no obligations
to make payments beyond those disclosed elsewhere in

this report
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The Remuneration Committee may vary these terms if the
particular circumstances surrotinding the appomtment of a new
executive director demand it but this would be exceptional and
has never occurred The parameters for varying the contractual
terms on recruitment are descnibed in the guiding policy
section above The Remuneration Committee strongly endorses
the obligation on an executive director to mitigate any loss on
early termination and wilt seek to reduce the amount payable
on termination where it 1s appropriate to do so The Committee
will also take care to ensure that, while meeting its contractual
obhgations, poor performance 15 not rewarded The Executive
Drirectors’ contracts contain early termination provisions
consistent with the policy outhined above

The table below summanses key details in respect of each
Executive Director's contract

Neither of the Executive Directors is currently appointed as

a non-executive director of any imited company outside the
Group The Remuneration Committee will establish a policy
on the treatment of any fees received by Executive Directors in
respect of such non-executive roles when required

No payments were made duning the year to fermer Executive
Directors as none left employment

Contract Years to Company  Executive

date expected notce notice

retirement period period

PC Slabbert 28 September 2009 8 1Zmonths 12 months
AG Lewis 28 September 2009 22 12months 12 months

QOVERVIEW OF THE YEAR
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REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors receive 2 fixed fee
for their services Fee leveis are determined by the Board in
hght of market research and benchmarking advice provided
by EY Under the policy approved by shareholders in February
2014, fee levels for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
are benchmarked every three years and ad)usted to the
median level of the comparator group The aim 15 to provide
compensation in hine with the demands of the roles at a

level that attracts high calibre individuals and reflects their
expenence and knowledge The first benchmarking recently
took place and increases have been made, effectiveon 1
October 2014 The Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors
do not parucipate in any Board discussions or vote on their
own remuneration, nor do they participate in any (ncentive or
benefit plans

Current fees are as follows

2015 2014 % increase
Chasrman £125,000 £100,000 25%
Base fee Non-Executive £38,500 £35,000 10%
Commttee Chairman fee £10,000 £10,000 -
Commuttee attendance fee £2,000 n/a n/a

The Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors each have a
letter of appointment The initial period of appointment for
Mrs 5) Pine was three years and this was extended for a further
three years on 1 March 2008 and on a rolling annual basis on 1
March 2011 The initial peniod of appointment for Mr DR Evans
was also three years and this was extended on a rolling annual
basis on 31 May 2010 Mr RK Wood was appointed on a rolling
annual basis with effect from 1 December 2012

Chairman and Non-Executive Director appointments are subject
to Board approval and election by shareholders at the annual
general meeting following appointment and, thereafter, re-
election by rotation every three years The Chatrman and any
Non-Executive Director who has served for more than nine
years since first election are subject to annual re-election by
shareholders Mrs Pirie reached nine years' service on 1 March
2014 and 15 standing down from the Board at the annual general
meeting on 29 January 2015

Details of her successor will be communicated in due course,
but his or her remuneration will be at the levels described
above

There are no provisions for campensation payments on early
termination in the Chairman'’s and the Non-Executive Directors'
letters of appointment The date of each appointment is set out
below, together with the date of therr last re-election

Date of inittal Date of last
appointment re-election
OR Evans 1 June 2007 7 February 2013
S J Prie OBE 1 March 2005 6 February 2014
RK Wood 1 December 2012 7 February 2013

m DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014 ﬂu.n
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Annual report on remuneration

The information that follows has been audited by the Company's auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Directors' remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2014 was as follows
- -4
[
Basic salary Pension/ other Annual Other Total Total =
and fees supplements bonus® benefits** 2014 2013 %
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 u._.
(=}
=
Executive Directors E
AG Lewis 252 38 370 2 662 381 5
PC slabbert {lughest paid Director) 330 50 452 3 B35 566 3
Non-Executive Directors
DR Evans (Charrman} 100 - - 4 104 100
51 Pine OBE 45 . - - 45 45 "
R K Wood {appointed 1 December 2012) 45 - - - 45 36 ]
The Rt Hon Sit Richard Needham {resigned 7 February 2013) - - - - - 16 %
=
Total 2014 772 a3 822 g 1,691 g
]
=z
Total 2013 677 72 390 5 1,144 3
w
=
=
* 2014 bonus payments as a percentage of salary were 137% for Mr Slabbert and 147% for Mr Lewis, against maximum percentages of 150% %

** This 1s the cost of private health insurance, executive medical and the benefit of loans made in relation to PSP awards No Director

walved emcluments in respect of the year ended 30 September 2014 (2013 nul)
o
=
Single total figure of remuneration z
'8
The following table gives a single total figure of remuneration for the Chief Executive and Group Finance Director for 2014 and 2013 ;
The prinapal additional component included in this single figure 1s the Performance Share Plan l;
E
=
I
ry for performance
| F114 Pension/ other Benefits Subtotal Annual Subtotal Total
salary supplements in kind bonus Remuneration
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 =z
o
=
P.C.Stabbert 4 50 3 383 452 703 1,155 1,538 ;
]
42 3 328 241 808 1.049 1,374 S
P
38 2 292 370 388 758 1,050 a
]
30 2 232 149 397 546 778 =
[- 4
<
3
* Calculated by multiplying the number of shares that vested {(in both cases the maximum number subject to the award) by the share

price on the day of vesting, which in 2014 was 570p and in 2013 was 351p

The table of Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2014 above gives the single totat figure for the Non-Executive
Directors for 2014 and 2013
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REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Percentage change in remuneration of the CEOQ compared with other employees (unaudited)

Last year the Commuttee decided it was not appropniate to compare the percentage change in remuneration of the CEQ with the wider
workforce because Increases had been made to bring the CEQ’s salary (and those of other executives) up to the median level, whereas the
wider workforce were largely already at the median level This year, in line with current practice, we have reported changes inthe CEQ's
remuneration against the wider workforce

The following table sets out the percentage change in remuneration between the reported year and the preceding year in certamn aspects
of the CEQ's remuneration and the average of employees across the Group

20312/2013 2013/2014 2012/2013 2013/2014

Salary 0% +18% +3% +3%
Benefits 0% 0% 0% 0%

Annual Bonus +126% +88% +74% +15%

The ratie of CEQ fixed pay to average employee fixed pay ts 111 for the year under review

Relative iImportance of spend on pay (unaudited)

The following table shows actual expenditure of the Group and the change in expenditure between current and previous financial
penicds on remuneration paid to all employees globally, set against distributions to shareholders and other uses of profit or cash flow
being profits retained within the business and investments in research and development and property, plant and equipment

Other expenditure in £'000 and s a percentage of global remuneration spend

Global
remuneration Dividends to Prefit Masearch Expenditure
spend shareholders retained and development on praperty, plant
expenditure and machinery
N BN BN B N N N
- 32,423 1,422 4 4% 9,389 29 0% 7,046 21 7% 371 11 5%
33,314 1,332 34% 7,705 23 1% 6,407 19 2% 6,175 18 5%
2012 30,261 941 3% 6,888 22 8% 6,627 219% 4789 15 8%
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Annual bonus

The Remuneration Committee determined at its meeting on 13 November 2014 that the critena for making an award under the annual
bonus scheme had been met No discretion was exercised by the Committee to reduce or increase payments The breakdown 15 as follows

PC Slabbert AG Lewis
220 T

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

1 Financal Targets

(2} Group profit budget achievement {Group PBITE} 25% 25% 25% 25%
(b} Profit growth on previous year {year on year PBITE growth) 25% 25% 25% 25%
{c) Group cash generation (ratio of operating cashflow ta operating profit) 20% 20% 20% 20%

{d} Earnings Per Share growth {ratchet based on additional EPS

growth abave 20% over the previous financial year) 50% 50% 50% 50%%
2. Personal Performance Targets 17% 30% 27% 30%
Total potential bonus as a percentage of basic salary 137% 150% 147% 150%

Actual performance against the targets has not been reproduced because it 1s commercially sensitive

Pensions

The following information relates to the pension of Mr P C Slabbert under the defined benefit scheme

£
Increase in accrued pension during 2013/14 1,762
Accrued pension at 30 September 2014 68,138

The age at which Mr P C Slabbert may take his pension unreduced was reduced by 5/8ths of a year over the year to 30 September 2014

On closure of the defined benefit scheme Mr Slabbert joined the money purchase section of the plan Company contnibutions in respect
of Mr Slabbert during the year were mil (2013 nil) because Mr Slabbert reached the standard lifetme allowance in January 2012 During the
year £50,000 (2013 £42,000) was paid to Mr Slabbert in monthly instalments as a salary supplement

In respect of Mr A G Lewis, Company contributions to the money purchase section of the plan were £38,000(2013 £30,000)

All transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuanal advice in accordance with Actuanal Guidance Note GN11
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REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

The transfer values of the accrued entitlement represent the
value of assets that the pension scheme would need to transfer
to another pension provider on transfernng the scheme's
hability in respect of Director's pension benefits They do not
represent sums payable to individual Directors and, therefore,
cannot be added meaningfully to annual remuneration

The accrued entitlement shown 1s the amount that would be
paid each year at normal retirement age, based on service to
the end of the current year The accrued lump sum, under the
defined benefit scheme, for Mr Slabbert at 30 September 2014
was £328,157 (2013 £318,748)

Directors' shareholdings and share interests

Beneficial interests of Directors, thewr families and trusts in
ordinary shares of the Company were

Attheend  Atthe beqinning

of the year of the year
5J Pine 73,000 82,710
O Evans 40,000 40,000
RK Wood -
PC Slabbert 202,645 187,116
AG Lews 1210 100,495

Interests in jointly owned shares held by the Executive Directors
under the Performance Share Plan are excluded from the above
and detalled separately on page 71

The only change in the interests set out above between 30
September 2014 and 19 November 2014 were the additional
shares bought by Mr P C Slabbert and Mr A G Lews under the
Share Incentive Plan, which increased their total shareholdings
to 202,690 and 121,155 respectively

The register of Directors' interests contains details of Directors'
shareholdings and share options The position under the
shareholding guidelines for the Executive Directors is set out on
page 71

Performance Share Plan 2010 (the Plan)

For grants of joint ownership awards, options or conditional
awards made to date pursuant to the Plan, the performance
conditions have been based on the Company's TSR relative to
the TSR of a comparator group, comprising the FTSE Small Cap
companies (excluding investment trusts} For the Cycles granted
1 2011/12, 2012/13 and 2013/14 a sphit performance condition
apphed so that 50% of the award vests in accordance with the
TSR target and 50% in accordance with an EPS target based on
reat growth in earnings over the performance pencd where real
growth 1s expressed as a percentage above inflation

The twofold test based on TSR performance and EPS 1s 1n Iine
with market practice and encourages management to maintam
and increase earmings levels whilst at the same time ensurnng
that it 1s not at the expense of longer term shareholder return
The twofold test was used again for the 2013/14 awards In 2011,
the Committee set the EPS target as nil vesting at RPI +3% and
maximum vesting at RP| +8% with vesting on a pro rata basisin
between these two figures This EPS target was used again for
the 2013/14 awards

The Committee determined in December 2013 that the 2010/1
award vested in full on the basis that the TSR over the three years
from 1 October 2010 to 30 September 2013 was significantly
ahead of the upper quartite of the comparator group Asa
consequence, and as announced to shareholders in December
2013, 123,424 shares were awarded to Mr Slabbert and 68,067
shares were awarded to Mr Lewis

The Directors' contingent interests in ordinary shares under
the Plan at 30 September 2014 were as follows

Qutstanding awards granted annually under the Plan were
as follows

305ept  Grantedin  Exercisedin Lapsedin 30 Sept
2013 the year® the year"* theyear 2014***

PC Slabbert 292,987 56,926 (123 424) 226,489
AG Lews 164,960 43471 (68,0567) - 140364
Other senior

employees**** 695745 159,296 (268 810) (26 168) 560,063
Total 1,153 692 259,693 (460 301) (26168) 926916

. The award price at the date of grant was 579 7 pence

**  Themarket price at the vesting date for the 2000/11 award was 520 0 pence

***  The weighted average remaining life of the awards outstanding at the
year end is 1 6 years (2013 11 years}

****  Ths figure includes 201,755 (2013 241,267} in respect of key management
as defined in note 9 of the financial statements
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Qutstanding awards granted annually under the Plan were

as foliows
Total at 30
o1 2012 2013 Sept 2014*
PC Slabbert 87,500 B2063 56,926 226,489
AG Lews 50,000 46,893 43,471 140,364
Other sentar
employees 203,258 206,820 149,985 560,063
Total 340,758 335,776 250,382 926,916

* In relation to the awards outstanding at 30 September 2014, deferred loan
paytments for the awards granted in 201172012, 2012/2013 and 201372014 will
become due to the Company as fallows PC Slabbert £10 000 (2013 £10 000)
AG Lewls £10 000 {2013 £6 642}

The award price for the 2013/14 award was 579 7 pence for the 2012/13 award was
349 5pence for the 2011/12 award it was 300 0 pence and for the 2010/11 award it
was 196 O pence

PSP performance 30 Sept  30Sept  30S5ept  3¢Sept  305ept  30Sept

period years 20m 2 2003 200477 201577 20167
ending {Cycle A) (CycleB) (CycleC) (CycleD) (CycleE) (CycleF)
TSR element™ 100% 1004 100% 50% S0% 50%
EPS element** - - - 50% 50% 50%

Total exercisable
rate (% of grant})  100% ™™ 100%™ 100% " ° - - -

. Based on Avon Rubber p | ¢ s Total Sharehotder Return ranked relatve to
companies In the FTSE Small Cap Index at the start of the period

. Based on the real growth in earnings over the performance period where real
growth is expressed as a % above inflation

b The three year performance period in respect of these awards 15 complete
but vesting is not determined until the end of November following release of
the Group results 90% of the awards are currently expected to vest

aene The three year performance penods in respect of these awards 1s not
yet complete

#eeer  These awards were reduced 1o 69% of entitlement to remain within the 5%
dilution limit previously contained In the Plan rules They vested In full
in December 2011 on the basis of a Company TSR of 905% compared to the
upper quartile of the comparator group at 131%

ssssre These awards vested Infullin December 2012 on the basis of a Company
TSR of 265% compared to the upper quartile of the comparalor group at 63%

evssree These awards vested in fullin December 2013 on the basis of a Company TSR
of 214% compared ro the upper quartile of the comparater group at 122%

Aven
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Position under shareholding guidelines

Shares held

Shareholdingas  Actual Target Achievement**** voluntarily n

at 30 Sept 2014*  Value**  Value™* excess of gudeline

Number of shares £000 £000 % Number of shares

PC Slabbert 202645 1,247 495 378 122,223
AG Lewis 121119 745 378 296 59,697

*  Takenfrom the table on page 70
**  Usingthe closing share price on 30 Seprember 2014 of 615p

150% of current salary for Executive Directors for awards vesting up to
December 2014 Salarles used are those effective 1 October 2014

===+ Actual value as a percentage of currens salary

Dilution

In respect of the 5% and 10% limits recommended by the
Association of British Insurers, the relevant percentages were

7 6% and 9 7% respectively based on the i1ssued share capital at
30 September 2014

Under the Plan the 5% hmit was increased to 10% and, in 2011,
the 10% himit was increased to 15% to preserve the 10% timit for
discretionary plans 1n connection with the introduction of the all
employee Share Incentive Plan

As at 30 September 2014, the number of shares committed under
discreticnary share-based incentive schemes since 30 September
2002, less the number of shares purchased 1n the market to satisfy
previous awards that had vested and the shares held in

the Employee Share Ownership Trust gives 2,356,214 shares

This represents 7 6% dilution against the 10% discretionary plan
dilution himit

As at 30 September 2014, the number of shares commutted under
all employee share-based incentive schemes since 30 September
2002, less the number of shares purchased in the market to
satisfy previous awards that had vested and the shares held in the
Employee Share Ownership Trust gives 3,006,760 shares which
represents 9 7% dilution against the 15% all employee plan
dilution it

It remains the Company's practice to use employee share
ownership trusts in order to meet its hability for shares awarded
under the Plan Two trusts have been estabhshed, the second in
March 2010 in connection with the jointly owned equity awards in
December 2013 the Avon Rubber p I ¢ Employee Share Ownership
Trust No 1 subscnibed to 300,000 new shares to be used in relation
to future awards under the Plan At 30 September 2014 there were
1,081,810 shares held in the Employee Share Ownership Trust which
will either be used to satisfy awards granted under the Plan to date,
or In connection with future awards Of these, 624,214 were held
on a jointly owned equity basis A Hedging Committee ensures
that the employee share ewnership trusts hold sufficient shares to
satisfy exssting and future awards made under the Plan by buying
shares in the market or causing the Company to 1ssue new shares

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR
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REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Total shareholder return performance graph

The foltowing graph illustrates the total return, in terms of share price growth and dividends on a notional investment of £100 in the
Company over the last five years relauve to the FTSE Small Cap Index {excluding investment trusts) Thisindex was chosen by the

Remuneration Committee as a competitive indicator of general UK market performance for companies of a similar size

AVON RUBBER PLC - TOTAL RETURN ON INVESTMENT
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Table of historic data

W FTSE SMALL CAP

30 September 2014

CEOQ single Annual bonus Long term incentive
figure of total pay out vesting rates
remuneration against maximum against maximum

CEQ £000 OppOTtunIty opportunity
2004 PC Slabbert 1,538 919 100%
013 PC Slabbert 1374 B6% 100%
2012 PC Slabbert 1,864 40% 100%
201 PC Slabbert 404 74% ml
2000 PC Slabbert 428 90% il

Source Thomson Financial Thomson One Banker
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Share Incentive Plan
Dunng the year to 30 September 2014 Mr Slabbert and Mr Lewis each purchased 263 shares pursuant to the Share Incentive Plan

As at 30 Septernber 2014, the market price of Avon Rubber p | ¢ shares was £6 155 {2013 £5 50) Dunng the year the highest and lowest
market prices were £6 67 and £5 16 respectively

Payments to past Directors and payments for loss of office

There have been nc payments to past Executive Directers or payments for loss of office

Statement of implementation of remuneration policy in the following year

information required under this disclosure 1s contaned in the table on pages 58 to 59 and associated commentary

Details of the advisors to the Remuneration Committee and their fees

Dunng the year to 30 September 2014 the Company incurred costs of £11,750 (2013 £3,750} 1n respect of fees for advisors to the
Remuneration Committee

Statement of shareholder voting on the Remuneration Report

The shareholder vote on the Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 September 2013 at the AGM which took place on 6 February
2014 was as follows

Resolution text Votes for % for Votes aganst 9% against Total votes cast Votes withheld

Approval of the renumeration report 21,434,185 9923 166,591 077 21,600,776 355,188

The Remuneration Report has been approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by

fochooicd LJT

Richard Wood
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
19 November 2014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013
Statutory Adjustmenis® Adjusted Statutory®™®  Adjustments® Adjusted
Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue 1 124,779 - 124,779 124,851 - 124851
Cost of sales (83,264) - (83,264) (91,140) - (9140)
Gross profit 41,515 - 41,515 33,71 - 33
Selling and distribution costs (11,505) - (N,505) (9101} - (9101)
General and administrative expenses {15,685) 2,678 (13,007) (11,607) 1,220 {10,387)
Operaung profit 1 14,325 2,678 17,003 13,003 1,220 14,223
Operating profit s analysed as
Before depreciation and amorusation 20,486 2,417 22,903 19,220 803 20,023
Depreciation and amortisation 1,12 (6,161) 261 {5,900} (6,217} 417 (5,800)
Operating profit 14,325 2,678 17,003 13,003 1,220 14,223
Finance income 4 ] - 1 1 - 1
Finance costs 4 (275) - (275) (348) - (348)
Other finance expense 4 (187) 12 (175) (253) 33 {220)
Profit before taxation 5 13,864 2,690 16,554 12,403 1,253 13,656
Taxation 6 (3,053) (450) {3,503} (3,566) (122)  (3.688)
Profit for the year 10,811 2,240 13,051 8837 1131 9968
Other comprehensive expense
Items that are not subsequently reclassified to the income staterment
Actuarial loss recogrised on reurement benefiz scheme 10 (4,851) - {4,851} {5,180} - {9,180)
fterns that may be subsequently reciassified to the income statement
Net exchange differences offset in reserves {306) - {306) (74) - (74)
Other comprehensive expense for
for the year, net of taxation {5,157) - (5,157) (9,254) - (9,254)
Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the year 5,654 2,240 7,894 417) 14131 Fat]
Earnings per share 8
Basic 36 2p 43 7p 300p 338p
Diluted 350p 42 3p 288p 325p

* See page 19 for further details of adjustments

** Restated for the change in accounting for pension costs See Accounting Policies
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

2014 2013

Nate £000 £000
Assets «
Non-current assets =
Intangible assets 11 17,240 16,541 =
Property, plant and equipment 12 19,575 20,387 x
&
36,815 36,928 E
>
Current assets «
Inventories 13 12,887 13,374 3

Trade and cther receivables 14 19,157 20,677

Denvatve financial Instruments 19 2 214

Cash and cash equivalents 15 2,925 184
34,971 34,449 a
S
Liabiities 3
Current habilities :
Trade and other payables 16 17,755 16,680 3
Provisions for liabihities and charges 18 1,846 616 z
Current tax habilities 6,852 6,073 &
=z
26,453 23,369 g
I

Net current assets 8,518 11,080
Non-current iabilities 2
Borrowings 17 - 11059 z
Deferred tax liabulities & 2,315 2977 g
Retirement benefit obligations 10 16,029 11,279 E
Provisions for fiabities and charges 18 1,973 1997 §
20,317 27312 3
I

Net assets 25,016 20,656
Shareholders’ equity =
Ordinary shares 20 31,023 30,723 =
Share premium account 20 34,708 34,708 g
Capital redemption reserve 500 500 z
Translation reserve {932} (626) g
Accumulated losses (40,283} (44,609 po
w
a
Total equity 25,016 20,696 3
]
- 4
<
a

S on pages 74 1o 112 were approved by the Beard of Directors on 19 November 2014 and signed on its behalf by

(bt

Peter Slabbert Andrew Lewis
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

2014 2013
Note £'000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated before the impact of exceptional items 26,500 15541
Cash impact of exceptional items (983) (241)
Cash generated from operations 21 25,517 15,300
Finance income receved 1 1
Finance costs paid (315) (365)
Retirement benefit deficit recavery contributions {513) {592)
Tax patd {2,903) (2229)
Net cash generated from operating activities 21,787 12115

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 19 2
Purchase of property, plant and equiprment {3,753) (6,339)
Caprtalised development costs and purchased software (3,062) 4715)
Acquisition of VR Technology Heldings 26 (50) (439)
Net cash used in investing activities (6,846) (11401}

Cash flows from financing activities
Net movements in loans 22 (10,805) 2,281
Dividends paid to shareholders 7 (1,422) (1132)
Purchase of own shares 20 - (1,765)
Net cash used in financing activities {12,227) 616)
Net increase in cash cash equivalents and bank overdrafts 2,714 8
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at beginning of the year 184 176
Effects of exchange rate changes 27 -
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at end of the year 22 2,925 184
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Share Share QOther Accumulated Total
capltal premium reserves losses equity
Note £000 £000 £ 000 £000 £'000
Al 1 October 2012 30,723 34708 {(52) (41,482) 23,897
Profit for the year ** - - - 8.837 8,837
Unrealised exchange differences on
overseas investments - - (74) - 74)
Actuanal loss recognised on retirement
benefit scheme ** 10 - - - (9,180) {5,180
Total comprehensive expense for the year - - 4 (343) #17)
Dividends paid - - - (1132 (1132)
Purchase of shares by the employee benefit trust 20 - - - (1,765) 1,765)
Movement in respect of employee share scheme 24 - - - 3 13
At 30 September 2013 30,723 34,708 (126) (44,609) 20696
Profit for the year - - - 10,811 10,811
Unrealised exchange differences on
overseas investments - - (306) - (306)
Actuanal loss recognised on retirement
benefit scheme 10 . - - (4,851}  (4,851)
Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the year - - (306) 5,960 5,654
Dwvidends pard 7 - - - {1,422) (1,422}
Issue of shares 20 300 - - - 300
Purchase of shares by the employee benefit trust 20 - - (300) (300}
Movermnent in respect of employee share scheme 24 - - - 88 88
At 30 September 2014 31,023 34,708 432} (40,283) 25,016

Other reserves consist of the capital redemption reserve of £500,000 (2013 £500,000) and the translation reserve of £932,000 (2013 £626,000)

All moverment In other reserves relaies to the translation reserve

** Restated for the change in accounting for pension costs See Accounting Policies

au.n ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014 DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL m
Avon Rubber plec

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

HOW WE RUN OUR BUSINESS

]
W
z
=
Q
i
[ -4
w
o
w
=
=
o
I

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION



ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
financial staternents are set out below These policies have been
consistently apphed to all the years presented, unless othenaise stated

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with EU
Endorsed International Financial Reperuing Standards (IFRSs) and IFRIC
iterpretations and the Comparies Act 2006 applicable to companies
reporting under IFRS The financial statements have been prepared
on a going cancern basis under the historical cost convention

except for financial assets and financial habitives (including denvative
instruments} held at fair value thraugh profit ar loss

The preparation of finangial statemenis in conformity with IFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates li also requires
management 10 exeraise its jJudgement in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies The areas involving a higher degree of
Judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the financial statements are disclosed below
Recent accounting developments

The following standards, amendments and intergretations have been
1ssued by the Internatignal Accounting Standards Board (JASB) or by the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
The Group’s approach to these is as follows

a) Standards, amendments and interpretations effecuve in 2014

The following standards and amendmenits have been adopted for the
year ended 30 September 2014

- IFRS 10, 'Consohdated financial statements’

- IFRS 11, Joint arrangements’

- IFRS 12, 'Disclosure of interests in other entities’

- IFRS 13, 'Far value measurement’

- 1AS 27 (revised), ‘Separate financial statements’

- |AS 28 (tevised), ‘Associates and joint ventures’

~  Amendment 1 IAS 12, 'Income taxes’

- Amendment to |AS 19, Employee benefits' (IAS 19 (R)

The amendment to IAS 19, 'Employee Benefits' s effective for the
financial year beginning 1 October 2013 The main changes affecting
the Group are as follows

B Interest income of expense will now be calculated by applying
the discouni rate 1o the net defined benefit hability or asset
Previously interest cost was calculated on the gefined benefit
obhigation and expected return calculated on plan assets

DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014

B Cosisassocated with invesiment management are deducted
from the return on plan assets (which 1s unchanged from the
previous standard) Other expenses are recogmised in the
income statement as incurred

This has resulted in an increase in the costs charged to the income
staterment of £0 8m for the yearending 30 September 2014 over the
cost under the previous standard and a 2 6p reducuon i earnings per
share, with a simular tmpact on the comparatives for the year ended 30
Septernber 2013 as shown below

Year to 30 September 2013

Reported Restate Restated
£000 £000 £000

Operating profit 13423 (420) 13003
Finance income 1 1
Finznce costs {348) - (348)
Other finance incoine/(expense) 18 (371) (253)
Profit before taxation 13194 (791} 12,403
Taxation (3 566) - 13 566)
Profit for the year 9628 (791} 8,837
Actuarial loss recogrused on
retieement benefit scheme {$971) 791 (9180)
Net exchange differences offset
Inreserves (73) - (79
Other comprehensive expense
for the year, net of taxation (10045) 791 {9,254)
Total comprehensive expense
for the year “17) - @17)
Earnings per share
Basic 327 2 7p) 300p
Diluted Nap (2 6p) 288p

In the analysis above, the discount rate has been applied to the net
deficit Administration costs have been charged against operating
profit and investment management costs have been included in other
comprehensive expense

On the face of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
adjusted results have been disclosed which exclude defined benefit
pension scheme costs as these relate 1o a scheme closed 1o future
accrual and are not therefore relevant to current operattons

No adjustment has been made to other comprehensive expense

The classificauon of overhead costs beiween selling and distsbution
costs and general and administrative expenses has been represented
to provide more relevant information There 1s no impact on
operating profit
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b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards
1ssued but not yet effective in 2014 and not early adopted

The following new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations have beenissued, but are not effective for the financial
year beginning 1 October 2013 and have not been adopted early

- Amendment to IFRS 7, ‘Financial mstruments disclosures’

- IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’

- IFRS 15, 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers'

- Amendment to IAS 32, 'Financial instruments presentation’
- Amendment to IAS 36, Impairment of assets’

- Amendment to IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments recognition
and measurement’

- Annual improvements cycle 2009-2011

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial resulis
and position of the Group and its subsidiaries

Subsidianes are all entities over which the Group has the power 10
govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rghts

Subsidiaries are fully conselidated from the date on which control i1s
transferred 1o the Group They are de-consolidated from the date that
centrol ceases

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidianes by the Group The cost of an acquisitrion

1s measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity Instruments
1ssued and habilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange
Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred [dentifiable assets
acquired and habiites and contingent habihties assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date, irespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest Intra-
group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between Group companies are ebminated, unrealised losses are

also ehminated unless costs cannot be recovered Where necessary,
accounting policies of subsidianes have been changed to ensure
consistency wath the policies adopied by the Group

Foreign currencies

The Group's presentation currency 1§ sterling The results and financial
positional of all subsidianes and associates that have a funcuional
currency different from sterling are transtated into sterling as follows

- assets and habilives are translated at the closing rate at the
balance sheet date and

- income and expenses are translated at average rates

All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate
component of equity

AaAven
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On consolidation, exchange differences ansing from the tanslation

of the net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments are
taken to shareholders’ equity When a ferergn operation s sold, the
cumulative amount of such exchange difference 1s recegnised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as pari of the gain
or loss on sale

Foreign currency transaciions are initially recorded at the exchange
rate ruling at the date of the transacton Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulung from settlement of such transacuons and from
the transaction at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date of
monetary assets or hlabilties denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive mcome,
except when deferred in equity as qualfying hedges

Revenue

Revenue comprises the far value of the consideration received for
the sale of goods and services, net of trade discounts and sales-
related taxes Revenue Is recogrused when the nsks and rewards of
the underlying sale have been transferred to the customer, and when
collectability of the related recervables 1s reasonably assured, which

15 usually when title passes or a separately identfiable phase of a
contract or development has been completed and accepted by the
customer

Segment reporting

Segmenits are 1denufied based on management information provided
to the chief operating decsion-raker The chief operating decision-
maker, who s respensible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identfied as

the Group Executive ieam A business segment is a group of assets
and operations engaged in providing products or services that are
subject to nsks and retuins that are different from those of other
business segments A gecgraphical segment 1s engaged in providing
products or services within a particular economic environment

that are subject to nsks and returns that are different from those of
segments operating in other economic environments The chief
operating decsion-maker assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on the measures of revenue, EBIT and EBITDA
Central overheads, finance Incorme and expense and taxation are not
affocated to the business segments

Exceptional tems

Transactions are classified as exceptional where they relate 10 an
event that falls outside of the ordinary activities of the business and
where individually or in aggregate they have a materal impact on the
financial statements

Employee benefits

Pension obligations and post-retirement benefits

The Group has both defined benefit and defined contnbuton plans

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

HOW WE RUN OUR BUSINESS
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS continueD

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

The defined benefit plan's asset or habiity as recognised in the balance
sheet is the present value of the defined benefit obliganon at the
balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets

The defined benefit obligation 15 calculated annually by independent
actuanes using the projected unit credit method The present value
of the defined benefit obligation 1s determined by discounting the
estimated cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits
will be paid, and that have terms to matunty approximating to the
terms of the related pension hability Actuana! gains and losses ansing
from experience adjustments and changes in actuanal assumptions
are recogrused in full in the penod in which they occur, as part of
other comprehensive income  Costs associated with investment
management are deducted from the return on plan assets (which s
unchanged from the previous standard) Other expenses are recognised
in the Income statement as incurred

For the defined contributien plans, the Group pays contributions

to publicly or privately admirustered pension insurance planson a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis Contnbutions are expensed
as incurred

Share based compensation

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans, under which the entity receives service from
employees as consideration for equity instruments {options) of the
Group The fair value of the employee service received in exchange for
the grant of the options I1s recogrused as an expense The total amount
10 be expensed 1s determined by reference 1o the fair value of the
options granted

- including any market performance conditions,

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting condittons (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaiming an employee of the
entity over a specified ime penod), and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to save)

Nen-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about

the number of options that are expected to vest The total expense

1s recognised over ihe vesung penod, which is the penod over which

all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied At the end of
each reporting penod, the entity revises its estimates of the number

of opuons that are expecied 1o vest based on the non-market vesting
conditions It recogruses the wnpact of the rewsion to criginal estimates,
if any, in the consolidaied statement of comprehensive Income, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity

The proceeds receved net of any directly attnbutable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal vatue) and share premium when
the options are exercised

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the
farr value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets of the

m DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014

acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition [dentifiable net assets
include intangible assets other than goodwill Any such intangible
assets are amortised over their expected future lives unless they
are regarded as having an indefinite Iife, in which case they are not
amorused, but subjected to annual Impairment testing in a simular
manner 10 goodwill

Since the transttion to IFRS, goodwill ansing from acquisitions of
subsidianes after 3 October 1998 15 included in mtangible assets, 1s not
amcrused but 1s tested annually for impairment and carnied at cost less
accumulated impairment fosses Gains and losses on the disposal of an
entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relabing to the entity
sold

Goodwill ansing from acquisitions of subsidiaries befare 3 October
1998, which was set against reserves in the year of acquisition under UK
GAAP, has not been reinstated and 15 not inctuded in determining any
subsequent profit or loss on disposal of the related entity

Goodwillis tested for impairment at least annually or whenever

there 15 an indication that the asset may be impared Goodwill 1
allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment
testing The allocation 1s made 1o those cash-generating unmits or
groups of cash-generating units that are expected to beneht from the
business combination in which the goodwill arese Any impairment

1s recognised immediately in the conschdated statement of
comprehensive iIncome Subsequent reversals of impairment losses for
goodwaill are not recognised

Development Expenditure

Expenditure in respect of the development of new products where
the outcome 1s assessed as being reasonably certain as regards viability
and technical feasthility 15 capitabised and amorused over the expected
useful ife of the development Expenditure that does not meet these
critenia 15 expensed as incuired The capitahsed costs are amortised
over the estimated penod of sale for each product, commenaing

In the year sales of the product are first made Development costs
capitalised are tested for impairment at least annually or whenever
there 1s an indication that the asset may be impaired Any impairment
1s recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income Subsequent reversals of impairment losses far
research and development are not recognised

Computer Software

Computer software 1s included in intangible assets at cost and
amortised over its esimated life

Property plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at histonical cost or deemed
cost where IFRS 1 exemptions have been applied, less accumulated
depreciation and any recognised impairment losses

Costs include the onginal purchase price of the asset and the costs
atinbuiable to bringing the asset to its working condition for sts
intended use including any qualifying finance expenses

Land 1s not depreciated Depreciation is provided on other assets
estimated to write off the depreciable amount of relevant assets by
equal annual instalments over their estmated useful ives
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In general, the rates used are
Freehold - 2 5%
Short leasehold property - over the penod of the lease
Plant and machinery - 6% 10 50%

The residual values and useful ives of the assets are reviewed, and
adjusied If appropnate, at each balance sheet date

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediaiely to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount 1s greater than its estimated
net realisable value Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
companng proceeds with carrying amounts These are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Leases

Leases n which a sigmificant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the tessor are classified as operating
leases Payments made under operating leases are charged 10 the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line
basis over the pernod of the lease

The sale and lease back of preperty, where the sale price is at far value
and substanually all the nsks and rewards of ownership are transferred
ta the purchaser, is treated as an operating lease The profit or [oss on
the transaction 15 recogmsed iImmedhately and lease payments charged
1o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a strarght-
line basis over the lease term

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net reahsable value Cost
15 determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFQ) methed The cost of
finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour, other duect costs and related production overheads {based on
normal operating capacity) It excludes borrowing costs Net realisable
value 1s the esumated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable incremental selling expenses

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recewvables are initially recognised at fair vatue and
subseguently held at amortised cost after deducting provisions for
impatrment of receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, highly
liquid interest-beanng secunities with matunies of three months or
less, and bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings
in current habilities on the balance sheet

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations o pay for goods or services that have
been acquired 1n the ordinary course of business from suppliers
Accounts payable are classified as current habilities If payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cyde of the business

Auen
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iIf longer) If not, they are presented as non-current liabities They are
initially recogrised at fair value and subsequently held at amertised
cost

Provisions
Prowisions are recognised when

- the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result
of a past event,

- it s probable that an outflow of resources will be required
10 settle the obligation and the amount has been
reliably estimated

Where there are a number of similar obligations, for example where
awarranty has been given, the likelihood that an outflow will be
required in settlernent is determined by considenng the class of
obligations as a whole A provision 1s recagnised even if the likelthood
of an outflow with respect to any cne item included in the same class
of cbligation may be small

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected 1o be required to setile the obhigation

Where a leasehold property, or part thereof, is vacant or sub-let
under terms such that the rental income 1s nsufficient to meet all
outgoings, provisien I1s made for the anticipated future shortfall up to
termination of the kease, or the termination payment, if smaller

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially a1 farr value, net of transaction
costs incurred and subsequently stated at amortised cost Borrowing
costs are expensed using the effective interest method

Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year compnses current and
deferred tax

Current tax 1s the expectad tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates substantively enacted at the balance sheet date,
and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of prior years

Deferred income tax 1s provided tn full using the hability method, on
temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and
habilities and thew carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements However the deferred income tax is not accounted for of
it anises from initial recognition of an asset or hability 10 a transacuon
other than a business combinateon that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss Deferred Income
tax 1s determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected
10 apply when the related deferred income tax asset 15 realised or the
deferred income tax hability is settled

Deferred Income tax assets are recogmised to the extent that is
probable that future taxable profit will be avallable against which the
temparary differences can be utilised

QVERVIEW OF THE YEAR
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS continueD

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Deferred income tax 1s proviced on temporary differences ansing on
investments in subsidianies and associates, except where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference 1s controlled by the Group
and 1t probable that the temporary difference will not reverse inthe
foreseeable future

Income tax 1s charged or credited in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive iIncome, except where 1t relates to items recognised in
equity, In which case it 15 dealt with m equity

Deferred income tax assets and lLab:lities are offset when there 1s a
legally enforceable night to offset current tax assets aganst current
tax habilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabiliies
relate to 1ncome taxes levied by the same taxation authonty on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis

Dividends

Final dwvidends are recognised as a lability in the Group's financral
statemenis in the penad n which the dwidends are approved by
shareholders, while intenm dividends are recognised in the period in
which the dividends are paid

Share capital
QOrdinary shares are classified as equity

Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the 1ssue of new shares
or options are shown In equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds

Where any Group company purchases the Company equity share
capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any direcily
atinibutable incremental cosis {net of income taxes), 1s deducted

from equity attnbutable 1o the Company's equity holders until the
shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of Where such shares are
subsequently sold or ressued, any consideration received, net of any
directly atinbutable incremental transacuion costs and the related
income tax effects, 1s included In equity attributable to the Company's
equity holders

Cntical accounting judgements

The Group's principal accounting pohicies are set out above
Management 1s required to exercise significant Judgement and make
use of esumates and assumptions In the apphcation of these policies

Areas which management believes reguire the most cntical
accounting judgements are

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group cperates a defined benefit scheme Actuanal valuations of
the schemes are carmed out as determined by the trustees at intervals
of not more than three years

The pension cost under IAS 19 (R) 15 assessed i accordance with
the advice of an independent qualified actuary based on the latest
actuanal valuation and assumptions determined by the actuary

The assumpticns are based on information supplied to the actuary by
the Graup, supplemented by discussions between the actuary and
management The assumptions and sensitivities are disclosed in note
10 of the financial statements

Inventory provisions

At each balance sheet daie, each subsidiary evaluates the
recoverability of inventories and records provision against these based
on an assessment of net reahsable values The actual net realisable
value of inventory may differ from the estimated realisable values,
which could impact on operating results positively or negatively

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group records all assets and liabilities acquired in business
acquisiions, ncluding goodwil!, at fair value Intangible assets which
have an indefinite useful ife principally goodwill, are assessed
annually for impairment

The Group 1 engaged in the develepment of new products and
processes, the costs of which are capitabsed as intangsble assets or
property, plant and equipment if in the optnion of management,
there is a reasonable expectation of economic benefits being
achieved The factors considered in making these judgements include
the hkelthcod of future orders and the anticipated volumes, marging
and duration associated with these

Impairment charges are made If there 1s sigmficant doubt as 1o the
sufficiency of future ecenomic benefits to justify the carrying values
of the assets based upon discounted cash flow projections using an
appropriate nsk weighted discount factor Rates used were between
10% and 15%

Provisions

Prowisions are made in respect of receivables, deferred income,
claims, onerous contractual chligations and warranties based on the
judgement of management taking inte account the nature of the
clairn or contractual obkgatnon, the range of possible outcomes and
the defences open to the Group

Taxation

Management penodically evaluates positions taken In tax returns
where the applicable tax regulation 1s subject to interpretation The
Group establishes provisions on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid 10 tax authonties anly where 1t 1s censidered more likely than not
that an amount will be paid or received The Group applies this test to
each individual uncertain position The Group measures the uncertain
positions based on the single most likely outcome

When determiming whether torecognise deferred tax assets
management considers the likely availatality of future taxable profits
n the relevant junsdiction
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

|
1 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segmenis are reported In a manner consisient with the internal reporung provided to the chief operating decision-maker
The chief operating decision-maker, who s responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the Group Executive team

The Greup has two clearly defined business segments, Protection & Defence and Dairy, and operates out of the UK and the US

Business segments
year ended 30 Septemhber 2014

Protection &

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

HOW WE RUN OUR BUSINESS

Defence Dairy Unallocated Group
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Revenue 92,818 31,961 124,779
Segment result before depreciation, amortisation exceptional items and
defined benefit pension scheme costs 18,542 6,600 (2,239) 22,903
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (3,289) (771) (67) {4,127)
Amorusation of development costs and software (1,670) (94) 9 (1,773)
Segment result before amortisation of acaured ntangibles, exceptional tems
and defined benefit pension scheme costs 13,583 5,735 (2,315) 17,003
Amortsation of acquired intangibles {261) {261)
Excepucnal items (2,017) {2,017)
Defined benefit pension scheme costs {400} (400)
Segment result 11,305 5,735 {2,715) 14,325
Finance income 1 1
Finance costs (275) (275)
Other finance expense (187) (187)
Profit before taxation 11,305 5,735 (3,176) 13,864
Taxation {3,053) (3,053)
Profit for the year 11,305 5,735 {6,229) 10,811
Segment assets 52,128 13,501 6,157 71,786
Segment habiities 12,01 1,946 32,813 46,770
Other segment items
Captal expenditure
- Intang(ble assets 2,725 337 - 3,062
- property, plant and equipment 1,898 1,825 8 373

The Protection & Defence segment includes £43 4m (2013 £51 9m) of revenues from the US DOD, the only customer which individually
contributes more than 10% to Group revenues
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continuep
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

. |
1 SEGMENT INFORMATION coxtinven)

year ended 30 Septernber 2013

Protection &

Defence Dairy Unallocated Group
£000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue 93137 31,714 124,851
Segment result befare depreciation, amertisation, exceptional items
and defined benefit pension scheme costs 16,136 5835 (1.948) 20023
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (3,221) 623) (52) (3.895)
Amortisation of development costs and software (1,868) 32) (4) (1,904)
Segment result before amortisation of acquired intanaibles, exceptional items
and defined benefit pension scheme costs 11,047 5180 (2,004) 14,223
Amorusation of acquired intangibles 417) (417)
Exceptional items (383) (383
Defined benefit pension scheme costs (420) (420)
Segment result 10,247 5180 (2424) 13,003
Finance income 1 1
Finance costs (348) (348)
Other finance expense (253) (253)
Profit befare taxation 10,247 5,180 (3,024) 12403
Taxation (3,566} (3,566)
Profit for the year 10,247 5180 (6,590} 8,837
Segment assets 57556 11,748 2,073 71377
Segment habdibies 10,691 337 36,619 50,681
Other segment items
Capital expenditure
- intangible assets 3,474 304 809 4,587
- property, plant and equipment 4,665 1,419 91 6175
Geographical segments by origin
year ended 30 September 2014
UK us Group
£000 £'000 £000
Revenue 23,508 101,271 124,779
Non-current assets 5,346 31,469 36,815
year ended 30 September 2013
UK us Group
£000 £000 £'000
Revenue 24,028 100,823 124,851
Non-current assets 4,897 32031 36,928
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2 EXPENSES BY NATURE

2014 2013

£'000 £000

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 3,343 1,828
Raw matenals and consumables used 50,139 49954
Employee benehi expense (note 9} 32,423 33314
Depreciation and amortisation charges (notes 11 and 12) 6,161 6,217
Transportation expenses 1,457 2173
Cperating lease payments 1,809 1,705
Travelling cosis 2,377 2465
Legal and professional fees 2,573 2185
Qther expenses 10,172 12,007
Total cost of sales, selling and distnbution costs and general and administrative expenses 110,454 111848
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conrinuen
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

|
3 AMORTISATION OF ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

2014 203

£'000 £000

Amortisatron of acquired intangible assets (note 11) 261 417
Exceptional items

2014 2013

£'000 £000

Relocation of AEF facility - 304

Relocauon of Lawrencewville faciity 2,017 -

Acquisilton costs - 79

2,017 383

The tax impact of the above 15 a £045m reduction in overseas tax payable (2013 £012m)

The Lawrenceville relocation costs relate 1o the conschdation of our Protection & Defence operations from four US sites inte three ahead of the
expiry of the lease on our Lawrenceville, Georgia facility in 205

The acquisition costs in 2013 relate tc the purchase of VR Technolagy Hotdings and other potenual acguisitions imvestigated that year

4 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

2014 2013
£000 £'000
Interest payable on bank leans and overdrafts {275} (348)
Finance income 1 1
(274) (347)

Other finance expense
2014 2013
£000 1000
Net interest cost UK defined benefit pension scheme {note 10} (12) (33)
Provisions Unwinding of discount (note 18) (175) {220)
{187) (253)
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5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

2014 2013

£'000 £'000
Profit before taxation 1s shown after crediting
Gan on foreign exchange - 230
and after charging-
Loss an foresgn exchange 137 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 209 24
Lass on disposal of intangibles 149 62
Depreciation on property, ptant and equipment 4,127 3,896
Repairs and maintenance of properiy plant and equipment 735 848
Amortisation of development costs and software 1,773 1904
Amorusation of acquired intangibles 261 417
Research and development 2,533 2,780
Impairment of inventones 182 438
Impairment of trade recevables - 5
Operating leases 1,809 1,705
Services provided to the Group (iIncluding its overseas subsidianes) by the Company's auditors
Audit fees in respect of the audit of the accounts of the Parent Company and consoiidation 30 30
Audit fees in respect of the audit of the accounts of subsidianes of the Company 80 80

110 10

Compensation recerved regarding taxaticn services - (128
Total fees 110 (18)

During 2013 £128,000 was receved from the Group's audstors in relation to a claim for compensation regarding taxation services provided in the

US for previous years

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conTinued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

6 TAXATION

2014 2013

£000 £000
QOverseas current tax 4,605 3313
Qverseas adjustment In respect of previous penods (961) (139)
Total current tax 3,644 3174
Deferred tax - current year {185) 253
Deferred tax - adjustment in respect of previous penods (406) 139
Total deferred tax {591) 392
Total tax charge 3,053 3566

The tax on the Group's profit before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would anse using the standard UK tax rate applicable to

profits of the consolidated entities as follows

2014 2013
£000 £000
Profit before taxation 13,864 12403
Profit before taxation at the average standard rate of 22 0% (2013 23 5%) 3,050 2815
Permanent differences 179 (238)
Losses for which no deferred taxation asset was recognised 397 255
Differences In overseas tax rates 794 634
Adjustment in respect of previous penods (1,367) -
Tax charge 3,053 3,566
The income tax charged directly to equity duning the year was £n1l {2013 £rul}
auen
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6 TAXATION contivuen

Deferred tax habilities Accelerated Other
capital temporary :
allowances differences Total bt
£000 £000 £'000 w
-
[T

At t October 2012 3.538 (954} 2,584 o

Charged againsi/{credited 10) profit for the year (M15) 807 392 5_

Exchange differences 4 3} t =
w
>

At 30 September 2013 3127 (150) 2977 ©

(Credited to)/charged against profit for the year (1,003) 12 {591)

Exchange differences (121) 50 71)

At 30 September 2014 2,003 312 2,315 a
=
wn
S
[-+]
o

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of temporary differences giing nse 1o deferred tax assets where 1t 15 probable that these 3

assets will be recovered z
[-

The standard rate of corporation tax in the UK changed from 23% to 21% with effect from 1 Apnl 2014 Accordingly the average standard rate for ;

the year s 22% %
T

A number of changes to the UK corparation tax system were announced in the March 2013 Budget Statement The Finance Bill 2013, which was

substantively enacted on 2 July 2013, includes legislation reducing the main rate of corporation tax to 20% frem 1 Apnl 2015 Starting 1 April
2015 the small profits rate will be unified with the main rate so there will be only one corporaiton tax rate for non nng-fenced profits set at 20%

The change in rate had no matenal impact on the Group s deferred tax assets and habilities as the Group's deferred tax habilities are held in
the US

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of the following matters in the UK, as it 1s uncertain when the critena for
recognitton of these assets will be met
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2014 2013
£000 £000 z
o
=
Losses (1,355) 2.753) s
Accelerated capital allowances {733) (966) s
Retiremens benefit obligattons (3,206) (2,256) z
Other (1,529} (1,555} =
[}
-
(6,823) (7,530) g
=
<
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conTinuep
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

7 DIVIDENDS

On 6 February 2014 the shareholders approved a final dividend of 2 88p per guabfying ordinary share in respect of the year ended 30
Septemnber 2013 This was paid on 21 March 2014 absorbing £862,000 of shareholders' funds

On 30 Apnl 2014 the Board of Directors declared an intenm dividend of 187p (2013 144p) per qualifytng crdinary share in respect of the year
ended 30 September 2014 This was paid on 5 September 2014 absorbing £560,000 (2013 £424,000) of shareholders' funds

After the balance sheet date the Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of 3 74p per qualfying crdinary share in respect of the year ended
30 Septernber 2014, which will absorb an estimated £1,120,000 of shareholders' funds Subject to shareholder approval, the dividend will be pawd
on 20 March 2015 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 20 February 2015 In accordance with accounting standargs this
dvidend has not been provided for and there are no corporation tax consequences

8 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earmings per share 1s calculated by dividing the earmings attributable to erdinary shareholders by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares inissue dunng the year, excluding those held in the employee share ownership trust The company has dilutive potenual
ordinary shares in respect of the Performance Share Plan (see page 70) Adjusted earnings per share removes the effect of the amartisation of
acquired intangible assets, exceptional items and defined benefit pension scheme costs

Recancthiations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below

2014 2013

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue used in basic calculations {thousands) 29,871 29451

Potenuially dilutive shares (weighted average) (thousands) 979 1,231

Fully diluted number of ordinary shares (weighted average) (thousands) 30,850 30,682

2004 2014 2004 2013 2013 2013

Basic Diluted Basic Oiluted

eps eps eps eps

£'000 pence pence £000 pence pence

Profit attnbutable 10 equity shareholders of the Company 10,811 362 350 8,837 300 288

Adjustments 2,240 75 73 1,131 38 37
Profit excluding amortisation of acquired intangible assets, excepuional

items and defined benefit pension scherne costs 13,051 437 423 G968 KXY 325
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The total remuneration and associated costs dunng the year were

-4
2014 2013 -
£:000 £000 i
I
-
Wages and salaries 26,944 27181 oy
Social secunty costs 2,263 2,563 E
QOther pension costs 1,023 822 E
US healthcare costs 2,105 2,635 w
Share based payments (note 24) 88 113 o
32,423 33314
&
Detalled disclosures of Directors' remuneration and share options, including disclosure of the ighest paid director, are given on pages 67 10 73 o
71
=
[-+]
-9
>
=3
=
The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) during the year was 2
[1%)
=
2014 2013 =
Number Nurnber [=}
X
By business segment
Protection & Defence 541 533
Dairy 200 200
Other 9 9 2
=
[ 3
750 742 2
[ 4
w
[
it
=z
At the end of the inancial year the total number of employees i the Group was 757 {2013 747) g
=
Key management compensation
2014 23 =
£000 £000 o
=
3
Salaries and other employee benefits 2,436 1,641 3
Post employment benefits 120 101 L
Share based payments 54 70 =
a
2,610 1,812 o
’ ! x
w
[- 4
<L
I
L)

The key management compensation above includes the Direciors phus three (2013 three) others who were members of the Group Executive

during the year
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NOTES TQO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continueD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

|
10 PENSIONS AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Retirement benefit assets and liabilities can be analysed as follows

2014 2013
£'000 £000
Pension liability 16,029 11,279

Defined benefit pension scheme
Full disclosures are provided in respect of the UK defined benefit pensicn scheme below

The Group operaied a coninbutory defined benefits plan to provide pension and death benefits for the employees of Avon Rubber plc and
1ts Group undertakings in the UK employed prior to 31 January 2003 The scheme was closed te future accrual of benefit en 1 Octeber 2009
The assets of the plan are held in separate trustee administered funds and are invested by professional investment managers The Trustee Is
Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited, the Directors of whach are members of the plan Four of the Directors are appoinied by the Group and two
are efected by the members

Pension costs are assessed on the advice of an independent consulting aciuary using the projected unit method The funding of the planis
based on regular actuanal valuations The most recent finalised actuanal valuauon of the plan was carried out at 31 March 2013 when the market
value of the plan s assets was £311 5m The actuanal value of those assets represented 98 0% of the value of the benefits which had accrued to
members after allowing for future increases in pensions

During the year the Group made payments to the fund of £513,000 (2013 £592,000) in respect of scheme expenses and deficit recovery plan
payments In accordance with the deficit recovery plan agreed following the 31 March 2013 actuanal valuation, the Group will make deficit
recovery payments in 2015 of £300,000 in addition 10 £250,000 towards scheme expenses

The defined benefit plan exposes the Group 1 actuanal risks such as longevity nsk, nterest 1ate nsk and investment nsk

An updated actuanal valuation for 1AS 19 (R) purposes was camed out by an independent actuary a1 30 September 2014 using the projected
unit method
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10 PENSIONS AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS connnuto

Movement in net defined benefit hability -

&

Defined benefit obligation Defined benefit asset Net defined benefit liability w

T

-

2014 2013 2014 2013 204 2013 8

£000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £1000 E

>

At 1 October (300,326) (284,543) 289,047 282,305 (11,279} {2,238) §

Included in profit or loss - =]
Administrative expenses (400) (420) - - {400) {420}
Net interest cost (322) {4,126) 310 4,093 {12} (33}

(722) {4.546) 310 4,093 (412) {453) w

z

Included in other comprehensive iIncome £

Remeasurement {loss)/gain 2

- Actuarnal gainfloss) anising from =

- demographic assumptions - 2,197 - - - 2,197 z

- financial assumptions {23,277) (28,133 - - (23,277) (28,133) x

W

- experience ad;ustment (7.586) (1.078) - - {7.586) (1,078 Y

- Return on plan assels excluding g

tnterest income - - 26,012 17834 26,012 17,834 T
{30,863) (27.014) 26,012 17834 (4,851) (9,180)

Other a

Contnbutions by the employer - - 513 592 513 592 =

Net benefits paid out 15,082 15,777 {15,082) 15,277) - - o

[T}

@<

At 30 September {316,829} (300 326) 300,800 289,047 (16,029) m,279) E

z

-

<)

T

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conTinutp
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

|
10 PENSIONS AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS wcontivure

Plan assets
30 Sept 2014 30 Sept 2013
£000 £000
Equities 146,224 130,293
Liability Driven Investment 97,286 84,589
Corporate bonds 31,016 30,696
Cash 26,274 43,369
Total fair value of assets 300,800 289,047

The Liability Driven Investment (LD{) compnses a series of LIBOR-earning cash deposits which are combined with contracts to hedge interest
rate and inflation rate nisk over the expected hfe of the scheme's liabilities

All equity securnties and corporate bonds have quoted prices in active markeis

The aim of the Trustee is to invest the assets of the plan to ensure that the benefits promised to members are provided In setting the
investment strategy the Trustee first considered the lowest risk allocation that could be adopted in relaticn to the plan's habilities An asset
allocanion strategy was then designed to achteve a higher return than thus lowest nisk sirategy which at the same time still represented a

prudent approach to meeting the plan's hlabilines The target weightings are 50% allocation to habiity drven investment funds and cash and
50% to return-seeking investments

Actuanal assumptions

The main financial assumpuons used by the independent qualified actuaries to calculate the habiliies under 1AS 19 (R) are set out below

2014 2013

%pa %pa
Inflation {RP1} 300 310
Inflation (CP} 190 210
Pension increases post August 2005 200 210
Pension increases pre August 2005 280 300
Discount rate for scheme habilizies 410 450
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10 PENSIONS AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS icontivuen

o

L4

Mortality rate =

T

Assumptions regarding future mortality expenence are set based on adwice, published statistics and experience "

The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retinng at age 65 on the balance sheet date 1s as follows g

w

>

-4

[

>

2014 2013 °
Mate 221 220
Female 243 242

wi

v

w

4

@A

The average life @xpectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date s as follows 2

s

=)

z

S

o

2014 2013 w

=

2

Male 235 234 g
Female 258 257

Sensitivity analysis 2

:

o

Defined benefit obligation -

e

increase/(decrease) ;‘

£000 =

2
Inflation (RPI} {0 25% 1ncrease) 6967
Discount rate for scherme habbuies (0 25% increase) {10,939}
Future mortality (1 year in¢rease) 9,853

The above sensitvity analysis shows the impact on the defined benefit obhigation only, not the net pension hability as it does not take into
account any impact on the asset valuation

Fach sensitivity analysis disclosed in this note 1s based on changing ane assumption while holding all other assumptions constant In practice
this 1s unlikely to occur

Defined contribution pension scheme

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

In addiion commencing 1 February 2003, a defined contrnibution scheme was introduced for employees within the UK The cost to the Group in
respect of this scheme for the year ended 30 September 2014 was £415,000 (2013 £353,000)
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continuep

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

T1 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Acquired Development Computer
Goodwill imangibles expenditure saftware Total
£000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 October 2012
Cost - - 21,778 1,736 23,514
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - - {9.136) (1,097) (10,233)
Net book amount - - 12,642 639 13,281
Year ended 30 September 2013
Opening net book amount - - 12,642 639 13,281
Exchange differences . - 68 2 70
Additions - 167 3,317 1103 4,587
Acquisition {(note 26) 63 923 - - 986
Disposals - - (62) - (62)
Amortisation - 417) (1837) (67) (2,321)
Closing net book amount 63 673 14,128 1677 16,541
At 30 September 2013
Cost 63 1,090 22450 2,848 26,451
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - 47 (8,322) (1,171 9810
Net book amount 63 673 14,128 1,677 16,541
Year ended 30 September 2014
Opening net book amount 63 673 14,128 1,677 16,541
Exchange differences - - {168) (12) {180)
Additions - - 2,535 527 3,062
Disposals - - (123) (26) (149)
Amortisation - (261) {1,497) (276) (2,034)
Closing net bogk amount 63 412 14,875 1,890 17,240
At 30 September 2014
Cost 63 1,090 22,138 2,604 25,895
Accumulated amartisation and impairment - (678} (7,263) {714) {8,655)
Net book amount 63 412 14,875 1,890 17,240
Development expenditure 1s amortised over a perod between 5 and 15 years
Computer software 1s amortised over a penod between 3 and 7 years
The remaining useful economic life of the development expenditure 15 between 5 and 12 years
Acquired intangibles include customer relationships, order book on acquisition and brands and are amortised over 3 years
auen
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Short Plant and
Freeholds lease holds machinery Total
£000 £'000 £000 £'000

At 1 October 2012
Cost 1,382 425 38,128 39935
Accurnulated deprecation and impairment {255) (253) (21,549) (22,057
Net book amount 1127 172 16,579 17,878
Year ended 30 September 2013
Opening net bogk amount 1127 172 16,579 17,878
Exchange differences 5 4 138 147
Addiiions 107 32 4126 6175
Acquisition {Note 26) - - 109 109
Reclassifications 28 - (28) -
Disposals - - (26} (26)
Depreciation charge (142) (127) (3.627) (3,896)
Closing net book amount 3,035 a1 17,271 20,387
At 30 September 2013
Cost 3,402 26 42,080 45,743
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (367) (180) (24,809) (25 356)
Net book amount 3035 8l 17,271 20387
Year ended 30 September 2014
Opening net book amount 3,035 81 17,271 20,387
Exchange differences (24) (2} {162) (188)
Additicns - - 3,731 3,731
Disposals - (52) {176) (228)
Depreciation charge (191) (27) (3,909) (4,127)
Closing net book amount 2,820 - 16,755 19,575
At 30 September 2014
Cost 3179 - 42,469 45,648
Accumulated deprecration and impairment (359) - {25,714) (26,073)
Net book amount 2,820 - 16,755 19,575
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

13 INVENTORIES

2018 2013
£000 £000
Raw materals 8,876 6,020
Work in progress 2,151 2481
Finished goods 1,860 4,873
12,887 13,374
Prowisions for inventory write downs were £1,554,000 (2013 £1,710,000)
The cost of inventones recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to £53,482,000 (2013 £51,782,000)
14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2014 2013
£000 £000
Trade receivables 15,544 17,009
Less provision for impairment of receivables (249) (269)
Trade recewables — net 15,295 16,740
Prepayments 1,316 1141
Other recewvables 2,546 2,796
19,157 20677

Other recevables include £956,000 (2013 £956,000) in respect of a rent deposit relating to the Company's premises in Melksham, Wiltshire UK

The remaining balance comprises sundry receivables

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of receivables are as follows*

2014 2013

£000 £000
At 1 October 269 g
Provision for impairment of recewvables - 5
Recevables written off dunng the year as uncollectable {20) m?
At 30 September 249 269

The creation and release of provision for impared recervables have been included in general and adrminstrative expenses 1n the consohidated

statement of comprehensive mncome

m DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANMNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014
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15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2014 2013
£900 £000
Cash at bank and in hand 2,925 184

Cash at bank and In hand balances are denominated in 2 number of different currencies and earn interest based on national rates

16 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

’

HOW WE RUN OUR BUSINESS

2014 2013
£'000 £000
Trade payables 440 4139
Other taxation and sacial security 629 282
Other payables 152 3,289
Accruals and deferred income 16,534 8,970
17,755 16,680

Qther payables comprise sundry items which are not individually significant for disclosure

17 BORROWINGS
2014 2013
£000 £000
Non-current

Bank loans - 11,059
Total borrowings - 11,059

The matunty profite of the Group's borrowings at the year end was as follows

In one year or less, or on demand - -
Between one and two years - 11,059
Between two and five years - -

- 11,059
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conTinueD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014
]

The Group has the {ollowing undrawn comrutted faciliies

2014 2013

£000 £000
Expiring beyond one year 24,191 12,518
Total undrawn committed borrowing facilities 241N 12,518
Bank loans and overdrafts utilised - 11,059
Utilised in respect of guarantees 337 kLY
Totat Group faciities 24,528 23918

Allfacilives are at floating interest rates
On 9 June 20i4 the Group agreed new bank facilities with Barclays Bank and Comenica Bank The combined facility compnses a revolving
credit facility of $40m and expires on 30 November 2017 This facility is priced on the dollar LIBOR plus margin of 1 25% and includes financial

covenants which are measured on a quarterly basis The Group was in comphance with (ts financial covenants dunng 2014 and 2013

The Group has provided the tenders with a negative pledge in respect of certain shares in Group companies

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet dates were as follows

2014 2014 2013 2013

Sterling Coltar Sterling Dollar

% % % %

Bank lcans - - 22 28
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18 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Facilty Property Total

relocation obligauons :

£000 £000 £000 b

[

=

Balance at 1 October 2012 - 2,993 2993 u ‘

Unwinding of discount - 220 220 z

Payments in the year - (6003 (600) ;

[- 4

[1%)

Balance at 30 September 2013 - 2613 2,613 3
Charged in the year 1,637 1,632 3,269
Unwinding of discount - 175 175
Payments in the year (1,191) {1,056) (2,247)

Exchange difference 8 1 9 v

u

Balance at 30 September 2014 454 3,365 3,819 E

2

(-

2

<}

=

>

(=4

w

=

=

2014 203 g
Analysis of 1otal provisions £000 £000
Non-current 1,973 1,997
Current 1,846 616
3,819 2,613

Property obligations include an onerous lease provision of £2 3m in respect of unutihsed space at the Group's leased Hampton Park West
facility in the UK £0 5m of this provision 1s expected 1o be utlised in 2015, and the remaining £1 8m over the following six years Other property
obligations refate to former premises cf the Group which are subyect to dilapidation nisks and are expected to be utiised within the next seven
years Property provisions are subject to uncertainty in respect of the utlisation, nen-utilisation, or subletting of surplus leasehold praperty and
the final negotiated settlement of any dilapidaton claims with landlords

[=]
w
=
r
o]
[0S
[
w
o
w
S
=
o]
e o}

Facility relocation relates 1o the cost of consolidating our Protection & Defence operauions from four US sites into three ahead of the expiry of
the lease on the Lawrenceville, GA facility This is expected to be uulised within 12 months

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conTinveD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments by category

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) and cash and cash equivalents are classified as "loans and recevables' Borrowings and
trade and other payables are classified as 'other financial habilities at amarused cost Both categonies are inially measured at fair value and
subsequently held at amortsed cost

Denvatives (forward exchange contracts) are classified as dernivatives used for hedging and accounted for at fair value with gains and
losses taken to reserves through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Financial nsk and treasury policies

The Group's treasury management team mamntans higquidity, manages relations with the Group's bankers, identifies and manages foreign
exchange nsk and prowides a treasury service 10 the Group's businesses Treasury deahings such as investments, borrowings and forergn
exchange are conducted only to support underlying business transactions

The Group has clearly defined pohcies for the management of fareign exchange rate nsk The Group treasury management team 1s not a

profit centre and, therefore, does not undertake speculative foreign exchange dealings for which there 1s no underlying exposure Exposures
resulting from sales and purchases m foreign cusrency are matched where possible and the net exposure may be hedged by the use of forward
exchange contracis

{) Credit nsk

Credit nisk s the nisk of financial loss to the Group If a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations,
and anses principally from the Group's receivables from customers and monies on deposit with financial mstitutions

The US Government through the Department of Defense 15 a major customer of the Group Credit evaluatons are carnied out on all non-
Government customers requinng credit above a certan threshold, with varying approval levels set above this depending cn the value of the
sale At the balance sheet date there were no sigmificant concentrations of credit risk except in respect of the US Government noted above

Counterparty nsk anses frem the use of denvative financial instruments This 1s managed through credit limits, counterparty approvals and
ngorous monitering procedures

Where possible, goods are sold subject 1o retention of utle clauses, so that in the event of non-payment the Group may have a secure claim
The Group establishes an allowance for impairment i respect of recevables where recoverability 15 considered doubtful
Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure The maximum exposure to credit nsk at the reporting date was

2014 2083
Carrying amount £000 £000
Trade recevables 15,295 16,740
QOther recevables 2,546 2,796
Cash and cash equivalents 2,925 184
Forward exchange contracts used for hedging 2 214
20,768 19934

The maximum exposure to credit nsk for financial assets at the reporuing date by currency was
2014 2013
Carrying amount of financial assets £000 £000
Sterhing 4,307 233
US dollar 14,967 16,380
Euro 928 585
Other currencies 566 638
20,768 19934
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Provisions against trade recervables

The ageing of trade receivables and associated provision for impairment at the reporting date was

Gross Provision Net Gross Pravision Net

2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013

£'000 £7000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Not past due 13,914 - 13,914 14,818 - 14818
Past due 0-30 days .M - 1,11 1,369 (19} 1,350
Past due 31-60 days 369 (131) 238 634 (130) 504
Pasi due 61-90 days 135 {103) 32 116 (62} 54
Past due more than 91 days 15 (15) - 72 (58) 14
15,544 (249) 15,295 17,009 (269) 16,740

The total past due receivahles, net of prowisions 1s £1,381,000 (2013 £1,922,000)

The indwmiduzlly imparred recevables mainly refate to a number of independent customers A partton of these receivables 1s expected 10
be recovered

{n) Liguidity nisk

Ligquidity nsk s the nisk that the Group will not be able 1o meet its financial obligations as they fall due The Group’s approach to managing
liquidity 15 1o ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient hquidity to meet its labihties when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurning unacceptable losses or nisking damage to the Group’s reputation

The Group uses weekly cash flow forecasts tc moniter cash requiremnents and to optimise its borrawing posiiion Typically the Group ensures
that it has sufficient borrowing facilizies to meet {oreseeable operational expenses and at the year end had facilives of £24 5m (2013 £239m)

The followang shows the contractual maturities of inancial labikues, iIncluding interes: payments, where applicable and excluding the impact of
netting agreements and on an undiscounted basis

Analysis of contractual cash flow maturities Carrying Contractual  Lessthan 1-2 2-5 Morethan
amount <cashflows 12months Years Years 5 Years
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
30 September 2014

Trade and cther payables 17,126 17,126 17,126 - - -

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging
- Quiflow - 922 922 - - -
- Inflow {2) - - - - -

17,124 18,048 18,048 - - -
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conTinuen
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS wonnmuets

Analysis of contractual cash flow maturities Carrying  Contractual Less than 12 2-5  Morethan
Amount  Cashflows 12 months Years Years 5 Years
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
30 September 2013

Secured bank loans 11,059 11,507 299 11208 - -
Trade and other payables 16,398 16,398 16,398 - - -

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging
- Cutflow - 4,125 4125 - - -
- Inflow {214) - - - - -
27,243 32,030 20822 11,208 - -

(m) Market risks

Market risk 1s the sk that changes in market prices, such as currency rates and interest rates, wilk affect the Group's results The objective of

market nsk management is to manage and control nsk within suitable parameters

{a) Currency nisk

The Group 1s exposed 10 foreign currency nisk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than Sterling The currencies
gwing nse to this nsk are pnmarily the US dollar and related currencies and the Eure The Group hedges matenal forecast US dollar or eurc
foreign currency transactional exposures using forward exchange contracts In respect of other menetary assets and liabilities held in currencies
other than sterling, the Group ensures that the net exposure is kept 1o an acceptable level, by buying or seling foreign currencies at spot rates

where necessary to address short-term imbalances

The Group classifies its forward exchange contracts hedging forecasted transactions as cash fiow hedges and states them at fair value through
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income Fair value 1s assessed by reference to year end spot exchange rates, adjusted for forward
pomnts associated with contracts of simlar durawon The faw value of forwasrd exchange contracts used as hedges at 30 September 2014 was a

£2,000 asset (2013 £214,000 asset) compnising an asset of £2,000 (2013 £214,000) and a liability of nif (2013 nil)

All forward exchange contracts in place at 30 September 2014 mature within one year
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Sensitivity analysis

[tis estimated that, with all other vanables held equal {in particular other exchange rates), a general change of five cents in the value of the
US dollar against sterling would have had a £415,000 (2013 £368,000) impact on the Group's current year profit before interest and tax and
a £317,000 (2013 £294,000) impact on the Group’s profit after tax The method of estimation, which has been appled consistently, invoives
assessing the transtation impact of the US dollar

The following significant exchange rates appled during year

Average rate Closing rater Average rate Closing rate

2014 2014 2013 2013

US dollar 1654 1631 1559 1612
Euro 1221 1281 i188 1191

{b) Interest rate risk

The Group does not undertake any hedgeng activity in this area All foreign currency cash deposits are made at prevailing interest rates and
where rates are fixed the period of the fix s generally not more than one month The main element of interest rate nsk concerns borrowings
which are made on a floating LIBOR-based rate and short-term overdraits in foreign currencies which are also on a floaung rate

The Group 15 exposed to interest rate fluctuatcns but with net cash of £29m (2013 net debt £10 9m) a 19 increase in interest rates would have
no impact on interest costs (2013 increase of £01m)

The floaung rate financizl habihties in 2013 compnised bank loans beanng floating interest rates fixed by reference t0 the relevant LIBOR or
equivalent rate

All cash deposits are on floating rates or overnight rates based on the relevant LIBOR or equivalent rate
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continuto
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014
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19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS :conrmuco

(v) Caprtal sk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability 10 continue as a going concern In order o provide returns

for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to mainiain an optuimal ¢capital struciure

In order to maniam or adjust the capital struciure the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 1o sharehalders, retuen capital to

shareholders or 1ssue new shares

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the geanng ratio, calculated as net debt divided by capital Net debt is calculated as total borrowings

less cash and cash equivalents Total capital ts measured by the current market captalisaton of the Group, plus net debt

The Group’s net cash/{debt) at the balance sheet date was

2014 2013
£'000 £000
Total borrowings - (11,059)
Cash and cash equivalents 2,925 184
Group net cash/(debt) 2,925 (10875)
Market capitalisation of the Group at 30 September 190,947 168,978
Gearing ratio N/A 60%
At 30 September 2014 the Group had net cash, therefore calculation of the gearing ratio 15 not apphcable
aven
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(v) Fair values

The farr values of financial assets and liabiliies, together with the carrying amounts shown n the balance sheet, are as follows

|
19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS «ontinuen,

Carrying Fair Catrying Fair

amount value amouns value

2014 2014 2013 2013

£000 £'000 £000 £000

Trade recevables 15,295 15,295 16,740 16,740
Other recevables 2,546 2,546 2,796 2,796
Cash and cash equivalents 2,925 2,925 184 184
Forward exchange contracts 2 2 214 214
Secured loans - - {11,059) {11,059)
Trade and other payables {17,126} {17126) {16,398) (16,398)
3,642 3,642 {7.523) (7.523)

Basis for determining fair value

The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in esumating the fair values of financizl Instruments reflected in the

table above

Dervatives

The faw value of forward exchange contracts 1s determimed by using valuation techmiques using year-end spot rates, adjusted for the forward
points to the contract's value date No contract's value date 15 greater than one year from the year end These instruments are included in level 2

in the fair value hierarchy as the valuabien s based on inputs that are either directly or indirectly chservable

Secured loans
As the loans are floating rate borrowings, amortised cost 1§ deemed to reflect fair value

Trade and other recevables/payables

As the majonity of receivables/payables have a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount 1s deemed to reflect the farr value
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conTinuED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

20 SHARE CAPITAL

2014 2014 2014 2(13 2013 2013
No of Ordinary Share No of Ordinary Share
shares shares premium shares shares premium
£'000 £000 £000 £000
Called up, allotted and fully

paid ordinary shares of £1 each
At the beginning of the year 30,723,292 30,723 34,708 30723292 30,723 34,708
{ssued during the year 300,000 300 - - - -
At the end of the year 31,023,292 31,023 34,708 30,723,292 30,723 34708

During the year, 300,000 ordinary shares with a neminal value of £1 per share were 1ssued at par to the Avon Rubber p | ¢ Employee Share

Ownership Trust No 1

Detarls of outstanding share opticns and movements in share options duning the year are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 54-73

Ordinary shareholders are entitled to recerve dividends and are entitled to vote at meetings of the Company

At 30 September 2014 1,081,810 (2013 1,243,111) ordinary shares were held by a trust m respect of obligations under the 2010 Performance Share
Plan Dmvidends on these shares have been waived The market value of the shares held by the trust at 30 September 2014 was £6,655,000

(2013 £6,832,000) These shares are held at cost as treasury shares and deducted from shareholders’ equity

Dunng 2013 the trust acquired 522,000 shares at a cost of £1,765 000 In 2014, 460,301 (2013 680,070) shares were used to satsfy awards

following the vesting of shares relating to the 2010 Perfermance Share Plan
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21 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2014 2013 E

£000 £000 >

[T}

£

Profit for the year 10,811 8,837 &

Adjustments for P

Taxation 3,053 3,566 S

Depreciation 4,127 3,896 =

Amorusation of intangible assets 2,034 2321 2
Defined benefit pension scheme cost 400 420
Finance income )] M
Finance costs 275 348

Other finance expense 187 253 v

Loss on disposal of intangibles 149 62 g

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 209 24 -

Mavement in respect of employee share scheme 88 113 S

Decrease in inventories 370 2,259 S

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 1,479 {6,295) g

Increase/(decrease) In payables and provisions 2,336 (503) 2

z

25,517 15,300 g

I

22 ANALYSIS OF NET CASH / (DEBT)

]
w
=
o
g

This note sets out the calculation of net cash/{debt), a measure considered important i explaining our financial position ;
w
=
=
o

At Oct Exchange At 30 Sept T
2013 Cash flow movements 2014
£000 £000 £000 £'000

Cash at bank and in hand 184 2,714 27 2,925

Net cash and cash equivalents 184 2714 27 2,925

Debt due in more than 1 year (17.059) 10,805 254 -

(10,875) 13,519 281 2,925
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continuep
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

L ____________________________________________________________________________|]
23 OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

2014 W03
£'000 £000
Capital expenditure commutted 738 918

Capitat expenditure committed represents the amount contracied in respect of property plant and equipment at the end of the financial year
for which no provision has been made in the financial statements

The future aggregate mimimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are

2014 2013

£000 £000

Within one year 1,983 2,052
Between 1 and 5 years 4,024 5025
Later than 5 years 5,755 65472
1,762 13,545

The majenty of leases of land and buildings are subject to rent reviews

24 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based performance share plan (PSP) Details of the Plan, awards granted and opuons outstanding
are set outin the Remuneration Report on page 70 and are incorporated by reference into these financial statements The charge against profit
of £88,000 (2013 £113,000} in respect of PSP options granted after 7 November 2002 has been calcutated using the Monte Carlo prnicing model
and the following principal assumptions

2014 2013
Weighted average fair value (£) 038 on
Key assumptions used
Weighted average share price (£} 575 3fN
Velaulity (96) n 39
Risk-free interest rate (%) 09 175
Expecied option term (yrs) 30 30
Divided yield (96) 11 10

Volatility 15 estimated based on aciual expenence over the last three years

m DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014 au.n
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25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There were no related party transactions during the year or outstanding at the end of the year (2013 £nil) Key management compensation is
disclosed in note 9

26 ACQUISITION

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

On 26 April 2013 Aven Palymer Products Lirmited acquired 100% of the share capital of VR Technology Holdings Limited (VR), a market leader in
diving rebreather systems and dive computers, for consideration of £833,000

1723

1743

w

Accounting Far value z

Book value pelicy alignment adjustment Fair value ‘5

£000 £000 £000 £000 z

=

o

Intangible assets - 3M 622 923 z

Property, plant and equipment 109 - - 109 =

w

Inventories 36 - - 36 =

Trade and other recevables 137 - - 137 g

Cash and cash equivalents 64 - - 64 k4
Trade and other payables {499) - - (499
Net assets acquired (153) 30 622 770

o

Goodwill 63 =

[= =4

2

Total consideration 833 =

-9

[*]

=

Satisfied by 2

3]

T
Cash at completion 483
Deferred consideration paid 50
Deferred/conungent consideration due in future years 300

833

The Directors have reviewed the goodwill for impairment and concluded that the carrying value 15 recoverable Full details of the review are not
disclosed given the immatenality of the goodwill balance

The contingent consideration becomes payable over the next two years, providing certain perfarmance conditions are met, based on both
qualitative and quantitative factors The range of outcomes 1s expected to be between ril and £200,000

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS convmnuen
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

27 GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

Country 1n which
ncorporated
Held by Parent Company
Avon Polymer Products Limited UK
Avon Rubber Overseas Limited UK
Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited UK
Avon Dairy Solutons (Shangha) International Trading Company Limited China
Held by Group undertakings
Avon Engineered Fabnications, Inc us
Avon Hi-Life, tnc us
Avaon Protection Systems, Inc us
Avon Rubber & Plastics, Inc us
Avon-Ames Limited UK
VR Technology Holdings Limited UK
Avon International Safety Instruments, Inc us
Avon-Dairy Amenca do sul Sclucoes Para Qrdentia LTDA Brazil

Sharehotdings are ordinary shares and al! undertakings are wholly owned by the Group and operate primanly n their country of incorporation

All comparues have a year ending in September, except Aven Dairy Solutions (Shanghary which has a year ending in December For the purpose of

the Group accounts the results are consolidated to 30 September

Avon Rubber Pensian Trust Limited 1s a pension fund trustee

Avon Rubber Cverseas Limited and Avon Rubber & Plasucs, Inc are investment holding companies

VR Technology Holdings Limited designs and manufactures diving rebreather systems and dive computers

The actmities of all of the other companies isted above are the manufacture and/ar distibution of rubber and other polymer based products
A number of non-trading and small Group undertakings have been omitied, on the grounds of immaterality

All UK subsidiaries are exempt from the requirement to file audited accounts by virtue of Sect:on 479A of the Companies Act 2006
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF AVON RUBBER p i ¢

Report on the Group financial statements

Our opinion

In our apinvion, Avon Rubber plc’s Group financial statements (the "financial statements”)

B give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's affairs as at 30 September 2014 and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended,

B have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards {"IFRSs") as adopted by the
European Unian, and

M have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the |AS Regulation

What we have audited

Avon Rubber pl¢’s financial statements comprise

W the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 30 September 2014

W the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended,

B the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended,

H the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended,

B the Accounting Policies and Crnitical Accounting Judgements,

@ the notes to the Group financial statements which include other explanatory infermauocn

Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financial statements
These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as aud ted

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union

Our audit approach

Overview

m OverallGroup matenality £815,000 which represents 5% of the Group profit before tax, excluding
the exceptianal item of £2 0m refating to the closure of the faciity in Lawrenceville, and the impact of
14519 (revised) on defined benefit pension scheme administrative costs which have been reclassified
into the income statement

B The UKaudit team performed an audit of the compfete financizl information of the two main operating
urits in the USA (Aven Protection NA and Aven Dairy Solutions NA) and the two main aperating units in
the UK (Avon Polymer Products Ltd (compnising of Avon Protecuion UK and Avon Dairy Soluttons) and
Avon Rubber plic)

AUDIT SCOPE

W Taken together, these four reparting unis account for 929% of Group revenue and £15 3m of the total
Group profit before tax, excluding the exceptional stem of £20m and pension administritive costs
of £04m

Specific audit procedures were also performed by the UX audit team on certain other balances and
transactions at the remaining five reporung units

Provisions fQI' uncertan tax pOSI[IOﬂS

AREAS OF FOCUS
Pension habiliies

Intangible assets (development expenditure) iImpairment assessment

Adequacy of working caprtal provisions

Fraud in revenue recogmtion

au.n ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014 DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL m
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT continueD
TO THE MEMBERS OF AVON RUBBER p | ¢

The scope of our audit and our areas of focus

M We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and lreland) (%i5As (UK & treland)™) We desrgned our
audit by determining materiality and assessing the nsks of materal misstaternent in the financial statements In particular, we looked at
where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounung esumates that Invalved making
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of
management ovende of internal contrals, including evaluating whether there is evidence of bias by the directors that may represent
a nsk of matenal misstatement due to fraud

B The nsks of matenal misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, Including the allocation of our resources and effort,
are idenufied as "areas of focus™ in the table below together with an explanation of how we tatlored our audit to address these specific
areas This s not a complete list of all nsks idenufied by our audit

Area of focus How our audit addressed the area of focus

Provisions for uncertain tax positions We requested and obtained correspondence between the Group and
the relevant tax authenties in each tax junsdiction for which an uncertain
tax position has been recognised, and based on our understanding

of the relevant tax regulation and independent consideration of the
correspondence with the authorinies challenged the directors'
assumptians surrounding

As noted in the cntical accounting Judgements section on
page 82 and included in note 6, liabilities are recognised
for any tax positions which are uncertain m each relevant
tax jurisdiction

We focused on this area because there are matenal

uncertain tax positions arising from the judgemenial B thenterpretaton of the relevant regufation and likely outcome,
interpretation of the impact of the application of aspects B the nature of the taxable deductions taken and the consistency in
of tax regulation in certain junsdictions the basis for the provision, and

The directors have had 10 estimate the likelhood of the
future outcome in each case, with the valuation of any
prowvision 1nvolving a high degree of judgement

W thelikelihood of settlement and the amount of provisions required
in each junsdiction, taking into consideration histanic precedent

We also cbiained the fling posivons for each Junsdiction which we read,
considered in light of our understanding of the business and reconciled
10 the balances in the financial statements

In conjunction with this assessment, the directers have
determined that no deferred tax assets in respect of tax

losses should be recogrised Thus 15 based on a number of
factors Including whether there will be sufficient taxable We evaluated the directors' assessment of the avallability of future 1axable

profits in future perods to SUPPOIT recagaItion profits in each junsdiction te determine whether a deferred tax asset should
be recognised, by comparing the forecasts of future profits to histencal
results, and considenng the impact of any uncertain tax strategies

Valuation of the Group's net pension deficit

We focussed on this area because of the magnitude We considered and challenged the reasonableness of the key actuaral
of the defined benefit pension deficit of £16 0m assumptions selected by the directors by comparing these to our
recognised under |AS19, in the context of the overall ‘in-house’ benchmark ranges based on our assessment of current
Group Balance Sheet market conditrons and the avadable actuanal data

The valuaucn of the net pension deficit is subject 1o We evaluated whether the directors’ judgements and assumptions
the directors’ judgements regarding the selection of had been made on a consistent basis ncluding In comparison to prior
appropriate actuanial assumptions based on the nature financial years

of the scheme, ncluding the discount rate, inflaton rate
and mortality rates that impact the measurement of
future habilities

We also obtained supporung evidence fer each of the key inputs into the
overall pension deficit calculation including independently agreeing
changes in membership census data to pension scheme records and

A change in each of the above assumptions by 0 25% can agreeing the scheme asset values used by actuaries in the IAS 19
cause a matenal change in the value of the underlying calculation to independent sources, such as fund manager confirmations
pension deficit (as highlighted on page 95) and/or quoted market prices where avalable
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Area of focus

Intangible assets {development expenditure}
impatrment assessment

We focussed on this area because of the magnitude of
capitalised development expenditure in the overall contexi
of the Group Balance Sheet (£17 2m) and the nisk that as the
Group's product porticlio continues to expand, and as costs
assoctaied with new product development are capitalised,
the resulting assets may not be recoverable If esumated
future sales orders cannot be delivered or regulatory
approvals are not ebtained

In parucular we focussed on the capitalised development
costs relating to the suite of Protection & Defence and Dary
products currently under development including Project
Fusion, Deltair, PAPRs and EEBD, ali of which are described on
pages 15-16 of the Annual repart

Adequacy of provisions

As set out In the ¢nucal accounting judgements section
on page 82, the directors review year-end working capital
balances, such as tnventory and trade recervables i each
of the operating units and make pravisions to adjust the
carrying value of those assets to the direciors’ view of therr
recoverable amount

Prowisions are also made for contractual obligations such

as onerous lease arrangements and difaprdation provisions,
where the directors believe that the likelibood of settlement
1s probable

We focus on this area due to the importance of working
capital to the Group's ongoing operations and the degree
of judgement the directors have tc apply in determining the
amount of provision required for each different element of
the Group's working cepital and operational requirements,
and taking into censideration the aggregation of provisions
across the indmvidual operatng locations

Risk of fraud in revenue recognition

Provisions made agatnst revenue require judgements based
on certain contractual arrangements, which reguire the
directors to estmate the amount which may be due back to
customers and which should not be recognised as revenue

ISAs (UK & Ireland) alse presumes there 1 a sk of fraud in
revenue recogaition on every audit engagement We focused
on whether the jJudgements made by the directors across
the portfolio of contracis were rmade on a consistant basis in
accordance with contractual terms

How our audit addressed the area of focus

We tested a sample of capitalised devetopment costs against the critena
set out in JAS38 ‘Intangible assets’ and the Group's accounting policies,
in particular focussing on the technical feasibility, the viability of the
completion of the project and the ability for the project 1o generate
future economic benefits and gain necessary regulatory approvals

We met with key operational persennel to update our understanding of
the status of major prajects and assessed the controls and governance
which have been put in place around project approval, autherisation
and ongoing menitonng

We assessed indiwidually each of the major projects for indicators of
impairment, such as an inability to obtain regulatory approval or not
achieving forecast sales orders We obtained evidence to support that
regulatory approvals and future sales orders have been secured We
note the Deltair and EEBD products both now have NIOSH approval,
and Deltair products have been launched in the US

We evaluated whether provisions have been made on a consistent
basts, in line with the Group’s accounting policies

We obtained evidence over the recoverability of matenal trade
recevables, includmng assessing the ageing analysis and the extent of
cash collected post year end, and challenged the directors’ assumptions
over the need to provide for potentially irrecoverable amounts

We attended physical iInventory counts at a vanety of locations
where matenal levels of Inventory were held to assess the existence
and physical condition of inventory held at 30 September 2014, and
considered the adequacy of inventory provisions by comparing the
outcomes of our visits with systems data along with reviewing the
ageing of inventory held at 30 September 2014

We also evaluated the adequacy of property related prowisions,

shown in note 18, by obtaining ewidence of the onenous contractual
obligations We also obtained external valuation reports commissioned
by the directors and assessed the assumptions underpinning the
calculation of the provisions required against the value of properties
held and our knowledge of the business and the property portfolio

We obtained the calculations of contractual revenue provisions and
challenged the key assumptions and judgements made by the directors
and the expected uming of settlement, based on our iIndependent
reading of the relevant contraciual terms and understanding of the
contracts In doing 5o, we 2lso assessed whether the Group was entitled
to, and appropriately recognised, revenue in line with therr contractual
obhgations and therr revenue recogrition policy We also examined

the associated contracts and sales activity in the year to create our own
expectation of the provision required

Avenh
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT conTinuED

TO THE MEMBERS OF AVON RUBBER p 1 ¢

How we tarlored the audit scope

We talored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed
enough work to be able to give an opinion an the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the geographi¢ structure
of the Group, the accounung processes and controls, and the
industry in which the Group operates

The Group comprises two divisions, being Protection & Defence
and Dairy and we focused our audit work on the Group's largest
operating units, within these divisions in the USA and UK

The UK audit tearn conducted an audit of the complete inanaal
information of four operating units (the two largest in the USA
and iwao largest in the UK) due to therr size and nsk charactenstcs
Taken together, these four operating units account for 92% of the
Group's revenue and £15 3m of Group profit before tax, excluding
the exceptional izem of £2 0m and the defined benefit pension
scheme administrative costs of £04m

Specific audik procedures were also performed by the UK team on
certain balances and transactiens matenal to the Group financial
statements at the five remaining reporting units This, together with
additional procedures performed at the Group level over centralised
processes and functions, including the audit of consohdation
Journals, gave us the evidence we needed for our opinion on the
Group financial statements as a whole

Materniality

The scape of our audit 1s Influenced by our applicauon of
materiality We set certain quantitative thresholds for matenality
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to
determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent
of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements,
both individually and on the finzncial statements as a whole

Based on our professional judgement, we determined matenality
for the financial statements as a whole as follows

Overall Group £815,000 (2013 £650000)
maternality

How we 5% of profit before tax, excluding the

determined it ‘one off' exceptional item of £2 Om
relaung to the closure of the
Lawrenceville location based in the
USA, and the £0 4m impact of the
reclassificaucn of pension scheme
adrministrative costs 1 the income
statement on adoption of IAS19 (revised)

Rationale for We have applied this profit based
benchmark benchmark, a generally accepted
applied auditing practice in the absence
of indicators that an alternative
benchmark would be appropriate
The excepuonal item has been excluded
as 1115 considered 1o be a one-off
non-recurnng item

The costs for the defined benefit
pension scheme, which is closed to new
entranis, have been added back as these
costs have previously been included

in the actuarial movements in other
comprehensive Income and have not
previously been included within proft
beforetax The exclusion of these items
provides us with a consistent year-on-
year basis for determining materiality

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them
misstatements identified duning our audit above £50,000 (2013
£32,500), as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our
view, warranted reporung for qualitative reasons

Gotng concern

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the directors’
statement, set out on page 50, refation to going concern
We have nothing to report having performed our review

As noted in the dwectors’ statement, the directors have concluded
that 1t Is appropriate to prepare the financizl statements using

the going concern basis of accounting The going concern basis
presumes that the Group has adequate resources 1o remain in
operation, and that the directers intend 1t 1o do se, for at least one
year from the date the financizl statements were signed As part of
our audit we have concluded that the directors use of the going
concern basis I1s appropnate

However, because not all future events or conditions can be
predicted, these statements are not a guarantee as to the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern

aven
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Other required reporting

Consistency of other information

Companies Act 2006 opinion

In our opirion, the Information given in the Strategic Report and
the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s cansistent with the financial statements

I5As (UK & Ireland) reporuing

Under ISAs {UK & Ireland) we are required to report to
you if, In our opinion

We have no
exceptions 1o
report ansing
from this
responsibility

B nformation in the Annual Report 15

— matenally nconsistent with the
mnformation in the zudited financial
staternents, or

— apparently matenally incorrect based
on, or matenally inconsistent with our
knowledge of the Group acquired In
the course of performing our audit, or

— otherwise misleading

We have no
exceptions (o
report ansing
from thes
responsibility

W the statement given by the directors
on page 45, In accordance with provision
C11 of the UK Corporate Governance
Code (“the Code”), that they constder
the Annual Report taken as a whole
to be fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the informaton necessary
for members to assess the Group's
performance business model and
strategy 1s matenally inconsistent with
our knowledge of the Group acquired in
the course of performmg our audit

We have no
exceplons 1o
report arnsing
from this
responsibility

B the secuon of the Annual Report
on pages 52 and 53, as requwred by
provisicn C 3 8 of the Code, describing
the work of the Audit Commuttee
does not appropriately address
matters communicated by us to the
Audit Commitiee

aven
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Adequacy of information and explanations received

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you
I, n our opinion, we have not receved all the information and
explanations we require for our audit We have no exceptions to
repart ansing from this responsibility

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are requited 10 report 1o you
if, In our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ remunerauon
specified by law are not made We have no exceptions 1o repoit
ansing frorm these responstbilities

Corporate governance statement

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the part of the
Corporate Governance Statement relating to the parent company’s
complance with nine provisions of the UK Corporate Governance
Code We have nothing 1o report having performed our review

Responsibilities for the financial
statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explamned more fully in the Statement of Direciors’
Responsibilities set out on page 44, the directors are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give airue and farr view

Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinicn on the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and ISAs {UK
& Irefand) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and
only for the company’s members as a body In accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other
purpose We do not, In giving these opinions accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose ar o any other person 1o
whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save
where expressly agreed by our prier consent In writing

‘ ' OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT conTiNveD
TO THE MEMBERS OF AVON RUBBER p | ¢

What an audit of financial statements involves Other matter

An audit tnvolves obtaming evidence about the amounts and We have reported separately on the parent company financial
disclosures m the financial statements sufficient 1o give reasonable statements of Avon Rubber plc for the year ended 30 September
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 2014 and on the information n the Directors’ Remuneration Report
misstaternent, whether caused by fraud or errar This includes an that 1s described as having been audited

assessment of

W whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group's

arcumstances and have been consistently applied and .-Q @u

adequately disclosed, L

MarKElhs

Senlor Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Bristal

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the 19 November 2014
directors’ jJudgements against avallable evidence, forming

our own Jjudgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the

financial statements

B the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made
by the directors, and

B the overall presentation of the financial statements

We test and examine information, using sampling and other
audiing technigues. to the extent we consider necessary o
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions We obtain
audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls,
substantive procedures or a combination of both

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information

in the Annual Report to 1dentify matenal inconsistencies with

the audited financial statements and 1o identify any informarion

that s apparently matenally incorrect based on, or matenially

Inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of

performing the audit If we become aware of any apparent material

misstatements or Inconsistencies we consider the implications .
for our report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF AVON RUBBER p | ¢

Report on the Parent Company
financial statements
Our opinion

In our opinmion, Avon Rubber pl ¢’s Parent Company financizl
statements {the “financial statements”)

W give a true and farr view of the state of the Parent Company's
affairs as at 30 September 2014,

W have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

W have been prepared In accordance with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006

What we have audited

Avon Rubber plc’s financial statements comprise

W the Parent Company Balance Sheet as at 30 September 2014, and
B the Parent Company Accounting Policies, and

W the Notes to the Parent Company financial statements,
and other explanatory information

Certain required disctosures have been presented elsewhere in the
Annual Report, rather than in the notes to the financisl statements
These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are
identified as audited

The financial reporting framework that has been applied inthe
preparation of the financial statements 1s applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice)

Other required reporting
Consistency of other information
Companies Act 2006 opimion

tn our apinion, the infarmation given in the Strategic Repert and
the Directers’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
staternents are prepared 15 consistent with the financial statements

ISAs (UK & Ireland) reporting

Under iSAs (UK & Ireland) we are required to report to you if inour
opinan, information tn the Annual Report s

W matenally nconsistent with the information 1 the audited
financial statements, or

dauen
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H apparently matenially ncorreci based on, or matenally
incensistent with, our knowledge of the company acquired in
the course of performing our audis, or

H otherwise misleading

We have no exceptions 1o report ansing from this responsibility

Adequacy of accounting recerds and information
and explanations received

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you i,
IN QUr OpINION

W we have not recewved all the information and explanauons we
require for our audit, or

B adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
recewed from branches not visited by us, or

HW thefinancial statements and the part of the Directors
Remuneration Report to be audiied are notin agreement with
the accountng records and returns

We have no exceptions to report ansing from this responsibility

Directors’ remuneration
Directors’ remuneration report - Companes Act 2006 opinion

In our apinion, the part of the Directors” Remuneration Report to
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006

Other Companies Act 2006 reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you
if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made We have no exceptions to report
ansing from this responsibiity

Responsibilities for the financial statements
and the audit

Qur responsibilities and those of the directors

As explarned more fuily in the Statemeni of Directors’
Responsibilittes set out on page 44, the directors are respensible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
sausfied that they give a true and fair view

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opimion on the
financial staternents n accordance with applicable law and ISAs {UK
& Ireland) Those standards require us to caomply with the Auditing
Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

HOW WE RUN OUR BUSINESS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT conminuen

TO THE MEMBERS OF AVON RUBBER p | ¢

This repert, including the opinions, has been prepared for and
only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other
purpose We do not, in gving these opinions, accept or assume
respensibilizy for any other purpose or to any other person 1o
whom thts reportis shown or into whose hands it may come save
where expressly agreed by our pnor consent in winting

What an audit of inancial statements involves

An audit Involves obtaining ewdence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financral staternents are free from maternial
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of

B whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Parent
Company's arcumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed,

W the reasonableness of significant accounung estimates made
by the directors, and

B the overall presentation of the financial siatements

We primarly focus our work in these areas by assessing the
directors’ jJudgements against available evidence, forming our
own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial
statements

We test and examine information, using sampling and other
auditing technigues, to the extent we consider necessary 1o
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions We obtain
audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of controls
substantive procedures or a ccmbination of both

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information
in the Annuazl Report to identfy matenal inconsistencies with

the audited financial statements and 10 identify any information
that (s apparently matenally incorrect based on, or matenally
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of
performing the audit If we become aware of any apparent maternal
misstaiements or Inconsistencies we consider the implications for
our report
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Other matter

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of
Avon Rubber p | ¢ for the year ended 30 September 2014

£ QW

Mark Ellis

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Bristol

19 Novernber 2014
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

2014 2014 2013 2013
Note £000 £000 £000 £000
Fixed Assets «
Jangible assets 4 346 788 =
Investments 5 75,540 75,540 -
£
75,886 76,328 u
5
Current assets - debtors 7 56,600 53,304 S
[-
w
-
Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 8 6,573 5412 o
Net current assets 50,027 47892 [
Total assets less current liabilities 125913 124,220 @
M
z
Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year @
Bank loans and overdrafts 9 - 3208
Provisions for habilities 10 2,21 2613 3
=
=
2,21 5821 =
7]
E
Netassets 123,702 118,399 g
I
Capital and reserves
Share capital 1 31,023 30,723
Share premium account 12 34,708 34,708
Capital redemption reserve 12 500 500
Profit and loss account 12 57,41 52468
Total shareholders’ funds 13 123,702 118,399
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These finangial statements on pages 121 to 130 were approved by the Board of Directors on 19 November 2014 and were signed on its behalf by

Ol 22—

Peter Slabbert Andrew Lewis

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
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PARENT COMPANY ACCOUNTING POLICIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Accounting policies

The principal accounting pchicies adopted in the preparation of these
financial statements are set out below These policies have been
consistently appled 1o all the years presented, unless otherwise stated

Basis of preparation

The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis and in
accordance with the Cormnparies Act 2006 and with all applicable
accounting standards in the United Kingdom (UK GAAP) on the going
concern Basis and under the histoncal cost convention except for financial
assets and izbilities {including denvative instruments) held at fair value
through profit and loss

The Company does not publish its own cash flow statement, as its cash
flows are included within the consolidated cash flow statement of
the Group

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency 1s stering Foreign currency
transactions are recorded at the exchange rate ruling on the date of
transaction Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions ang from the retranslaucn at year end
exchange rates of monetary assets and habihties denominated in foreign
currencles are recogrused in the profit and loss account

Deferred taxation

Deferred 1ax 15 recognised in respect of all uming differences that have
onginated but not reversed at the balance sheet date, where transactions
or events that result in an cbligation to pay more tax in the future or a nght
tc pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date

A net deferred tax asset s considered as recoverable and therefore
recagnised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be
regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits
against which 1o recover carned forward tax losses and from which the
future reversal of underlying ming differences can be deducted

Deferred tax ts measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply
in the pericds in which the trming differences are expected to reverse
based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substanuvely
enacted by the balance sheet date Deferred tax 1s measured on an
undisccunted basis

Impairment of fixed assets

Impairment reviews are undertaken If events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the tangible fixed assets may not be
recoverable If the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount {being
the higher of the value in use and the net realisable value) then the fixed
asset I1s written down accordingly Where recoverable amounts are based
on value In use, discount rates of typically between 109 and 15% are used
depending on the risk attached to the underlying asset

ﬁ CELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014

Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are recorded at cost plus
incidental expenses less any provision for impairment Impairment
reviews are performed by the Drectors when there has been an
indication of potential immpairment

Leased assets
Operating lease rentals are charged against profit over the term of the
lease on a straight line basis

Pensions

The Company operated a contributery defined benefits plan to provide
pension and death benefits for the employees of Avon Rubber plc
and its Group undertakings in the UK employed pnor to 31 January
2003 The scheme 1s closed to new entrants and was closed to future
accrual of benefits from 1 October 2009 Scheme assets are measured
using market values while habilities are measured using the projected
umit method The multi-employer exemptian has been taken and no
asset or provision has been reflected in the parent company’s balance
sheet for any surplus or deficit ansing in respect of pension obligations

The Company also provides pensions by contnbuting to defined
contnibution schemes The charge In the profit and loss account
reflects the contnbutions paid and payable to these schemes during
the peniod Full disclosures of the UK pension schemes have been
provided in the Group finanoigl statements

Provisions for habilities

Provisions are recognised when a iability exists at the year end that can
be measured rehably there 1s an obligation to one or more third paruies
a5 a result of past transactions or events and there 1s an obligation to
transfer economic benefits in setilement

Provisions are calculated based on management's best estmate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation ar the balance
sheet date, after due consideration of the nsks and uncertainties that
surround the underlying event Provision for recrganisation costs are
made where a detaled plan has been approved and an expectation
has been raised in those affected by the plan that the Company will
carry out the reorganisation

Where a leasehold property, of part thereof 1s vacant, or sub-let under
terms such that the rental \ncome 15 Insufficient to meet all outgongs,
provision is made for the antcipated future shortfall up to termination
of the lease, or the termination payment, f smaller

Aaven
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Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, less amounts provided for
depreciation and any provision for impairment Cost includes the onginal
purchase price of the asset and the costs attrbutable to bringing the
asset to 1ts working condition for its intended use Plant and machinery is
depreciated using the straight hne method at rates varying between 6%
and 50% per annum

Related parties

The Company has taken advantage of the dispensation under FRS 8,
‘Related Party Disclosures’, not to disclose transactions or balances with
other Group comganies

Share based payment

The Company cperates a number of equity-settled, share-based
cempensation plans The fair value of the employee services receved in
exchange for the grant of the opticns 1s recognised as an expense The total
amount to be expensed over the vesting period 1s determined by reference
to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-
market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth
targets) Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions

about the number of aptions that are expected to vest At each balance
sheet date, the entity revises 1ts estimates of the number of options that

are expected to vest 1t recognises the impact of the revision to cnginal
estimates If any in the profit and loss account The proceeds recerved net
of any directly atinbutable transaction costs are credited to share capital
{nominal value} and share prermum when the options are exercised

Debtors
Debtors are iniuially recognised at farr value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost after deduction of provisions for imparrment cf receivables

Trade creditors

Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or serwvices that have been
acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers Trade creditors
are classified as current abilities if payment 1s due within one year or less
{or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer) [f not, they are
presented as amounts falling due after more than one year They are initially
recogrised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost

Borrowings

Barrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred and subsequently stated at amortised cost Costs are expensed
using the effective interest method

Financial instruments

As permitted by FRS 29, ‘Financial Instruments Disclosures’ the Campany
has elected not to present the disclosures required by FRS 29 1n the notes
to 1ts indiadual financial staternents as full equivalent disclosures are
presented in the consohidated financial statements

aven
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Dwvidends

Final drvidends are recognised as a lability in the Company's financaial
statements n the penod in which the didends are approved by
shareholders, while internm dividends are recogrised in the penad in
which the dividends are pad

Share Capital

Crdinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly
attnibutable o the 1ssue of new shares or options are shown In equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds

Where the Company purchases its own share capital {treasury shares)
through Employee Share Ownership Trusts, the consideration paid
including any directly attnbutable incremental costs (net of income
taxes), 1s deducted from shareholders' funds untl the shares are
cancelled, reissued or disposed of Where such shares are subsequently
sold or reissued, any consideration received net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related ;ncome tax
effects, 1s ncluded in shareholders' funds

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

HOW WE RUN OUR BUSINESS
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

P PARENT COMPANY

As & consolidated statement of comprehensive income is published, a separate profit and loss account for the parent company 1s omitted
from the accounts by virtue of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 The parent company’s profit for the financial vear was £6,637.000
{2013 £3,222,000)

The audii fee in respect of the parent company was £30,000 (2013 £3C.000)

2 DIVIDENDS

On 6 February 2014 the shareholders approved a final dividend of 2 88p per gualifying ordinary share in respect of the year ended 30
September 2013 This was paid on 21 March 2014 absorbing £862,000 of shareholders' funds

On 30 Apnl 2014 the Board of Directors declared an intenim dividend of 187p {2013 144p) per qualifying ordinary share in respect of the year
ended 30 September 2014 This was paid on 5 Septernber 2014 abserling £560,000 (2013 £424,000) of shareholders' funds

After the balance sheet date the Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of 3 74p per qualifying ordinary share in respect of the year ended
30 September 2014, which will absorb an estumated £1,120,000 of shareholders' funds Subject to shareholder approval, the dividend will be paid

on 20 March 2015 1o shareholders on the register at the close of business on 20 February 2015 Inaccordance with accounuing standards this
dividend has not been provided for and there are no corporation tax consequences

The total remuneration and assoclated costs during the year were:

2014 2013
£000 £000

Wages and salanes B 2,441 1535
Socral securnty costs 300 299
Other pension costs 145 205
Share based payments 88 113
2,974 2152

Detailed disclosures of Directors’ remuneraticn and share options are given on pages 54 to 73 of the Annual Repart and Accounts

The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) duning the year was 7 (2013 7), alk of whom were classified as
administrative staff
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4 TANGIBLE ASSETS

Plant and machinery
£000 -
L.
s
Cost w
At 1 October 2013 1,071 =
Additions at cost 311 o
Transfers tc other Group companies (710) 2
z
At 30 September 2014 672 5
=
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 2013 283
Charge for the year 43
@
At 30 September 2014 326 z
2
Net book amount at 30 September 2014 346 =
<}
Net book amount at 30 September 2013 788 Z
w
=
=
=)
=4

5 INVESTMENTS

Investment in subsidiaries E

£000 &=

o

=

Cost and net book value w

At 1 October 2013 75,540 “3’

=

A1 30 September 2014 75,540 2
The mvestments consist of a 100% interest in the following subsidianes

=

=4

Principal Country inwhich =

activity ncorporated E

2

Avon Polymer Products Limited The manufacture and distnibution of rubber and polymer based products UK z

Avan Rubber Cverseas Limited Investment company UK E

Aven Rubber Pension Trust Limited Pension Fund Trustee UK a

Avon Dairy Solutions (Shanghar) Internauanal Trading Company Limited Trading company China =

-

T

v

Detalls of investments held by these subsidianes are given in note 27 to the Group accounts on page 112
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conminuep
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

e _________________________________________________________________________|
6 OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

2014 2013
£'000 £000
Capital expenditure committed - 4

Capntal expenditure committed represents the amount contracted at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made in the

financal statements

The annual commitments of the Company for non-cancellable operating leases are

2014 3
Land and Land and
bulldings buildings
£'000 £000
For leases expiring

Within 1 year - -
In 2-5 years 814 814
QOver 5 years 153 153
967 967

The majeniy of leases of land and buildings are subyject to rent reviews
auen

Avon Rubberplc




7 DEBTORS

2014 2013
£'000 £000
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 54,317 51,627
Other debtors 1,948 1,001
Prepayments 335 676
56,600 53,304

QOther debtors include £956,000 (2013 £956,000} in respect of a rent depesit relating to the Company's premises n Melksham, Wiltshire, UK

The remaining balance compnses sundry receivables which are not mdmadually significant fer disclosure
8 CREDITORS — AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2014 2013
£'000 £000
Bank overdrafts 38 -
Amounts due 1o Group undertakings 4,040 3,051
Other creditors 43 486
Accruals 2,452 1,875
6,573 5412

HOW WE RUN QUR BUSINESS ‘ ' OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

o]
w
=
-4
o
e
(=4
™
a.
wr
=
z
=]
=

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

au.n ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014 DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL
Avon Rubberplc




NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

9 BORROWINGS

2014 203
£000 £000
Current
Bank overdrafts 38 -
Non-current
Bank loans - 3,208
Total borrowings 38 3,208
The maturity profile of the Company s borrowings at the year end was as follows
2014 03
£000 £1000
In ¥ year or less or on demand 38 -
Between t and 2 years - 3,208
38 3,208
The carrying amounits of the Company's borrowings are denominated in the following currencies
2014 2013
£'000 £000
Sterling 38 1,347
Us dollars - 1,861
38 3208

On 9 June 2014 the Company agreed new bank facilites with Barclays Bank and Comerica Bank The faciity comprises a revolving credii facility
of $40m and expires on 30 November 2017 The facility I1s priced on the doliar LIBOR ptus 2 margin of 125% and includes financial covenants

whtch are measured on a quarterly basis The Company was in compliance with its inancial covenants dunng 2014 and 2013

The Company has provided the lenders with a negative pledge in respect of certain shares in Group companies
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. __________________________________________|]
10 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

Property
obligavons ‘é
£000 w
H
Balance at 1 October 2012 2,993 i
Unwinding of discount 220 o
Payments in the year 600) E
£
Balance at 30 September 2013 2613 3
Charged in the year 408
Unwinding of disceunt 175
Payments in the year {985)
Balance at 30 September 2014 2,21 E
=
n
>
m
-4
2014 2013 2
(=]
Analysis of provisions £'000 £000 z
z2
Non-current 1,129 1997 ;
Current 1,082 616 g
r
2,21 2,613

!

Property obligaucns relate to an onerous lease provision in respect of unutihised space at the Company's leased Hampton Park West facility in

the UK and former premises of the Company which are subject to dilapidation risks All are expected to be utilised within the next seven years
Property provisions are subject to uncertainty in respect of the utiisation, non-utiisation, or subletting of surplus leasehold property and the

final negouated settlement of any dilapidation claims with landlords

)
w
=
o
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11 CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

2014 2013
£'000 £000

Called up, allotted and fully paid ordinary shares of £1 each
31,023,292 (2013 30,723,292) ordinary shares of £1 each 31,023 30723

During the year 300,000 crdinary shares with a nominal value of £1 per share were 1ssued at par to the Aven Rubber pic Employee Share
Ownership Trust No 1

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continuep
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

. _____________________________|
12 SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT AND RESERVES

Share Capital
premium redempticn Profit and

account reserve foss account Total
£000 £'000 £000 £000
At 1 October 2012 34,708 500 52,030 87238
Retaned profit for the year - - 2,090 2,090
Movement in respect of employee share scheme - - (¥ 652) (1652)
At 30 September 2013 34,708 500 52 468 87676
Retained profit for the year - - 5,215 5,215
Purchase of shares by the employee benefit trust - - {300) (300)
Movement in respect of employee share scheme - - 88 88
At 30 September 2014 34,708 500 57,471 92,679

13 RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

2014 2013

£000 £000

At the beginning of the year 118,399 117961
Profit for the financial year attributable to equity shareholders 6,637 3,222
Dividends paid (1,422) {1,132
Purchase of shares by the employee benefit trust - {1765)
Movement in respect of employee share scheme 88 113
At 30 September 123,702 118,399

During the year 300,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £1 per share were 1ssued at par to the Avon Rubber p I ¢ Employee Share
Ownership Trust No 1

At 30 September 2014 1,081,810 {2013 1,242,111) ordinary shares were held by a trustin respect of obhigations under the 2016 Performance Share
Plan Dividends on these shares have been waived The market value of the shares held in the trust at 30 September 2014 was £6 659000
(2013 £6,832 000) These shares are held at cost as treasury shares and deducted from shareholders' equity

Duning 2013 the trust acquired 522,000 shares at a cost of £1,765,000 460,301 (2013 680,070} shares were used to satisfy awards following the
vesting of shares relating to the 2010 Performance Share Plan

14 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates an equity-settled share-based performance share plan (PSP) Details of the Plan, awards granted and options
outstanding are set out In the iemuneration report on page 70 and are incorporated by reference into these financial statements The charge
against profit of £88,000 (2013 £113,000) i respect of PSP options granied after 7 November 2002 has been calkculated using the Monte Carlo
pricing madel and the following principal assumptions

2014 an3
Weighied average fain value (£) 038 021
Key assumpuions used
Weighted average share price (£) 575 341
Volatlity (%) 31 39
Risk-free interest rate (%) 09 175
Expected option term (yrs) 30 30
Dwidend yreld (36) LR 10

Volatility 1s esumated based on actual experience over the last three years
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FIVE YEAR RECORD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

2014 2013 2012 2031 2010
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
<
Revenue 124,779 124,851 106,636 107,600 117574 >
¢
Operating profit before amortisation of acquired "5
intangibles, exceptional items and defined benefit pension costs 17,003 14,223 11,621 11,136 9,255 z
Amortisation of acquired intangibles, exceptional items ;
and defined benefit pension scheme costs {2,678) {1,220) - - - &
3
Operating profit 14,325 13,003 11,621 1136 9255
Net finance costs and other finance expense {461} (600) (616) (924) (2,121
v
Profit before taxation 13,864 12,403 11,005 10,212 7134 E
Taxation (3,053) (3,566) {3,176) (3,094) (2,808) g
[--]
Profit attnibutable to equity shareholders 10,81 8837 7829 7118 4336 §
=
Ordinary dividends (1,422) (1,132) (941) (706) - 2
w
=
Retained profit 9,389 7705 6,888 6412 4,326 =
=}
I
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 36,815 36928 31,158 27,187 25,762
Working caprtal 7,439 11512 Q278 1,714 9,628
Provisions (3,819) (2,613) (2.993) (3 208) 4,373)
Pension {liabhty)/asset (16,029) (11,279) (2,238) 280 (7134) a
Deferred tax hability (2,315) (2,977 (2,584) (2,985) {2,517) "EJ
Net cash/(borrowings) 2,925 (10,875} {8,725) (11816} (12,589) g
[Ty
o
Net assets employed 25,016 20,606 23,897 21172 8777 &
w
=
Financed by g
Crdinary share capital 31,023 30,723 30,723 30,723 30,723 ES
Reserves attnbutable to equity shareholders (6,007) (10,027 6,826) 9,551 (21,948)
Total equuy 15,016 20,686 23897 21072 8777
Basic earmings per share 36 2p 00p 26 9p 252p 15 2p
Adjusted basic earmings per share 43 7p 338p 269 252p i52p
Dividends per share paid n cash 475p 384p 3iZp 25p -

2010, 2011 and 2012 are as presented in the consolidated financial statements for these years
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

THI5 DOCUMENT 1S IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as 1o what action you should take you are recommended to
seek vour own financial advice from vou  stockbroker or other independe~t adv ser
authonsed under the Finangial Services and Markets Act 2000

If you have sold or transferred 21l of your shares in Avon Rubberp ¢ please forward
this document together with the accompanying documents as soon as possible
either o the purchaser or transferee or (o the person who arranged the sale or transfer
50 they can pass these documents 10 the person who now halds the shares

Notice of Annual General Meeting for the year ended

30 September 2014

Notice 15 hereby given that the annual general meeiing (AGM’) of
shareholders of Avon Rubber pl ¢ (the 'Company’) will be held at
Hampton Park West, Semington Road, Melksham, Wiltshire on 29

January 2015 at 1030 am for the followang purposes

Ordinary Business
To consider and, If thought fi, pass resolutions 1- 7 s Qrdinary
Resclutions

Resolution 1
To recewve the Company’s accounts and reperis of the Direciors and
the Auditors for the year ended 30 September 2014

Resolution 2
Jo approve the Directors' Remuneraticn Report for the year ended
30 September 2014

Resolution 3
To declare a final dividend of 3 74p per ordinary share as
recommended by the Directors

Resolution 4
To re-appoint Andrew Lews as Director who retires by rotation

Resolution 5
To re-appoint Richard Weod as Director who retires by rotation

m DELIVERING PERFORMANCE & POTENTIAL ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2014

Resolution 6

Tore-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the
Company, io hold office from the conclusion of this meetng untl the
conclusion of the next general meeting at which accounis are laid
before the Company

Resolution 7
To authonse the Directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration

Special Business
To consider and «f thought fit, pass resolution 8 as an Ordinary
Resolution and resolutions 9, 10and 11 as Special Resolutions

Resolution 8

That in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the
‘Act’) the Directors be generally and unconditionally authorised 10
allot Relevant Secunties (as defined in the notes to this resotution}
compnsing equity secunties (as defined by section 560 of the Act)

up to an aggregate nominal amount of £10,341,097 but subject to
such exclusions or other arrangemenis as the Directors may deem
necessary or expedient in relaton 1o treasury shares, fractional
entitlements, record dates, legal or praciical problems in or under

the laws of any terntory or the requirements of any regulatory body
or stock exchange, provided that this authonty shall, unless renewed,
varied or revoked by the Company, expire on the date 15 months after
the date of this Resclution or if earlier, the date of the next annual
general meeung of the Company save that the Company may, before
such expiry, make offers ar agreements which would or might require
Relevant Securties to be allotted and the Directors may allot Relevant
Secunities in pursuance of such offer or agreement notwithstanding
that the authority conferred by this resolution has expired

This resolution revokes and replaces all unexercised authorities
previously granted to the Directors 1o allot Relevant Secunties but
without prejudice te any allotment of shares or grant of nghts already
made, offered or agreed to be made pursuant 1o such authonyes
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Resolution 9

That, subject 1o the passing of Resclution 8, the Directors be given
the general power 10 allot equity secunities (as defined by section
560 of the Act) for cash, ether pursuant to the authonty conferred by
Resalution 8 ar by way of a sale of treasury shares, as If section 561(1)
of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this
power shall

(@) belmited to the allotment of equity securities up to an
aggregate ncminal amount of £1,551,164, and

(b} expire on the date 15 manths after the date of this Resolution
or If earlier, the date of the next annual general meeting of the
Company (unless renewed, varied or revoked by the Company
pnior to or on that date) save that the Company may, before
such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might
require Relevant Securities to be allotted after such expiry and
the Directors may allot Relevant Securnities in pursuance of
any such offer or agreement notwithstanding that the power
conferred by this resolution has expired

Resolution 10

Thai the Company be and 1s hereby unconditionally and generally
authornised for the purpose of section 701 of the Act to make market
purchases (within the meaning of 693(4) of the Act) of ordinary shares
of £1 each in the capital of the Company provided that

(@) the maximum number of shares which may be purchased
15 4,653,492,

(b) the mirimum price which may be paid for each share is 1p,

(©) the maximum price (excluding expenses) which may be paid for

each ordinary share 1s an ameunt equal wo the higher of

(1) 105% (one hundred and five per cent} of the average of the
muddle market quotauons of the Company's ordinary shares
as denved from the Official List of the London Stock
Exchange for the 5 (five) business days immediately
preceding the day on which such share 1s contracted to be
purchased and

{(n) the value of an crdinary share calcutated on the basis of the
higher of the prnice quoted for the last independent trade of
and the highest current independent bid for any number of
the Company's ordinary shares on the London Stock
Exchange Official List at the ime the purchase 1s agreed, and

this authenty shall expire on the date 15 monihs after the daie of

this Resclution or, if earlier, the date of the next annual general

meeting of the Company {except in relation to the purchase of

shares the cantract for which was concluded before the expiry

of such authority and which might be executed wholly or partly

after such expiry) untess such authonty 1s renewed prior 1o

such ume

(o]

—
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Resolution 11

That a general meeting of the Company (other than an annual
general meeung), may be called on not less than 14 clear
days’ notice

By order of the Board

Miles Ingrey-Counter

Company Secretary
19 Novemnber 2014

HOW WE RUN OUR BUSINESS OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

HOW WE PERFORMED
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING conminuen
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

Notes

M

(2)

(3

Information regarding the annual general meeting (the 'AGM)
including the informaticn required by section 311A of the Act, is
avallable ai www avon-rubber com

A form of proxy 15 enclosed for use by shareholders and, if
appropnate, must be deposiied with the Company’s registrars,
Camta Asset Services, PXS, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham,
Kent BR3 4TU not less than 48 hours before the time of the
AGM Appointment of a proxy does not preclude a shareholder
from attending the AGM and voting in person

A member entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may
appomnt one or more proxies (who need not be a member of the

In the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5} of the Uncertificated
Secunties Regulations 2001 CREST members and where applicable,
their CREST sponsars or voting service providers should note that
EUl does not make avallable special procedures in CREST for any
parucular messages Normal system urmings and imitations will
therefore apply in relation to the nput of CREST Proxy instrucuons

It 1s therefore the responsibility of the CREST member concerned

1o take {or, if the CREST member s a CREST personal member or
sponsored member or has appointed a vouing service provider(s) to
precure that his or her CREST sponsor er veting service provider(s)
take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message 1s
transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time In
this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST
Sponsors or voung service providers are refesred, In paruicular, o
those sections of the CREST Manual concerning pracucal hmitations

Company) to attend and 1o speak and to vote on his or her behalf

whether by show of hands or on a poll A member can appoint

more than ane proxy In relation to the AGM, prowvided that each

proxy 1s appointed to exercise the nghts attaching to different

shares held by him In order ta be valid an appointment of proxy

{together with any authonty under which 1t 1s executed or a copy

of the authority certified notarally) must be returned by one of

the following methods

(1 1nhard copy form by post, by couner or by hand to the
Company's registrars, Capita Asset Services, PXS, 34
Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU,

() via www capiiashareportal com, or

(1) 10 the case of CREST members, by uulising the CREST
electronic proxy appointment service in accordance with the
procedures set out below and in each case must be recerved
by the Company not less than 48 hours before the time of
the AGM

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the
CREST electronic proxy appoiniment service may de so for the AGM
and any adjournment therecf by using the procedures descrnibed

in the CREST Manual (available from https.//eurcclear com) CREST
personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those
CREST members whao have appointed a voting service provider(s)
should refer 1o their CREST sponsor or voung service provider(s), who
will be able to take the appropnate acuon on their behalf

In order for a proxy appointment or nstruction, made by means of
CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a ‘CREST Proxy
Instruction’) must be properly authenticated in accardance with
Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited's (‘EUI) speaifications and must contain
the information required for such instructions, as descrnibed in the
CREST Manual Regardless of whether 1t relates to the appointment
of a proxy or to an amendment 1o the instruction given to a
previously appointed proxy the message must, tn order to be valid,
be transmitted so as to be received by the ssuer's agent {ID RA 10) by
the latest ume(s) for recet of proxy appointments specified in this
Nouce For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the
time (as determuned by the timestamp applied to the message by

the CREST Apphcations Host) from which the 1ssuer’s agent 1s able to
retrieve the message by enguiry to CREST in the manner prescribed
by CREST The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction
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of the CREST systern and timings
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The nght to appoint a proxy does not apply to persons whose
shares are held on their behalf by another persen and who have
been nominated to receive communication from the

Company in accordance with section 146 of the Act (nominated
persons’) Nominated persons may have a nght under an
agreement with the registered sharehalder who helds shares on
their behalf to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed)
as a proxy Alternatvely, 1f nominated persons do not have such a
nght, or do not wish to exercise it, they may have a nght under
such an agreement 1o give Instructions to the person holding the
shares as to the exercise of voting rights

In order to be able to attend and voie at the AGM or any
adjourned meeting (and also for the purpose of calculating how
many voles a person may cast), a person musi have his/her name
entered on the register of members of the Company by 6 CO

pm on 27 January 2015 {or 600 pm on the date two days before
any adjourned meeting, ignenng non-working days) Changes

to entnes on the register of members after this time shall be
disregarded in determining the nghts of any person to attend or
vote at the AGM

To change your proxy instructions simply subrrit a new proxy
appaintment using the methods set out above Note that the
cut-off time for receipt of proxy appointments {see above) also
applies in refation to amended instructions, any amended
proxy appointment received after the relevant cut-off time will
be disregarded

A corporation which 1s a member can appoint one or more
corporate representatives who may exercise, on its behalf, al!
its powers as a member provided that no more than one
corporate representative exercises powers over the same share

Under section 319A of the Aci the Company must answer any
question you ask relating to the business being dealt with at the
AGM unless
(1 answening the guestion would interfere unduly with
the preparation for the AGM ar involve the disclosure of
confidential informatien,
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() the answer has already been given on a website in the form
of an answer to a question, or

(i} 1t1s undesirable in the interests ¢f the Company or the good
order of the AGM that the question be answered

automatically be terminaied

() copies of the letters of appomtment of the non-executive
Directors of the Company

(14) Please note that the Company takes all reasonable precautions

1o ensure no viruses are present i any electronic commumecation
9) Appomiment of proxy by jont members 1t sends out but the Company cannot accept responsibility -3
In the case of jaint holders where more than one of the joint for loss or damage ansing from the opening or use of any ematl E
holders purports to appomnt a proxy, only the appoiniment or attachments from the Company and recommends that the z
submutted by the maost senior holder will be accepted Semanty members subject all messages 1o virus checking procedures prior %
1s determined by the order in which the names of the jont to use Any electronic communication received by the Company, z
holders appear in the Company’s register of members in respect including the lodgement of an electronic proxy form, that 1s 5
of the joint holding {the first-named being the most senior) found to contan any virus will not be accepted §
(=)
(10} Termunation of proxy appointments (15) Pursuant to Chapter 5 of Part 16 of the Act {sections 527 to
In order 1o revoke a proxy instruction you will need to inform 531) where requested by a member or members meeting the
the Company by sending a signed hard copy notice clearly qualfication criteria set out below, the Company must publish
stating your intention to revoke your proxy appointment 19 on 115 website, a statement setting out any matter that such "
the Company's registrars, Capita Asset Services, PXS, 34 members propose to raise at the AGM relating to the audit of 2
Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU In the case the Company's accounts (including the auditor's report and E
of a member which is a company, the revocation notice must the conduct of the audn) that are to be laid before the AGM 2
be executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf by Where the Company is required to publish such a statement on =
an officer of the company or an attorney for the company 1ts website g
Any power of attorney or any other authonty under which {11 1t may not require the members making the request to 2
the revacation notice 1s signed (or a duly certified copy of such pay any expenses incurred by the Company in complying ;
power or authority) must be included with the revocation notice with the request =z
(i) 1t must forward the staterment to the Company's auditors no g
In erither case, the revocation nouice must be recewved by the later than the time the statement 1s made avallable on the
Company’s registrars, Capita Asset Services Registrars, PXS, 34 Company's website and
Beckenham Road, Beckenham Kent BR3 4TU no later than 27 () the statement may be dealt with as part of the business of
January 2015 at 1030 am the AGM
2
If you attempt to revoke your proxy appointment but the The raquest =
revocation Is recerved after the ume specified then, subgect to () may bemn hard copy form or n electronic form (see below), g
the paragraph directly below, your proxy appomtment will (1) erther set out the statementin full or, if supporting a o
remain valid statement sent by another member, clearly identfy ;
the statement which 1s being supported, =
Appaintment of a proxy dees not preclude you from attending {n) must be authenucated by the person cr persons making it o
the AGM and voting in person If you have appointed a proxy (see below), and
and attend the AGM In person, your proxy appointment will (v} must be received by the Company at least one week before

the AGM

(1) Biographica! details of the Directors are shown on page 41 of
the Annual Report

in order to be able to exercise the members’ nght to require the
Company to publish audit concerns the relevant request must be
made by

(12) The 1ssued share capnal of the Company as at 19 November (3 a member or members having a nght to vote at the AGM and

2014 was 31,023,292 ordinary shares, carrying one vote each and
representing the total number of voting rights in the Company

(13) The following documents are available for inspection at the

registered office of the Company dunng normal business hours
on any weekday and will be available at the piace of the AGM
from 15 minutes before the AGM until it ends

) the Register of Directors’ interests showing any transactions

holding at least 5% of total voung nights of the Company, or
(1) at least 100 members having a nght to vote at the AGM and

holding, on average, at least £100 of paid up share capnal

each and may be made by

- ahard copy request which is signed by the member or

members concernad, stating theer full names and

addresses and 15 sent to Hampton Park West, Semington

Road, Melksham, Wiltshare, SN12 6NB
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of Directors and their family iterests in the share capial of
the Company, and

1 copes of all contracts of service under which the executive
Directors of the Company are employed by the Company or
any of its subsidianes, and
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING confinued !

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2014

- areguest which s signed by the member or members
concerned, stating therr full names and addresses and 15
sent by fax to 01225 896898 marked for the attention of the
Company Secretary

- arequest which states the full names and addresses of
the member or members concerned, sent by emall to
miles ingrey-counter@avon-rubbercom

{16) Pursuant to sections 338 and 338A cf the Act, a members or
members meeting the qualification ¢riteria set out below, may,
subject to conditions, require the Company to give to members
notice of a resolution which may properly be moved and 1s
intended 10 be moved at the AGM or require the Company 0
include in the business to be dealt with at the AGM a matter
{other than a proposed resoluuon) which may preperly be
inciuded in the business
The conditions are that
(1) The resolution must not, If passed, be inaffective (whether
by reason of inconsistency with any enaciment or the
Company s constitution or atherwise)

(1) The resolution or the matter of business must not be
defamatory of any person, fnvolous or vexauous

The Company 15 required to give notice of a resolution or the matter
of business once it has received requesis that it do so from

{1 a member or members having a nght to vote at the AGM and
holding at least 5% of total voung nghts of the Company, or

() a1 least 100 members having a nght to vote at the AGM and
holding, on average, at teast £100 of paid up share capital
each and may be made by

- ahard copy request which is signed by the member or
members concerned, stating their full names and addresses
and 15 sent to Hampten Park West, Semington Road,
Melksham Wiltshire, SN12 6NB

- arequest which is signed by the member or members
concerned, stating therr full names and addresses and 15
sent by fax to 01225 896898 marked for the attention of
the Company Secretary

- arequest which states the full names and addresses of
the member or members concerned, sent by ematl 1o
rriles ingrey-counter@avon-rubbercom

The request

(1) for aresolution, must identify the resolution of which
notce 15 to be given by either setting out the resolution i
full or, If supporung a resolution sent by another member,
clearly idenufying the resolunon which s being supported,

(1) for a matter of business, must identify the matter of business
by either setting out the matter for business in full or, i
supporting a statement sent by another member, clearly
identsfy the matter of business which 1s being supparted, and

{n) must be receved by the Company not later than 6 waeks
before the date of the AGM
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Explanatory notes

Resclution 1 — Report and Accounts

The Directors are required by law to present to the AGM the
accounts, and the reports of the Directors and Auditors, for the year
ended 30 September 2014 These are contained in the Company's
2014 Annual Report

Resolution 2 - Directors’ Remuneration Report

This resolution seeks approval for the Directors’ Remuneration Report
for the year ended 30 September 2014 contained on pages 54 to 73 of
the Annual Report

The Company’s Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders
at the 2013 AGM and will remain in effect for three years or until
shareholders are asked to approve an amended version No
amendments 1o the Directors’ Remuneration Policy are proposed at
this year s AGM

Resolution 3 - Declaration of a dividend

A final davidend can only be paid after the shareholders have
approved it at a general meetng if the meeung approves this
Resclution, a final dvdend in respect of the financial year ended 30
September 2014 of 3 74p will be pad

Resolutions 4&5 — Re-election of Directors

Andrew Lewis retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election

Richard Wood reures by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for
re-glection

Stella Pine will retire at the AGM and will not stand for re-election
Biographies of the Directors can be found on page 41 1o of the
Annual Report

Resolution 6&7 — Reappointment and remuneration of Auditors
Resofutions 6&7 propose the raappointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditor of the Company and
authonse the Directors to set ther remuneration

Resolution 8 - Directors’ authority to allot

This Resolution deals with the Directors’ authonty to allot Relevant
Securities in accordance with section 551 of the Act The authonty
granted at the last annual general meeting 1s due to expire at the
conclusion of this year's AGM and accordingly 1t is proposed to
renew this authonty This Resolution complies with the Investment
Management Association Share Capital Management Guidelines
issued m July 2014 and will if passed, authorise the Directors 1o allot
Relevant Secunties up to @ maximurn nominal amount of £10,341,097,
which 1s equal to approximately one-third of the issued share capital
of the Company as at 19 November 2014

The Directors have no presentintenuon of exercising this authority ‘
except in connection with the Company's employee share schemes

The authonty granted by this resolution will expire on the date 15
menths after the date of this Resolution or, if earleer, the date of the
next annual general meeting of the Company
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In this resolution Relevant Secunties means

(1) shares in the Company other than shares allotted pursuant to
- an employee share scheme {as defined by secuion 1166 of
the Act),
-a nght to subscrbe for shares in the Company where the
grant of the nght itself consttuted a Relevant Secunty, or
- a night to convert secunties into shares in the Company
where the grant of the nght itself constituted a Relevant
Security, and

{0} any nght to subscnbe for or to convert any secunty Into
shares in the Company ather than nghts io subscribe for
Of converi any security into shares allotted pursuant to an
employee share scheme (as defined by section 1166 of
the Act) References to the allotment of Relevant Securnities
in this resolution include the grant of such nghts

Resolution 9 - Disapphication of pre-emption nghts

This Resolution will, if passed give the Directors power, pursuant to
the authonity to allot granted by Resolution 8, to allot eguity secunties
(as defined by section 560 of the Comparnies Act 2006) or sell treasury
shares for cash without first offening them to existing sharehotders

in proportion to their existing holdings up to a maximum nominal
amount of £1,551,164 which represents approximately 5% of the
Company's 1ssued share capital as at 19 November 2014 and renews
the authonty given at the annual general meetng in 2014

In compliance with the guidehnes ssued by the Pre-Emption Group,
the Directors, will ensure that, other than in relation to a rights issue,
no more than 7 5% of the 1ssued ordinary shares {excluding treasury
shares) will be allotted for cash on a non pre-emptive basis over a
rolling three year period unless shareholders have been noufied and
consulied in advance

The pawer granted by this Resclution will expsre on the date 15
menths after the date of this Resclution or, if earlier, the date of the
next annual general meeting of the company

Resolution 10 - Authonity to purchase own shares

This resolution seeks authenty for the Company to make market
purchases of its own shares and 1s proposed as a special resolution

If passed, the resolution gives authority for the Company to purchase
up to 4,653,492 ordinary shares of £1 each, representing just

under 15% of the Company s 1ssued ordinary share capital as at 19
November 2014

The resolution specifies the minimum and maximum prices
which may be paid for any ordinary shares purchased under this
authonty The authonty will expire on the earher of the date 15
months after the date of this Resolution and the Company's next
annual general meeting

As of 19 November 2014 there were options to subscribe cutstanding
over 932,765 ordinary shares, representing 3 01% of the Company’s
ordinary 1ssued share capital If the authonty given by Resolution 10
were to be fully exercised these options would represent 3 5% of the
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Company's ordinary 1ssued share capital after cancellation of the
re-purchased shares As of 19 November 2014 there were no warrants
outstanding over ordinary shares

The Directors intend to exercise the power given by Resolution 10
only when, 1n the ight of market condmons prevailing at the ume,
they believe that the effect of such purchases will be to increase
the earrings per ordinary share having regard to the intent of the
guidelnes of institutional Investors and that such purchases are

in the best interests of shareholders generally Gther investment
opportunities, appropiiate gearning levels and the overall position of
the Company will be taken into account before deciding upen this
course of action Any shares purchased in this way will be cancelled
and the number of shares in 1ssue will be reduced accordingly

Bonus and incentive scheme targets for executive Direciors would
not be affected by any enhancement of earnings per share following
a share re-purchase

In the cpinien of the Direclers, Resolution Ne 1015 1n the best
interests of the shareholders a5 a whole and the Directors intend
to seek renewal of these powers at subsequent annual general
meetngs

Resolution 11- Notice of Meeting
Resolution 1115 a resolution to allow the Company to hold general
meetings (other than annual general meetings) on 14 days' notice

Before the introduction of the Companies (Shareholders' Rights)
Regulations in August 2009, the Company was able to call general
meetings (other than annual general meetings) on 14 clear days’
notice One of the amendments that the Companies (Shareholders
Rights) Regulations 2009 made to the Act was to increase the
minimum notice pertod forlisted company general meetings to 21
days, but with an abibity for companies to reduce this penod back to
14 days (other than for annual general meetings) provided that (1) the
Company offers facilines for shareholders to vote by electronic means,
and (1) there 1s an annual resoluticn of shareholders approving the
reduction in the mimmum notice penod from 21 days to 14 days

Resolution 11 15 therefore proposed as a special resolution 1o approve
14 days as the minimum penod of notice for all general meetings of
the Campany other than annual general meetings The approval will
be effective untl the Company's next annual general meeting, when
1t1s intended that the approval be renewed The Company will use
this notice perniod when permitied to do so In accordance with the
Companies Act 2006 and when the Directors consider 1t appropnate
todo so

HOW WE RUN OUR BUSINESS OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

HOW WE PERFORMED
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